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Share
Dec. 31, 2023 Dec. 31, 2022 Change 

Closing price Xetra in € 3,84 4,31 -10,9%

Number of shares issued 4.526.266 4.526.266 0,0%

Market capitalization in million euros 17,4 19,5 -2,1

Key Figures paragon Group 1

€’000 or as stated Jan. 1 to

Dec. 31, 2023

Jan. 1 to

Dec. 31, 2022 2 

Change 

Sales (continuing operations) 161,647 160,677 0.6%

EBITDA3 (continuing operations) 17,672 10,211 73.1%

EBITDA margin in % 10.9 6.4 72.0%

EBITDA3 paragon semvox GmbH (discontinued operation) 7,562 4,738 59.6%

EBITDA continuing and discontinued operations 25,234 14,948 68.8%

EBIT (continuing operations) 1,052 -4,408 123.9%

EBIT margin in % 0.7 -2.7 123.7%

Result from continuing operations -10,571 -9,503 -11.2%

Result from discontinued operations 6,759 5,309 27.3%

Group result -3,812 -4,194 9.1%

Earnings per share in € (basic and diluted) from continuing operations -2.34 -2.10 -11.2%

Earnings per share in € (basic and diluted) from discontinued operations 1.49 1.17 27.3%

Earnings per share in € (basic and diluted) from continuing operations and discontinued 

operations -0.84 -0.93 9.1%

Investments (CAPEX)4) (continuing operations) 7,595 7,726 -1.7%

Operating cash flow (continuing operations) -6,163 11,475 -153.7%

Free cash flow5) (continuing operations) -13,758 3,750 466.9%

€’000 or as stated Dec. 31, 2023 Dec. 31,20222 Change 

Balance sheet total 108,520 172,612 -37.1%

Equity capital -4,084 -166 2,353.8%

Equity ratio in % -3.8 -0.1 3,802.9%

Cash and cash equivalents 3,209 18,106 -82.3%

Bank and bond liabilities less cash and cash equivalents 57,650 87,324 -34.0%

Net gearing ratio6 2.28 5.84 -60.9%

Employees (continuing operations) 7 740 729 1.5%

1  paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA sold its shares in paragon semvox GmbH to CARIAD SE by notarized agreement dated December 1, 2022. The closing 
took place on May 12, 2023. As a result of the sale, paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA lost control over the subsidiary. For this reason, paragon semvox 
GmbH is accounted for as a discontinued operation in accordance with IFRS 5.

2   Previous year’s figures adjusted. The adjustments are explained in Note 5.
3  With regard to the calculation of EBITDA, please refer to the explanations in the combined management report of the annual report.
4  CAPEX = investments in property, plant and equipment + investments in intangible assets
5 Free cash flow = operating cash flow - capital expenditure (CAPEX)
6 As defined in section 3 of the bond terms and conditions WKN A2GSB8 (loans plus bonds less cash and cash equivalents divided by EBITDA)
7 Plus 39 temporary employees (December 31, 2022: 110)
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K E Y  F I G U R E S  &  H I G H L I G H T S

Highlights from Fiscal Year 2023

–  Sales in 2023 stable compared to the previous year at  
EUR 161.6 million 

–  Cooperation and supply agreement concluded with Clarios, the 
world’s leading supplier of low-voltage batteries

–  EBITDA in the continuing operations amounted to EUR 17.7 million 
and EUR 7.6 million in the discontinued operation (Digital Assistance), 
bringing the total to EUR 25.2 million.

–  Digital Assistance division (paragon semvox GmbH) sold to CARIAD 
SE. Net sales proceeds of around EUR 37.5 million used to further 
reduce debt in 2023.

–  CHF Bond repaid in full

–  Framework nominal value of the EUR bond reduced to  
EUR 45.2 million

–  Stock exchange buyback program launched for the EUR bond

–  Net debt significantly reduced. Net gearing ratio at 2.28

–  Forecast for 2024: EUR 160 to 165 million in sales with EBITDA  
of EUR 18 to 20 million 
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Dear shareholders
Dear customers and business  
partners, dear employees,

2023 was an eventful year for paragon, but also a successful 

one. 

In summer 2023, we concluded the agreement to sell our 

subsidiary paragon semvox GmbH (Digital Assistance divi-

sion) to CARIAD SE, part of the Volkswagen Group. We did not 

take this decision lightly. Since the acquisition of Semvox 

GmbH in 2018, we have developed this division enormously. 

During this time, paragon semvox GmbH has developed into 

a leading market player in the field of digital voice assis-

tance with its expertise in artificial intelligence. We made 

the decision to sell the company with a heavy heart in order 

to use the proceeds from the sale to further reduce the par-

agon Group’s debt. This step is a key component in strength-

ening paragon’s financial power. But there was also another 

reason; we still see considerable growth potential for para-

gon semvox GmbH, which a DAX company can realize much 

faster than a medium-sized company like paragon. 

In August 2023, we then purposefully took the next step in 

our plan to strengthen our core business and accelerate the 

global scaling of our technology. With Clarios, the world’s 

leading supplier of starter batteries, we concluded the 

transfer of part of our Power division together with further 

cooperation and supply agreements. The transaction ena-

bles Clarios to integrate our lithium-ion battery technology 

and a number of engineers to accelerate the development 

of new advanced low-voltage architectures for vehicles. We 

remain committed to the lithium-ion battery market and 

will supply the battery management electronics for Clarios’ 

current and potentially future business and will therefore 

continue to participate in Clarios’ future success. However, 

we will continue to offer battery management systems and 

traction batteries based on FSD technology to third parties.

We used the proceeds from the sale of the asset deal with 

Clarios - as well as the proceeds from the sale of the Digital 

Assistance division - to further reduce the paragon Group’s 

debt. The CHF bond issued in 2019 was repaid in full and 

on schedule in 2023. The EUR bond extended in 2022 was 

reduced to EUR 45.2 million. As a result, the total of bank lia-

bilities and bond liabilities (less cash and cash equivalents) 

amounted to just EUR 57.7 million as at the balance sheet 

date. Immediately before the outbreak of the Covid pan-

demic - in December 2019 - this figure was more than twice 

as high, at EUR 121.3 million. We are proud of this reduction 

in what is certainly a difficult market environment. Our net 

gearing ratio has fallen to 2.28 as a result. It is fair to say 

that paragon is in a much better financial position today 

than it was a year ago, although the company’s liquid-

ity situation has not yet fully normalized. In the course of 

the 2023 financial year, there was still a limited willingness 

on the part of lenders and equity providers to provide the 

company with additional funds. German banks in particular 

were generally reluctant to extend loans to medium-sized 

automotive suppliers. However, deferral agreements and 

extended payment terms were successfully reached with 

suppliers and service providers. We assume that payment 

terms with suppliers and service providers will be shortened 

in the course of the 2024 financial year, taking into account 

the planned sales and the forecast operating profitability, 

which will form the basis for further material savings.

The necessary reduction in debt has certainly been one 

of the predominant issues in recent quarters. We have 

reported regularly on the progress made. We consider the 

Foreword by the management
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level of net debt we have now achieved to be appropriate for 

paragon and would now like to emphasize other aspects of 

our work in our communication with stakeholders. Increas-

ing our profitability, expanding our sales activities in China, 

the USA and South Korea and developing new products for 

the automotive industry, as well as other sectors, are now 

increasingly the focus of our activities. We will provide you 

with comprehensive information on these exciting topics in 

due course.

In the 2024 financial year, we plan to generate sales of 

between EUR 160 million and EUR 165 million. This takes 

into account the fact that customer demand has recently 

normalized after working off the high order backlog of vehi-

cle orders resulting from material bottlenecks at car man-

ufacturers. We expect this market phase to continue in the 

coming months and demand not to pick up again before 

the end of the second quarter of 2024. EBITDA is expected 

to amount to between EUR 18 million and EUR 20 million in 

2024; this takes into account the fact that the one-off finan-

cial effects from the sale of the subsidiary paragon semvox 

GmbH and assets of the Power division in 2023 will of course 

not be incurred in the coming year. However, the rationali-

zation successes achieved will take full effect in 2024 and 

sustainably strengthen profitability.

One point cannot be emphasized often enough. None of 

our products in the four divisions are dependent on the 

combustion engine. The transformation of the automotive 

industry from combustion engines to electric drives will not 

have a negative impact on paragon’s sales. This means that 

the current slowdown in the transition to electric vehicles 

is not a problem for paragon. In the long term, we expect 

demand for paragon products to increase as a result of the 

transformation. 

We are confident that the progress already achieved and 

future progress in the operating business will be reflected in 

the development of the share and bond price. We would like 

to thank our shareholders and bondholders for their loyalty.

We would like to take this opportunity to express our appre-

ciation to our employees and thank them for their com-

mitment in the 2023 financial year. Through their positive 

attitude and performance, they have strengthened para-

gon in the midst of a challenging market environment and 

brought it significantly forward. We would also like to thank 

our business partners and customers for their trust.

Delbrück, April 2024

Klaus Dieter Frers

Chairman 

of the Board, CEO
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Investor Relations

In March 2022, a bondholders’ meeting resolved to amend 

the terms and conditions of the bond. In addition to a 

semi-annual interest payment and a higher interest cou-

pon, the final maturity date was postponed by 5 years to 

July 5, 2027. In addition, partial repayments in the years 

2023 to 2025 or in the event of the sale of business units 

or subsidiaries have been agreed.  In the first half of 2023, 

paragon reduced the nominal amount of the bond from EUR 

50.0 million to EUR 45.2 million through buy-backs. 

The interest rate on the bond depends on the paragon 

Group’s net gearing ratio. The interest rate in the 2023 

financial year was 9.25%. Due to the reduced gearing ratio 

as at December 31, 2023, the interest rate on the bond will 

be 7.5% in the 2024 financial year.

At the end of the 2023 reporting period, the bond closed at 

a price of 69.4%.  

Performance of the paragon share

Starting from a price of EUR 4.31 at the end of 2022, paragon 

shares recorded a steady upward trend in the first half of the 

year. At the end of the first quarter, the share price stood at 

EUR 5.20. A high of EUR 6.30 per share was reached in June 

2023. After that, the share price fell steadily and stood at 

EUR 3.84 at the end of the year. The stock market value at 

this time amounted to EUR 17.4 million, which corresponds 

to a loss in value of EUR 2.1 million in 2023.

Corporate bond 2017/27

The corporate bond placed in June 2017 (ISIN DE000A2GSB86; 

WKN A2GSB8) with an original total volume (framework 

nominal) of EUR 50 million is listed on the Open Market 

(OTC) of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange in the Scale segment 

for corporate bonds of Deutsche Börse AG.  
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Investment in paragon semvox 
GmbH

paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA has sold all of its shares in para-

gon semvox GmbH to CARIAD SE, a wholly owned subsidiary 

of the VW Group, by notarized agreement dated December 

1, 2022. The closing was completed on May 12, 2023. As a 

result of the sale, paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA lost control over 

the subsidiary paragon semvox GmbH. For this reason, para-

gon semvox GmbH is accounted for as a “discontinued oper-

ation” in accordance with IFRS 5 and was deconsolidated 

in the current financial year. The proceeds from the sale 

amounted to EUR 37.5 million, taking into account the trans-

action costs incurred. paragon semvox GmbH represented 

the Digital Assistance division within the paragon Group.   

Financial communication

paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA regularly and simultaneously 

informed all capital market participants about the eco-

nomic situation of the company. The continuous reporting 

included the annual report for the 2022 financial year (pub-

lished on May 22, 2023), the interim report as of March 31, 

2023 - 1st quarter (published on May 12, 2023), the interim 

report as of June 30, 2023 - 1st half-year (published on 

August 21, 2023) and the interim report as of September 

30, 2023 - 9 months (published on November 13, 2023). In 

parallel to these dates, paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA published 

corresponding financial reports, which also included the 

management’s assessment of future business development, 

and organized webcasts that generated lively interest.

The sales and earnings forecast for 2023 was communicated 

at the end of 2022 with sales of EUR 170 million and EBITDA 

On November 6, 2023, paragon started to buy back the bond 

on the stock exchange in a total nominal amount of up to 

EUR 20.2 million. The program will run until July 5, 2025 at 

the latest. The buyback will be carried out by an independ-

ent securities service provider. With regard to the purchase 

price and purchase volume, the service provider must com-

ply with the ban on market abuse (so-called “safe harbor 

rules”). As a result, no more than 25% of the average daily 

turnover (20-day average) in the bonds may be purchased 

on the stock exchange on any one day. The bond buyback 

is carried out via the regional stock exchanges in Stuttgart, 

Frankfurt and Tradegate Exchange. By December 31, 2023, 

bonds with a total nominal value of EUR 131,000.00 had 

been repurchased.

Corporate bond 2019/23

On April 4, 2019, paragon issued a bond under the lead 

management of Helvetische Bank AG for CHF 35 million with 

a coupon of 4.00% and an original fixed term of 5 years. The 

bond has been listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange under ISIN 

CH0419041105 since April 23, 2019 and has been inter-

est-bearing since this date, with the first payment due on 

April 23, 2020. On April 7, 2021, the term of the bond was 

shortened to 4 years and an early redemption of CHF 5.25 

million on August 3, 2021 and CHF 8.75 million on April 

23, 2022 was agreed. The outstanding nominal volume as 

at December 31, 2022 therefore amounted to CHF 21.00 

million. 

Following the conclusion of a public buyback program in 

the first quarter of 2023, the outstanding nominal volume 

was reduced to CHF 12.6 million. This remaining amount 

was repaid on time at the end of April 2023. The CHF bond 

has thus been repaid in full.
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of between EUR 20 and 25 million. This sales and earnings 

forecast by the management for the 2023 financial year 

was explained in the published Group management report 

for the 2022 financial year, including the key assumptions 

on which the forecasts are based. 

In October 2023, the sales and earnings forecast was 

adjusted due to current economic developments in that 

the expected sales revenue for the 2023 financial year was 

specified at between EUR 160 million and EUR 170 million 

and EBITDA was increased to between EUR 25 million and 

EUR 27 million. 

In the past financial year, the company further intensified 

its ongoing communication with institutional and private 

investors, including through presentations and 1-on-1s at 

various capital market conferences. The company under-

stands effective financial communication as the targeted 

reduction of information asymmetry between manage-

ment and shareholders regarding the current economic sit-

uation and the specific future potential of paragon GmbH 

& Co. KGaA. Accordingly, great importance is attached to 

ongoing dialog with professional capital market partici-

pants. Furthermore, the company endeavors to provide the 

general public with current and relevant information on an 

ongoing basis via various media channels and to be availa-

ble as a personal contact for private investors. 
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Supervisory Board Report

In spring 2024, the Management Board and Supervisory 

Board issued an updated declaration of conformity in 

accordance with Section 161 AktG and made it permanently 

available in the Investor Relations section of the paragon 

GmbH & Co. KGaA website. The deviations from the rec-

ommendations of the Code and additional information on 

corporate governance at paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA are also 

explained there. 

The Management Board provided the Supervisory Board 

with comprehensive written and verbal information at the 

Supervisory Board meetings on all significant events, gen-

eral business developments and the current situation of the 

company. The Supervisory Board focused in particular on 

Prof. Dr. Iris Gräßler

Monitoring and Consulting in 
Continuous Dialogue with the 
Management 

Dear Shareholders,

Below we inform you about the work of the Supervisory 

Board in the 2023 financial year.

The Management Board and Supervisory Board of paragon 

GmbH & Co. KGaA are committed to the obligation set out in 

the German Corporate Governance Code (“Code”) to ensure 

the continued existence of the company and its sustainable 

value creation in accordance with the principles of the social 

market economy (corporate interest). There were no con-

flicts of interest between individual members of the Man-

agement Board and Supervisory Board in the 2023 financial 

year. A list of all mandates held by Supervisory Board mem-

bers can be found in the notes to the consolidated financial 

statements.

In the 2023 financial year, the Supervisory Board of para-

gon GmbH & Co. KGaA performed the advisory and supervi-

sory duties incumbent upon it in accordance with the law, 

the Articles of Association, the Corporate Governance Code 

and the rules of procedure with great care. The Supervisory 

Board supervised the Management Board on an ongoing 

basis and satisfied itself of the legality, regularity, expedi-

ency and economic efficiency of the company’s manage-

ment. In addition, the Supervisory Board assisted the Man-

agement Board in an advisory capacity throughout and was 

involved in discussions and decision-making on issues of 

fundamental importance. Thanks to the good cooperation 

between the members of the Supervisory Board, it was also 

possible to make decisions directly at short notice. 
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tion of the auditor and Group auditor for the 2023 financial 

year and proposed Rödl & Partner GmbH Wirtschaftsprü-

fungsgesellschaft, Nuremberg, as auditor and Group auditor. 

Meeting on May 22, 2023

The focus of the first extraordinary Supervisory Board meet-

ing on May 22, 2023 - which was held as a video confer-

ence - was the audit and adoption of the annual financial 

statements for the 2022 financial year and the audit and 

approval of the consolidated financial statements for the 

2022 financial year. The auditors from Baker Tilly GmbH & 

Co. KG Wirtschaftsprüfung were present for this purpose. 

The results of operations and net assets for the reporting 

year and their key influencing factors were explained by the 

Management Board for both the paragon Group and para-

gon GmbH & Co. KGaA. The agenda for the Annual General 

Meeting of paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA on June 30, 2023 was 

also discussed and approved by the Supervisory Board.

Meeting on June 29, 2023

At its second ordinary meeting on June 29, 2023 in Delbrück, 

the Supervisory Board was informed about business devel-

opments in the first quarter of 2023, focusing in particu-

lar on new orders received and the strategy for the North 

American business. Another topic was the financial struc-

ture of the paragon Group and the reduction of debt after 

the CHF bond was repaid in full in the second quarter of 

2023. The Management Board also reported on the planned 

repayment of tax liabilities from the coronavirus period.

Meeting on August 15, 2023

The second extraordinary meeting on August 15, 2023 was 

held as a video conference. The sole topic of this meeting 

was the planned sale of the low-voltage battery business to 

topics relating to strategy, planning, business development, 

financial planning, the risk situation and risk management. 

In addition, the members of the Supervisory Board inten-

sively reviewed the reports of the Management Board and 

discussed them within the Board. In addition to the Super-

visory Board meetings held in person and as video confer-

ences between the Management Board and the Supervisory 

Board, the Chairwoman of the Supervisory Board and the 

Management Board discussed important topics as required. 

The Supervisory Board was kept fully informed of any 

extraordinary events that were significant for the assess-

ment of the annual results.

There were no changes to the Supervisory Board or the 

Management Board in the 2023 financial year.

Meetings of the Supervisory Board

In the 2023 financial year, the Supervisory Board held 

four ordinary meetings and four extraordinary meetings. 

The four ordinary meetings were held in person and two 

extraordinary meetings were held as video conferences. 

These six meetings of the Supervisory Board took place in 

the presence of the Management Board. The remaining two 

meetings were held exclusively in the presence of the three 

Supervisory Board members. The Supervisory Board was 

fully represented at all meetings in 2023.

Meeting on April 25, 2023

At the first ordinary Supervisory Board meeting of 2023 in 

Delbrück, the Supervisory Board was informed about the 

current business development in the first months of 2023, 

the order situation, the continuation of the debt reduction 

and the status of the sale of paragon semvox GmbH to CAR-

IAD SE. The Supervisory Board also dealt with the nomina-
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Audit of the annual and  
consolidated financial statements 
for the 2023 financial year

Rödl & Partner GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, 

Bielefeld, was appointed as auditor and Group auditor for 

the financial year from January 1 to December 31, 2023 by 

resolution of the Annual General Meeting on June 30, 2023 

and commissioned accordingly by the Chairwoman of the 

Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board has received a 

declaration of independence from the auditor.

The subject matter of the audit was the annual financial 

statements of paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA for the fiscal year 

from January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023, prepared by 

the management in accordance with the provisions of the 

German Commercial Code (HGB), the consolidated finan-

cial statements for the fiscal year from January 1, 2023 

to December 31, 2023, prepared by the management in 

accordance with section 315a HGB on the basis of the Inter-

national Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and the com-

bined management report of the paragon Group and para-

gon GmbH & Co. 

At the end of the audit, Rödl & Partner GmbH Wirtschafts-

prüfungsgesellschaft, Bielefeld, issued an unqualified audit 

opinion on the annual financial statements, the consoli-

dated financial statements and the combined management 

report of the paragon Group and paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA. 

The auditor also determined that the information and 

monitoring system set up by the management is suitable 

for fulfilling the legal requirements and identifying devel-

opments that could jeopardize the company’s continued 

existence at an early stage. 

Clarios Advanced Solutions GmbH. The advantages and dis-

advantages of selling the business and the potential long-

term cooperation with Clarios were discussed. 

Meetings on August 22 and 23, 2023

The members of the Supervisory Board met here in person 

to discuss the terms negotiated by the management for the 

above-mentioned sale of the low-voltage battery business 

to Clarios Advanced Solutions GmbH. 

Meeting on September 6, 2023

At the third ordinary Supervisory Board meeting on Septem-

ber 6, 2023 in Delbrück, the Management Board informed the 

Supervisory Board about business developments in the first 

half of 2023. Topics included the development of revenue, 

the reduction in liabilities and the completion of the sale of 

paragon semvox GmbH to CARIAD SE. Mr. Frers reported on 

his repurchase of 29.94% of the shares in paragon GmbH & 

Co. KGaA, which he has since completed privately. 

Meeting on December 5, 2023

At the fourth ordinary Supervisory Board meeting on 

December 5, 2023 (at the offices of Supervisory Board mem-

ber Walter Schäfers in Paderborn), the Supervisory Board 

discussed the business performance in the first nine months 

of 2023, the current business outlook and, in particular, the 

planning presented by the Management Board for the 2024 

financial year and the 2024 financial calendar.

Formation of committees

As in the past, the company’s three-member Supervisory 

Board refrained from forming committees in the 2023 

financial year and dealt with all upcoming issues as a whole.
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Each member of the Supervisory Board was provided by 

the auditor with the documents to be audited relating to 

the annual financial statements, the consolidated financial 

statements, the combined management report of the para-

gon Group and paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA and the report on 

the audit of the financial statements. The audit was reported 

on and discussed at the Supervisory Board meeting on April 

24, 2024. The auditors took part in the discussion of the 

annual financial statements and the consolidated financial 

statements. They reported on the key findings of the audits 

and were available to answer additional questions and pro-

vide information to the Supervisory Board. Following the 

final results of its audit, the Supervisory Board approved the 

annual financial statements and the consolidated financial 

statements.

The Supervisory Board would like to express its thanks and 

appreciation to the Management Board and the employees 

of all Group companies for their high level of personal com-

mitment, their achievements and their ongoing dedication 

to paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA and the work performed in 

2023.

 

Delbrück, Germany, April, 2024

For the Supervisory Board,

 

Prof. Dr. Iris Gräßler

Chairwoman of the 

Supervisory Board
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Combined Management Report  
for the paragon Group and  
paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA 

Foundations of the Group

Business model of the paragon Group

The paragon Group’s business model is based on the inde-

pendent development of product innovations at its own 

expense. To this end, a tried and tested innovation system 

is used to keep the current product portfolio at a very high 

level of innovation on an ongoing basis. Thanks to the over-

all vehicle expertise that the paragon Group has succes-

sively built up over the past three decades, development 

and prototype construction are characterized by a deep 

understanding of the entire automotive industry.

The combined management report summarizes the Group 

management report and the management report of para-

gon GmbH & Co.

To clarify which information relates to the parent company 

and which relates to the Group, we use “paragon GmbH & 

Co. KGaA”, “Company” or “paragon” for the parent company 

in the following. For information relating to the paragon 

Group, we use “paragon Group” or “Group”.

Inspiration
Megatrends

Innovation
Prototypes

Introduction  
of the push-prinziple

Integration
Automation
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sidiaries paragon movasys GmbH, paragon electronic GmbH, 

ETON Soundsysteme GmbH, paragon electrodrive GmbH and 

Nordhagen Immobilien GmbH. The foreign subsidiaries par-

avox Automotive Ltd (Bangalore), paragon Automotive Kun-

shan Co., Ltd, and paragon Automotive Technology (Shang-

hai) Co., Ltd. are also included in the scope of consolidation 

of the paragon Group. In the USA, paragon Automotive LLC 

was founded with the aim of bundling and strengthening 

sales activities in America from mid-2024. This company 

was still inactive in 2023.

paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA sold all of its shares in paragon 

semvox GmbH to CARIAD SE, a wholly owned subsidiary of 

the VW Group, by notarized agreement dated December 1, 

2022. The closing took place on May 12, 2023. As a result 

of the sale, paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA lost control over the 

subsidiary paragon semvox GmbH. For this reason, paragon 

semvox GmbH will be deconsolidated in the 2023 consoli-

dated financial statements and recognized as a discontin-

ued operation in accordance with IFRS 5. paragon semvox 

GmbH represents the Digital Assistance division in the par-

agon Group. 

The paragon Group comprises two segments. The “Elec-

tronics” segment comprises the development and sale of 

sensors, loudspeakers, microphones, batteries and instru-

ments, primarily for the automotive industry. The compa-

nies paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA, paragon electronic GmbH, 

ETON Soundsysteme GmbH, Hepa GmbH, paragon Automo-

tive Technology Co. Ltd, paragon Automotive Kunshan Co. 

Ltd. and Nordhagen Immobilien GmbH are allocated to the 

Electronics segment.   

The “Mechanics” segment comprises the development and 

sale of electromechanical components for the automotive 

industry and the mechanical production of paragon Group 

products by paragon movasys GmbH.   

Corporate strategy

The corporate strategy of the paragon Group pursues the 

goal of sustainable and stable growth in order to ensure 

the long-term success of the company. It is developed in a 

revolving process at management level. paragon’s sustain-

able strategy is to independently develop product inno-

vations for the automotive industry based on the relevant 

fields of innovation of increasing comfort and protecting 

The product innovation process in the paragon Group is 

inspired by the central idea of improving the individual 

driving experience of the occupants of modern passenger 

cars (as end customers). 

The paragon Group derives the fields of innovation relevant 

to the automotive value chain from the global megatrends 

of climate change, digitalization and urbanization in the 

context of the constant increase in comfort and health pro-

tection for vehicle occupants and the technological conse-

quences of efforts to reduce CO2 and the transformation 

towards locally emission-free mobility. The paragon Group 

has set up its activities in the Sensors, Interior, Kinematics 

and Power divisions for this purpose. 

The market launch of product innovations is based on the 

so-called push principle, i.e. actual marketing to automotive 

manufacturers as direct customers only begins once func-

tional prototypes (A samples) and corresponding property 

right applications have been filed. This gives the paragon 

Group a head start over the competition, even with short 

innovation cycles. With a high level of vertical integration in 

production, the paragon Group has also established itself as 

a reliable partner for automotive manufacturers. 

The degree of automation in series production is constantly 

being increased in order to improve the cost structure over 

the life cycle of the individual product series. In this sense, 

series production of the large number of product variants 

represents an independent field of innovation within the 

company.

Group structure

paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA is the parent company of the 

paragon Group. In addition to the company headquarters in 

33129 Delbrück, Bösendamm 11, (North Rhine-Westphalia), 

paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA and its subsidiaries have branches 

in Suhl (Thuringia), St. Georgen (Baden-Württemberg), Lim-

bach (Saarland), Nuremberg (Bavaria) and Oroslavje (Croa-

tia). Landsberg am Lech is the headquarters of the subsidi-

ary movasys GmbH, Kunshan (China) is the headquarters of 

paragon Automotive Kunshan Co., Ltd. and Bangalore (India) 

is the headquarters of paravox Automotive Ltd.  

In addition to the parent company, the scope of consolida-

tion of the paragon Group also includes the domestic sub-
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c)  Development of new sales areas (market 

development)

paragon is aiming for further internationalization of its 

business activities in the short and medium term for future 

growth. In addition to the home market of Germany and the 

key automotive countries in Europe, the short-term focus 

is particularly on the high-growth markets in Asia. The Chi-

nese automotive industry is one of the world’s major growth 

drivers in the sector and is now also responsible for the rapid 

spread of resource-saving technologies. For paragon, there 

is therefore potential for a further increase in sales on the 

Chinese automotive market.

America is also of interest for paragon’s strategic orienta-

tion. Following the successful establishment in China, the 

expansion of sales to conquer the US market is the task for 

the coming years.

d)  Development of new submarkets with new product 

offerings (diversification)

Another component of paragon’s growth strategy is to 

develop new submarkets with innovative product offerings 

in the medium term.  

Control system

In addition to a high innovation dynamic, flat hierarchies, 

short decision-making paths and continuously optimized 

process management characterize the organizational foun-

dations of paragon. The Group also has the character of a 

medium-sized, family-run company and thus combines  

a long-term, strategic focus with the integration power of a 

listed company. Thanks to this special organizational focus, 

the management believes that it is in a position to compete 

successfully with significantly larger groups and to further 

expand its market position as a direct supplier to renowned 

automotive manufacturers in the future.

The management regularly compares its strategy with the 

actual business development in the paragon Group. The 

resulting follow-up activities are determined at manage-

ment level as part of target discussions and optimizing 

measures or fundamental changes in direction are initiated.

the health of passengers, as well as the technological con-

sequences of the targeted CO2 reduction, in order to sus-

tainably improve the individual driving experience of the 

occupants of modern passenger cars as end customers. 

paragon does not develop and manufacture products that 

depend on the combustion engine, but participates in the 

transformation towards locally emission-free mobility.

As a result, the paragon strategy comprises the following 

four levels of sustainable anchoring:

a)  Ongoing development of product innovations based 

on megatrends (product development)

In order to be able to occupy lucrative submarkets at an 

early stage, particularly in the premium segment of the 

automotive sector, paragon develops technological innova-

tions as part of a tried and tested, permanent process and 

derives fields of action for the automotive industry from 

this, which are the subject of future development activities. 

In this context, paragon is also aiming to systematically 

expand its product portfolio and existing business areas 

through targeted investments in technologies and pro-

duction. The aim is to be able to offer higher-value sys-

tems from a single source and thus increase its share of the 

automotive value chain. To this end, paragon is constantly 

examining ways of increasing its own vertical integration.

b)  Acquiring new automobile manufacturers as custom-

ers (market penetration)

paragon intends to further increase the volume of business 

with various premium manufacturers in the medium term, 

which are currently already important customers but for 

which paragon still sees considerable potential. This is to 

be supported by targeted sales activities as well as targeted 

acquisitions and spin-offs from acquisitions. 

Vehicle functions and equipment that are currently still 

predominantly offered by European manufacturers in the 

premium automotive segment are increasingly in demand 

in Asia, particularly in the Chinese market. Here, paragon has 

already succeeded in penetrating the high-volume models 

of Chinese manufacturers with its first products. 
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For the individual company paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA, 

revenue and EBITDA are also considered financial perfor-

mance indicators. Against the backdrop of the growth strat-

egy pursued, forward-looking corporate management is 

thus taken into account in terms of both risk-oriented and 

opportunity-oriented corporate management. The forecast 

for the paragon Group and for paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA can 

be found in the forecast report.

Group sales

As a rule, revenue in the paragon Group is generated pre-

dominantly through the sale of internally manufactured 

products in the Electronics and Mechanics segments directly 

to automotive manufacturers.

In this respect, Group sales are subject to various influences, 

some of which are taken into account in the forecast report-

ing by specifying a target corridor (range).

EBITDA

As part of corporate management, EBITDA is managed by 

the management in terms of the development of operat-

ing profitability in such a way that the strategically defined 

growth path can be implemented with appropriate prof-

itability. In addition to measuring operating profitability, 

EBITDA is also used as an approximate value for operating 

cash flow as part of the management of the segments and 

divisions.

EBITDA is calculated by adjusting the annual result to 

exclude the following influences:

•  Income taxes

•  Financial result

• Scheduled depreciation and amortization

•  Impairment losses and reversals of impairment losses 

on current assets

•  Impairment losses and reversals of impairment losses 

on property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 

and 

•  Impairment of goodwill.

The company’s domestic electronics production at the Suhl, 

St. Georgen and Limbach plants is managed uniformly by 

paragon electronic GmbH. The aim of this joint manage-

ment is to harmonize and standardize processes and work-

flows in order to increase production efficiency. This is to 

be supported primarily by the further automation of pro-

duction processes. By continuously increasing the level of 

automation, the aim is to ensure a consistent, stable level 

of quality while simultaneously reducing quality costs. 

Other production sites are Landsberg am Lech and Oroslavje 

(Croatia), where paragon movasys GmbH products such as 

spoilers and other kinematic components are manufac-

tured. In addition, there is the Chinese production facility in 

Kunshan, which manufactures products (some of which are 

developed locally) that belong to the Sensors, Interiors and 

Kinematics divisions

paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA has a comprehensive planning 

and control system for the operational implementation of 

strategic planning. Among other things, this includes con-

tinuous controlling of monthly and annual planning. These 

reports document possible deviations from the planned fig-

ures in a target/actual comparison and form the basis for 

business decisions. Another important management tool is 

the regular meetings of managers, at which current busi-

ness developments in the individual divisions and an out-

look for the medium and long term are discussed, as well as 

regular cross-divisional and division-specific project status 

meetings.

Financial performance indicators

The management regularly uses key performance indica-

tors to measure the economic success of the operational 

implementation of its corporate strategy. The management 

system takes into account the type and/or amount of one-

off or extraordinary effects on the performance indicators. 

The internal targets are generally defined as ranges for 

measuring and managing operating performance, depend-

ing on the respective planning horizon. Based on rolling 

medium-term planning, the paragon Group monitors the 

development of the key performance indicators revenue 

and EBITDA within a corridor, taking into account experience 

curve effects. 
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Non-financial performance indicators

Against the backdrop of the strategic positioning as an 

innovative provider of technologically sophisticated and 

high-quality products and systems based on current meg-

atrends, the management also uses non-financial perfor-

mance indicators as part of its corporate management. The 

non-financial performance indicators are not material for 

the management of the paragon Group.

Employees

The successful recruitment, development and retention of 

qualified employees (the term is used to refer uniformly 

to female, male and diverse employees) are of particu-

lar importance for the implementation of the sustaina-

ble growth strategy, taking into account paragon’s specific 

business model. Personnel development is seen as a central 

building block for the company’s success.

Gains and losses from the disposal of fixed assets as well as 

(unrealized) exchange rate gains and/or losses are therefore 

included in the EBITDA figure. 

EBITDA is not a performance indicator defined in IFRS stand-

ards. The Group’s definition of EBITDA may not be compa-

rable with similarly designated performance indicators and 

disclosures by other companies.

In reporting on the forecast, EBITDA is stated in a range 

where applicable. This means that the dynamic effects that 

may arise over time for the relevant income and expense 

items are also taken into account as part of the rolling 

medium-term planning. 

Development of employees in the paragon Group
(continued operations):

Dec. 31, 2023 Dec. 31, 2022 Change in%

Number of employees 740 729 1,5%

of which employed in development 104 122 -14,8%

Number of temporary workers 39 110 -64,5%

of which employed in development 0 0 0,0%

The proportion of female employees in the Group decreased 

to 38.9% (previous year: 39.8%). At 21.2%, the proportion 

of university graduates slightly decreased (previous year: 

23.3%). The proportion of severely disabled employees was 

2.8% (previous year: 3.2%). The average age changed slightly 

to 44.9 years (previous year: 44.3 years) and the average 

length of service remained unchanged at 6.1 years (previ-

ous year: 6.1 years).
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Distribution of permanent employees across the Group locations:

Dec. 31, 2023 Dec. 31, 2022 Change in %

Delbrück (Group headquarters, North Rhine-Westphalia) 140 160 -12,5%

Landsberg am Lech (Bavaria) 163 122 33,6%

Nuremberg (Bavaria) 3 2 50,0%

Limbach (Saarland) 67 60 11,7%

St. Georgen (Baden-Württemberg) 35 39 -10,3%

Suhl (Thuringia) 253 259 -2,3%

Germany total 661 642 3,0%

Kunshan (China) 60 51 17,6%

Oroslavje (Croatia) 17 16 6,3%

Bangalore (India) 2 20 -90,0%

Total abroad 79 87 -9,2%

Group total 740 729 1,5%

Quality and environment

As a production company with a large product portfolio, par-

agon has many years of experience in optimizing produc-

tion processes. All paragon sites are certified in accordance 

with the IATF 16949 standard and are monitored annually. 

The established interactive and process-oriented manage-

ment system provides for continuous improvements with 

an emphasis on error prevention and waste reduction. 

The paragon Group operates according to a “zero-defect 

strategy”, which is permanently pursued in production 

along the entire value chain.

Furthermore, environmental protection and occupational 

safety are an integral part of the company’s mission state-

ment. paragon has integrated the requirements of DIN EN 

ISO 14001 into its management system. Its effectiveness is 

confirmed in the annual audits. In addition, paragon pursues 

the concept of sustainability through the use of state-of-

the-art production technologies and the careful use of raw 

materials and energy resources. 

Other performance indicators

The financial and non-financial performance indicators 

listed above are essential for the management of the par-

agon Group. There are also other performance indicators 

for the Group. These other performance indicators are of 

secondary importance compared to the performance indi-

cators. The management uses research and development 

activities in particular as indicators for management and as 

a yardstick for further development.

Research and development

As paragon’s business model is based on the early occu-

pation of lucrative market segments with self-developed 

product innovations, special skills and sufficient capacities 

in the area of research and development (R&D) are further 

control parameters. 

Responsibility for the development of new products is 

decentralized at divisional level. The decentralized organi-

zation means that new ideas can be implemented quickly 

thanks to direct integration with the customer teams 

responsible for sales. Research and development activities 

are predominantly internal and application-oriented. 
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In the 2023 financial year, paragon spent a total of € 12.8 

million (previous year: € 14.7 million) on R&D activities. This 

corresponds to a share of 7.9% of sales (previous year: 9.1%). 

The ratio of capitalized development costs to total research 

and development costs was approximately 30.4% (previous 

year: 34.6%). In the reporting period, paragon recognized 

amortization and impairment losses of € 6.7 million (previ-

ous year: € 5.3 million).

The investments made in the development of innovative 

products in recent years resulted in further series produc-

tion launches in the reporting year. Accordingly, the man-

agement is convinced that the significant expenditure on 

development services in recent years as part of the market 

and product strategy is very much in line with the needs of 

manufacturers who are currently focusing more and more 

consistently on the fields of innovation.

Dividend policy

The management has always pursued a dividend policy 

that is intended to meet the strategic corporate objective of 

profitable growth and has therefore largely retained corpo-

rate profits in the past. As part of the extension of the EUR 

bond, it was agreed with the bondholders in March 2022 

that paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA would refrain from distrib-

uting dividends until the final repayment of the EUR bond 

in 2027. In the reporting year, an amount of EUR 5.1 million 

(previous year: EUR 7.9 million) is subject to the distribution 

restriction. 

The Management Board and Supervisory Board of paragon 

GmbH & Co. KGaA will therefore propose to the Annual Gen-

eral Meeting that no dividend be paid for the 2023 financial 

year (previous year: no dividend payment).

Economic report

General economic conditions

The Kiel Economic Report1  of the Kiel Institute for the World 

Economy (IfW) states that the global economy held up bet-

ter than expected in 2023 in the face of the inflation shock 

and the massive tightening of monetary policy, even if eco-

nomic expansion was moderate. The IfW expects global GDP 

to increase by a total of 2.63.1% in the calendar year 2023. 

The eurozone performed weaker than the global economy in 

2023. The sharp rise in the cost of living curbed private con-

sumption, financing conditions have become less favorable 

due to higher key interest rates and the external economic 

environment also offers little support. The economy in the 

eurozone therefore only grew by 0.5% in 2023 compared to 

the previous year. 

As a supplier to the automotive industry, paragon gener-

ated the majority of the Group’s revenue in the 2023 finan-

cial year with automobile manufacturers in the premium 

segment based in Germany and the European Union. These 

in turn sell the vehicles they produce worldwide. Overall 

economic development is therefore important for paragon 

insofar as it affects the sales opportunities of the automo-

tive manufacturers it supplies and therefore also indirectly 

affects the development of demand from private consum-

ers for paragon’s products.

Sector-related market development 2023

In its press release dated January 18, 2024, the German 

Association of the Automotive Industry (VDA) states that 

the international automotive markets recorded a signifi-

cant increase in new registrations in 2023. The most impor-

tant factor here was the easing of supply chain restrictions, 

particularly in the semiconductor sector. The availability of 

these important components has improved significantly. 

However, the business environment remains challenging for 

the automotive industry. In Europe in particular, geopoliti-

cal and macroeconomic uncertainties led to subdued overall 

economic demand.

The European passenger car market achieved a further 

increase in new registrations of 13% to around 12.8 million 

new vehicles in 2023. This means that a further recovery 

was achieved in 2023 after the significant pandemic-re-

lated slump in 2020, but without having reached the same 

level again. In 2019, registrations still amounted to 15.8 mil-

lion vehicles. 

The US light vehicle market recorded a significant increase 

of around 13% to 15.5 million vehicles in 2023. Overall, how-

ever, the light vehicle market in 2023 was still below the 

pre-Covid-19 level of around 17.0 million vehicles in 2019.

1   https://www.ifw-kiel.de/de/publikationen/weltwirtschaft-im-winter-2023 
-konjunkturelle-dynamik-bleibt-vorerst-gering-32318/
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deconsolidated in the current financial year. Taking into 

account the transaction costs incurred, the proceeds 

from the sale amounted to EUR 37.5 million. The decon-

solidation gain amounted to EUR 5.7 million. EBITDA 

from discontinued operations (including the effect 

from the deconsolidation of paragon semvox GmbH) 

amounted to EUR 7.6 million. 

•  The proceeds from the sale were used to further reduce 

paragon’s debt. Bank and bond liabilities (less cash and 

cash equivalents) were reduced by EUR 29.7 million 

from EUR 87.3 million as at December 31, 2022 to EUR 

57.7 million as at the balance sheet date. 

•  In August 2023, paragon then took the next step in its 

plan to strengthen its core business and accelerate 

the global scaling of our technology. With Clarios, the 

world’s leading supplier of starter batteries, the transfer 

of a part of our Power division was concluded together 

with further cooperation and supply agreements. The 

transaction enables Clarios to integrate our lithium-ion 

battery technology and a number of engineers to 

accelerate the development of new advanced low-volt-

age architectures for vehicles. We remain committed to 

the lithium-ion battery market and will supply the bat-

tery management electronics for Clarios’ current and 

potentially future business and will therefore continue 

to participate in Clarios’ future success. However, we will 

continue to offer battery management systems and 

traction batteries based on FSD technology to third par-

ties. paragon generated income of EUR 6.6 million from 

this transaction. This is reported under other operating 

income.

•  paragon issued a bond for CHF 35 million in 2019. 

Repayments of CHF 5.25 million were made on 3 August 

2021 and CHF 8.75 million on 23 April 2022, leaving an 

outstanding nominal volume of CHF 21.00 million as at 

31 December 2022. Following the conclusion of a public 

buyback program in the first quarter of 2023, the out-

standing nominal volume was reduced to CHF 12.6 mil-

lion. This remaining amount was repaid at the end of 

April 2023. The CHF bond has thus been repaid in full 

and on time.

•  The nominal amount of the EUR bond issued in 2017 

was reduced to EUR 45.2 million through buy-backs. 

Since November 6, 2023, paragon has been carrying out 

an on-exchange buyback program of around EUR 20.2 

million for the EUR bond in compliance with the Market 

Abuse Regulation.

The Chinese market recorded further growth of 11% to 25.8 

million cars in 2023. This puts new registrations in 2023 at a 

new Chinese record level.   

New registrations/sales of passenger cars therefore devel-

oped as follows in the most important sales markets:

In million units 2023 2022 Change

USA 15,5 13,7 13,1%

Europe 12,8 11,3 13,3%

China 25,8 23,2 11,2%

As a result, paragon operated in an economic sector envi-

ronment in the past financial year that remained well below 

the pre-Covid-19 level in Europe and the USA in 2019.

Business performance of the Group

Forecast reported in the previous period 

Paragon Group had published the following forecast for the 

2023 financial year: 

• approx. 170 million euros in sales,

• 20 to 25 million euros EBITDA

In October 2023, the sales and earnings forecast was 

adjusted in that the expected sales revenue for the 2023 

financial year was specified at between EUR 160 million and 

EUR 170 million and EBITDA was increased to between EUR 

25 million and EUR 27 million. 

Key factors influencing the course of business

The 2023 reporting year is characterized by special business 

transactions. These special effects relate in detail to

•  paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA sold all of its shares in para-

gon semvox GmbH to CARIAD SE, a wholly owned sub-

sidiary of the VW Group, by notarized agreement dated 

December 1, 2022. The closing was completed on May 

12, 2023. paragon semvox GmbH represented the Dig-

ital Assistance division within the paragon Group. As a 

result of the sale, paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA lost control 

over the subsidiary paragon semvox GmbH. For this rea-

son, paragon semvox GmbH is accounted for as a dis-

continued operation in accordance with IFRS 5 and was 
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•  The financial result in the reporting period was impacted 

by the one-off costs of EUR 3.5 million incurred for 

interim financing to ensure the punctual repayment of 

the CHF bond in April 2023.

•  As at the previous year’s reporting date, paragon still 

had deferred tax liabilities of € 10.9 million from the 

coronavirus period. These were paid in 2023 with the 

exception of a residual amount of € 0.5 million. The 

remaining amount was paid to the tax office in March 

2024.

Sales revenue:

paragon generated revenue of € 161.6 million in the 2023 

financial year (previous year: € 160.7 million). This means 

that revenue in 2023 is at a similar level to the 2022 finan-

cial year, but 4.9% below the original budget of EUR 170 mil-

lion. This deviation is due to a reduction in the car manufac-

turers’ production figures compared to the budget planning. 

Compared to previous years and expectations, car manufac-

turers took longer plant vacations in the summer and at the 

turn of the year.

Total sales are distributed across the four divisions as follows:

Sales distribution

€’000

2023 Share

in %

2022 Share

in %

Change 

in %

Sensors 41.336 25,6% 50.609 31,5% -18,3%

Interior 53.327 33,0% 55.476 34,5% -3,9%

Power 9.347 5,8% 2.033 1,3% 359,8%

Kinematics 57.636 35,7% 52.559 32,7% 9,7%

Total 161.646 100,0% 160.677 100,0% 0,6%

Sales in the Sensors division decreased by 18.3% to EUR 41.3 

million in the reporting year compared to the 2022 financial 

year (previous year: EUR 50.6 million) due to the scheduled 

discontinuation of an air quality product for a vehicle model 

in the third quarter of 2023. 

In the Interior division, sales fell slightly by 3.9% to EUR 53.3 

million (previous year: EUR 55.5 million). This was mainly 

due to slightly weaker demand in the display instruments 

product group (stopwatches, clocks and compasses) as a 

result of changes in the main customer’s driving style.  

The Power division contributed € 9.3 million to segment 

sales (previous year: € 2.0 million), which corresponds to an 

increase of 359.8%. This was due to increased quantities of 

a lithium-ion battery for an OEM, the start-up of another 

battery in the second quarter of 2023 and invoiced devel-

opment costs. 

The Kinematics division increased its revenue by 9.7% from 

€ 52.6 million (previous year 2022) to € 57.6 million in the 

2023 financial year. This makes the Kinematics division the 

largest division within the paragon Group for the first time.

A breakdown of revenue by region has been omitted, as 

paragon’s automotive customers are active worldwide. The 

geographical unloading point for paragon (customers’ pro-

duction plant) cannot be used to infer the actual geograph-

ical distribution of customer sales. 

EBITDA:

As in the previous year, paragon’s management paid par-

ticular attention to working capital in the 2023 finan-

cial year and intensified the cost reduction and efficiency 

enhancement program already launched along the entire 

value chain to ensure the Group’s profitability. 
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In the financial year, paragon generated EBITDA of € 17 ,7 

million in the continuing operations. The discontinued Dig-

ital Assistance division (paragon semvox GmbH) contrib-

uted additional EBITDA of € 7.6 million in 2023, taking into 

account the deconsolidation result. EBITDA from continuing 

and discontinued operations thus amounted to EUR 25.2 

million. The original EBITDA forecast has therefore been 

slightly exceeded. Taking into account the book gains of EUR 

6.6 million from the transfer of part of the Power division to 

Clarios, operating EBITDA for the continuing and discontin-

ued operations amounted to EUR 18 .6 million. This figure is 

slightly below the original forecast of an EBITDA of between 

EUR 20 and 25 million. This EBITDA deviation is the conse-

quence of the slightly weaker sales revenue.

Sales and EBITDA in the Electronics and Mechanics 

segments:

Sales and EBITDA in the Electronics and Mechanics1 seg-

ments  developed as follows compared to the previous year:

Business segment

€’000 or as stated

Electronics 

2023

Electronics 

2022

∆

in %

Mechanics 

2023

Mechanics 

2022

∆

in %

Revenues with third parties 104,011 108,117 -3.8 57,636 52,560 9.7

Intersegment sales 1,236 986 25.3 1.357 266 409.6

Turnover 105,246 109,103 -3.5 58,994 52,826 11.7

EBITDA 15,861 13,977 13.5 1,811 -3,766 -148.1

EBITDA margin 15.1% 12.8% 18.0 3.1% -7.1% -143.7

Business segment

€’000 or as stated

Eliminations

2023

Eliminations 

2022

∆

in %

Group 

2023

Group2

2022

∆

in %

Revenues with third parties 0 0 0.0 161,647 160,677 0.6

Intersegment sales -2,593 -1,252 107.0 0 0 0.0

Turnover -2,593 -1,252 107.0 161,647 160,677 0.6

EBITDA 0 0 -100.0 17,672 10,211 65.6

EBITDA margin 0.0% 0.0% -100.0 10.9% 6.4% 70.3

1   Illustrated by the Kinematics division.

2   The Digital Assistance division, which was deconsolidated in the 2023 financial year, is presented as a discontinued operation in accordance with  
IFRS 5. The earnings contribution of the Digital Assistance division is not included in the overview..

The largest segment, Electronics (consisting of the Sensors, 

Interior and Power divisions), continued to dominate Group 

activities with segment sales of EUR 105.2 million (previ-

ous year: EUR 109.1 million). Of this figure, EUR 104.0 mil-

lion (previous year: EUR 108.1 million) was attributable to 

sales with third parties in the Sensors, Interiors and Power 

divisions. The segment recorded a reduction in sales of 3.8%. 

EBITDA in the Electronics segment amounted to EUR 15 .9 

million (previous year: EUR 14.0 million). The EBITDA margin 

accordingly amounted to 15.1 % (previous year: 12.8%). 

Segment sales in the Mechanics segment amounted to 

EUR 57.6 million (previous year: EUR 52.6 million). This rep-

resents an increase in sales of 9.7% compared to the 2022 

financial year. Segment EBITDA amounted to EUR 1.8 million 

(previous year: EUR -3.8 million), which corresponds to an 

EBITDA margin of 3.1% (previous year: -7.1%). The pleasing 

sales development was based on higher customer call-offs 

and new product launches and, in addition to the numerous 

measures to improve earnings, is responsible for the fact 

that the Mechanics segment is now posting positive EBITDA.  
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Net assets, financial position and results of operations

Financial position of the paragon Group

Total assets decreased by € 64 ,1 million to 108.5 million as 

at December 31, 2023 (December 31, 2022: € 172.6 million). 

This development is mainly due to the deconsolidation of 

paragon semvox GmbH and the use of the proceeds from the 

sale to further reduce debt. Taking into account the transac-

tion costs incurred, the proceeds from the sale amounted to 

EUR 37.5 million. The deconsolidation gain amounted to EUR 

5.7 million.

Non-current assets decreased to 68 .3 million euros (Decem-

ber 31, 2022: 76.0 million euros). Non-current assets show a 

reduction in intangible assets of - 9.8% to 33 .7 million euros 

(December 31, 2022: 37.4 million euros).  This reduction is the 

result of scheduled amortization which overcompensates 

the change in presentation of a development cost grant 

from current assets to intangible assets. The goodwill of EUR 

5.7 million reported in the 2023 reporting year is unchanged 

from the previous year. The reduction in property, plant and 

equipment to EUR 26.7 million (previous year: EUR 30.8 mil-

lion) is mainly due to scheduled depreciation.       

Current assets decreased to EUR 40.2 million (December 

31, 2022: EUR 96.6 million). This is due in particular to the 

deconsolidation of the division to be sold. As a result, assets 

classified as held for sale amounted to EUR 0 million in the 

reporting year (December 31, 2022: EUR 35.8 million). 

Trade receivables fell slightly from EUR 7.7 million in the 

previous year to EUR 6.6 million in the reporting year. This 

is due to continued intensified receivables management. 

Inventories fell from 24.0 million euros in the previous year 

to 20.6 million euros in the reporting year. This is the result 

of a number of measures to reduce the capital tied up in 

inventories. Other nonfinancial assets fell from 4.4 million 

euros in the previous year to 3.1 million euros in the report-

ing year. The main reason for this is the change in presenta-

tion of the contributions to development costs for traction 

batteries made to a manufacturer of light vehicles (total-

ing € 5 million; previous year € 2.7 million) . These are now 

reported as intangible assets. Contract assets increased 

from EUR 1.3 million in the previous year to EUR 1.5 million 

in the reporting year.

Cash and cash equivalents fell from € 18.1 million in the pre-

vious year to € 3.2 million in the reporting year. The reduc-

tion in cash and cash equivalents is due to the repayment of 

the loan that was granted to paragon as interim financing - 

to repay bond liabilities in April 2023 - immediately before 

the previous year’s reporting date.

Equity decreased to - 4.1 million euros (December 31, 2022: 

-0.2 million euros) due to the negative consolidated result. 

Accordingly, the equity ratio amounted to - 3.8% as at the 

reporting date (December 31, 2022: -0.1%). This is mainly 

due to the negative consolidated result.

Non-current provisions and liabilities decreased to EUR 43.9 

million in the reporting year (December 31, 2022: EUR 67 ,0 

million), which is mainly due to the change in the maturity 

of the EUR bond. In the reporting year, the nominal amount 

of the bond was reduced by EUR 4.8 million from EUR 50.0 

million to EUR 45.2 million. In the previous year, the entire 

bond was reported as a long-term bond. In the reporting 

year, the non-current portion of EUR 24.8 million is reported 

under “Non-current bonds”, while the remaining amount is 

reported under “Current bonds”.

Deferred taxes of € 0.3 million (December 31, 2022: € 1.2 

million) decreased by 75.9% compared to the previous year. 

This is mainly due to a reduction in the carrying amount of 

own work capitalized in the financial year.

Current provisions and liabilities decreased from € 105 .8 

million to € 68.7 million. This is mainly due to the repay-

ment of a short-term loan - for interim financing of the 

repayment of bond liabilities in April 2023. Trade payables 

decreased by EUR 0.6 million to EUR 24.4 million (Decem-

ber 31, 2022: EUR 25 .0 million). Other current non-finan-

cial liabilities decreased to 7.6 million euros (December 31, 

2022: 15.9 million euros); this reduction is mainly due to the 

repayment of tax liabilities.
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Financial position of the paragon Group

Debt financing

The paragon Group further reduced its debt in 2023. The 

CHF bond issued in 2019 was repaid as planned in 2023. The 

framework nominal value of the EUR bond issued in 2017 

was reduced to EUR 45.2 million. All but EUR 0.5 million of the 

tax liabilities due were repaid. This remaining amount was 

paid to the tax office in March 2024. To ensure the scheduled 

repayment of the CHF bond, an interim loan was taken out 

immediately before the previous year’s balance sheet date. 

This interim loan was repaid in the first half of 2023.

The EUR bond is therefore the main element of debt financ-

ing. The interest rate in 2023 was 9.25%. For 2024, the inter-

est rate will fall to 7.5%. paragon has been carrying out an 

exchange-based buyback program since November 2023 

in accordance with the provisions of the Market Abuse 

Regulation. 

In addition, two long-term real estate loans (totaling  

EUR 6.7 million) to finance the company’s own properties in 

Landsberg am Lech and Limbach remain a key element of 

financing.

Equity financing

Due to the negative Group equity, the paragon Group cannot 

currently be financed through equity. 

Liquidity

Cash flow from operating activities fell to EUR -6.2 million in 

the reporting period (previous year: EUR +11.5 million). The 

starting point for the cash flow from operating activities was 

the negative result after income taxes, which improved from 

-4.2 million euros in the previous year to - 3.8 million euros 

in the reporting year. In particular, the positive result from 

the disposal of property, plant and equipment changed 

from EUR 2.2 million (loss) in the previous year to EUR -12.9 

million (profit) in the reporting year. This is the result of 

the sale of fixed assets to the battery manufacturer Clarios 

and the earnings contribution from the sale of the Digital 

Assistance division. Furthermore, cash flow from operating 

activities was negatively impacted by the reduction in other 

current liabilities and liabilities in the amount of 8.4 million 

euros. This reduction is mainly due to the repayment of tax 

liabilities deferred due to the coronavirus crisis. In addition, 

interest paid increased from EUR -6.5 million in the previous 

year to EUR -11.9 million in the reporting year. This increase 

is mainly due to the interest payment of EUR 3.5 million for 

the interim financing to ensure the scheduled repayment of 

the CHF bond in April 2023.

Cash flow from financing activities fell from EUR +5.1 mil-

lion in the previous year to EUR -46.9 million in the report-

ing year. This was due in particular to repayments of finan-

cial loans, primarily the repayment of interim financing in 

May 2023, which was received in December 2022 in the 

amount of EUR 21.5 million. This was earmarked to finance 

the repayment of the bond liabilities due in April 2023 

(final maturity of the CHF bond and partial repayment of 

the EUR bond). In addition, payments of around EUR 19.9 

million were made for the repayment of bonds (CHF bond 

and EUR bond). 

Cash flow from investing activities increased from 0.6 mil-

lion euros in the previous year to 38.1 million euros in the 

reporting period. The main element is the cash inflow of € 

37.5 million due to the sale of the Digital Assistance divi-

sion in May 2023. In addition, proceeds from the disposal 

of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 

amounting to € 8.2 million were generated (previous year: € 

7.9 million). The main reason for these proceeds was the sale 

of the low-voltage battery business to Clarios. Investments 

in intangible assets in the financial year again relate to own 

work capitalized and contributions to development costs for 

traction batteries in the amount of EUR 2.3 million to a man-

ufacturer of light vehicles.

Cash flow from operating activities less payments for invest-

ments in property, plant and equipment and less payments 

for investments in intangible assets amounted to EUR -13,8 

million (previous year: EUR +3.8 million).

Cash and cash equivalents fell accordingly by EUR 14.9 mil-

lion to EUR 3.2 million as at the balance sheet date (previous 

year: EUR 18.1 million). It should be noted here that cash and 

cash equivalents in the previous year were influenced by 

the cash inflow from interim financing immediately before 

the end of the year. This interim financing was repaid at the 

same time as the cash inflow from the sale of the Digital 

Assistance division.
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The company’s liquidity situation improved in the 2023 

financial year, but has not yet fully normalized. In the course 

of the 2023 financial year, there was still limited willingness 

on the part of lenders and equity providers to make addi-

tional funds available to the company. However, deferral 

agreements and extended payment terms were success-

fully reached with suppliers. In this context, reference is also 

made to the further explanations in the section “Going con-

cern risks”.

Earnings position of the paragon Group

In the 2023 financial year, the paragon Group generated 

revenue from continuing operations of € 161.6 million (pre-

vious year: € 160.7 million). Overall, Group revenue increased 

slightly by 0.6% compared to the 2022 financial year. Please 

refer to the relevant passages in the “Group business perfor-

mance” section.

Other operating income increased to 12.1 million euros 

(previous year: 4.6 million euros). This increase is mainly 

due to the book profit of EUR 6.6 million from the sale of 

production facilities and intangible assets in connection 

with a cooperation with Clarios, the world’s leading supplier 

of starter batteries.

The amount of own work capitalized (2023: EUR 3.9 million; 

previous year: EUR 5.1 million) decreased. This change is due 

to increased customer reimbursements for development 

services which are deducted from the value of own work 

capitalized.

The cost of materials fell to 91.5 million euros (previous 

year: 94.6 million euros). The cost of materials ratio fell from 

58.9% in the previous year to 56.6% in the reporting year. 

This was due to the change in the product mix. 

Personnel expenses increased by 7.9% to EUR 44.2 million 

in the reporting year (previous year: EUR 41.0 million). With 

sales revenue remaining almost constant, the personnel 

expenses ratio rose to 27.4% (previous year: 25.5%). This is 

attributable to two effects. Firstly, a change in the product 

mix led to higher personnel expenses (and lower material 

expenses) and secondly, the wage and salary structure of 

employees was adjusted upwards due to the higher cost of 

living in 2023. 

Other operating expenses were reduced by 8.3% to EUR 22.7 

million (previous year: EUR 24.7 million). This reduction is 

also due to lower legal and consulting costs. In the previous 

year, EUR 1.4 million in consultancy costs for the extension 

of the EUR bond were recognized in expenses. 

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortiza-

tion (EBITDA) for continuing operations increased to EUR 17,7 

million (previous year: EUR 10.2 million), which corresponds 

to an EBITDA margin for continuing operations of 10.9 % 

(previous year: 6.4%). 

Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and 

equipment and intangible assets increased to € 16 .4 mil-

lion compared to the previous year (€ 14.3 million). Impair-

ment losses on fixed assets (previous year: EUR 0.3 million) 

amounted to EUR 0.2 million in the reporting year.

The financial result amounted to EUR -12.5 million and 

increased in particular due to the costs of interim financing 

of EUR 3.5 million to secure the repayment of the CHF bond 

in April 2023 (previous year: EUR -7.5 million). 

Taking into account income taxes of EUR 0.9 million (pre-

vious year: EUR 2.4 million), the result from continuing 

operations amounted to EUR -10.6 million (previous year: 

EUR -9.5 million).  The result from discontinued operations 

amounted to EUR 6.8 million (previous year: EUR 5.3 million). 

This results in a consolidated net loss of EUR - 3.8 million 

(previous year: EUR -4.2 million). The overall result for the 

2023 financial year is - 3.9 million euros (previous year: -3.5 

million euros).

The result from discontinued operations includes a decon-

solidation gain of € 5.7 million.  This results from the differ-

ence between the disposal proceeds of € 38.8 million and 

the net assets of the discontinued operation (paragon sem-

vox GmbH) of € 31.6 million less transaction costs incurred 

of € 1.3 million and taxes of € 0.2 million.

Overall statement on the net assets, financial position and 

results of operations of the paragon Group

The net assets, financial position and results of operations 

of the paragon Group in the past financial year were mainly 

characterized by 
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•  a significantly reduced balance sheet total due to the 

deconsolidation of paragon semvox GmbH

•  a reduction in bank and bond liabilities

•  constant sales compared to the previous year

•  a negative operating cash flow due to the repayment of 

tax liabilities from the previous year

•  slightly negative equity at Group level

The management estimates business development in the 

2023 reporting year 

•  for the Electronics segment as pleasing. Sales revenue 

and the EBITDA margin were maintained at a high level 

in this segment. 

•  for the Mechanics segment is not yet fully satisfactory. 

Although sales revenue increased, the earnings target 

has not yet been fully achieved. 

•  For the Group as a whole, the EBITDA achieved (taking 

into account the book profit from the sale to Clarios) 

was satisfactory. 

Opportunity and risk report

Unless stated otherwise, the information in the opportunity 

and risk report applies equally to the paragon Group and to 

paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA as the parent company.

Risks and opportunities are defined as possible future devel-

opments or events that could lead to a negative or positive 

deviation from the Group’s forecasts or targets. 

paragon has established and continuously developed a 

comprehensive risk management system to identify oppor-

tunities and risks. In regularly prepared risk reports from all 

divisions, the company management and the Supervisory 

Board are informed about the probability of occurrence and 

possible extent of damage of the risks. The risk reports con-

tain an assessment of the risks and proposals for appropri-

ate countermeasures. Please refer to the disclosures in the 

notes to the consolidated financial statements for informa-

tion on the risk management objectives and methods relat-

ing to the use of financial instruments.

Opportunities report

Opportunities

The market research institute S&P Global (IHS) expects 

global sales of passenger cars and light commercial vehicles 

to increase by 2.8% in 2024 compared to 2023. In light of the 

specific positioning of the paragon product portfolio in the 

premium segment, which is accompanied by a correspond-

ingly high share of these vehicles in the model penetration 

of paragon products, opportunities will arise for paragon in 

the Electronics and Mechanics business segments in 2024. 

The management has been pursuing the goal of increas-

ing the share of revenue per vehicle for years, for example 

by increasing the equipment rates for existing customers, 

acquiring new customers internationally for existing prod-

ucts and developing innovative products and systems with 

a higher share of the automotive value chain. 

The marketing of numerous new product developments in 

the four continuing operations will continue in 2024. Thanks 

to its strategic positioning, paragon will be able to benefit 

in future from changes in the automotive landscape trig-

gered by the megatrends of increased comfort and occu-

pant health protection, as well as the technological conse-

quences of the targeted CO2 reduction. paragon does not 

develop and manufacture products that are dependent 

on the combustion engine, but actually participates in the 

transformation towards locally emission-free mobility.

paragon considers the following opportunities to be 

significant:

•  The business model of independent development of 

product innovations can result in competitive advan-

tages for paragon in the Electronics and Mechanics seg-

ments due to the dynamic technological change sur-

rounding the megatrends.

•  The focus in the development of product innovations is 

increasingly shifting from the component level to the 

system level in the Electronics and Mechanics busi-

ness segments. This gives paragon the opportunity to 

increase the proportion of value added per vehicle.

•  The cooperation with Clarios, the world’s leading sup-

plier of low-voltage batteries, creates major sales 

potential for the paragon Group. Today, paragon pro-

duces state-of-the-art electronics for on-board lith-
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ium-ion batteries for a well-known motorcycle man-

ufacturer. The company is working on a new type of 

on-board power supply battery based on “flow-shape 

design” technology for a leading German mass manu-

facturer. The A and B sample phases have already been 

successfully completed. 

•  Through paragon Automotive Kunshan Co., Ltd., par-

agon is represented in China with its own local pro-

duction facility. The Chinese government’s current 

five-year plan (2021-2026) is based on strong growth 

in economic output in the coming years. At the same 

time, the issue of particulate emissions will remain a 

challenge in China’s densely populated regions and 

therefore for the country as a whole. For paragon, there 

is therefore particularly high sales potential in the  

Chinese automotive market in the medium term if  

Chinese car manufacturers can be won as new custom-

ers for the DUSTPROTECT particulate filter system with 

high equipment rates and sales figures. There are also 

further opportunities for the Kinematics division, as 

adaptive spoiler systems are gaining increasing recog-

nition in China as a means of increasing the range of 

electric vehicles. Significant orders have already been 

won in this area. Further orders in this area are expected.

paragon’s increased efforts in recent years to establish itself 

in the Chinese market are now showing clear success. This 

can be seen in particular in the acquisition of new custom-

ers and the resulting series start-ups. Opportunities are also 

arising for paragon from the increased efforts to establish 

partnerships with other Chinese automotive suppliers. In 

the future, this could result in projects to jointly develop the 

market. paragon believes it is well positioned for this.

•  The next phase of paragon’s business will benefit from 

the fact that, following the launch of activities in the 

Chinese market in 2015, business is now to be expanded 

to the American continent. The first steps were taken at 

the end of 2022 with a cooperation with an established 

sales company in Detroit (USA). An independent com-

pany, paragon Automotive LLC, has now been founded 

in the United States.

•  The growing product portfolio of the Kinematics divi-

sion makes a significant contribution to the safety and 

energy efficiency of vehicles. Opportunities also arise 

from successful development and application experi-

ence with kinematics products for vehicle interiors (e.g. 

rear seat folding table). As a result of the trend towards 

increasing comfort within vehicles, which is being pro-

moted in particular by the increasing shift of the driver’s 

tasks to electric assistance systems and is thus steadily 

leading to the further development of forms of autono-

mous driving, paragon’s experience in the interaction of 

mechanics and actuators may be in greater demand in 

the future.

Overall assessment of the opportunities

Through the regular and structured tracking of opportuni-

ties in the paragon Group and in the relevant sales markets 

as well as internal barrier-free communication at the var-

ious management levels, the company’s management is 

able to identify opportunities for the Group. At the end of 

the 2023 financial year, both external and internal oppor-

tunities were identified or confirmed that have a positive 

impact on the financial performance indicators forecast for 

the 2024 financial year.

Risk report

Risk management

As part of risk-oriented corporate management, paragon 

uses a comprehensive risk management system. 

In the paragon Group, risks are defined not only as activi-

ties, events and developments that jeopardize the existence 

of the company, but also as those that influence the suc-

cess of the business. Particular consideration is given to risk 

concentrations, e.g. dependencies on individual customers, 

suppliers, products or countries. In the case of material risks, 

mutual dependencies and influences are taken into account, 

as individual risks can reinforce each other or there may be 

offsetting effects between them. We understand business 

success to mean measurable parameters such as sales and 

EBITDA. In the reports of the respective process owners, the 

risks are therefore presented in these dimensions. The risk 

assessment is always based on the earnings risk. A risk is 

also the possibility that a threat could cause damage to an 

asset or the loss of an asset by exploiting a vulnerability and 

thus cause direct or indirect damage. The aim is to recognize 

and evaluate these risks in order to be able to select suitable 

and appropriate security measures on this basis.
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Strategic corporate management and risk management

The objective of risk management is to ensure the continued 

existence of the company, i.e. its future development and 

profitability, and to reduce the risks that result in a breach 

of the confidentiality, integrity and availability of the infor-

mation and data used or contained in the course of carry-

ing out activities. It is also the task of risk management to 

indicate deviations from the company’s objectives and thus 

any departure from the defined framework at an early stage 

in order to enable timely countermeasures to be taken. The 

risk policy guidelines for this are defined in the risk manual.

Group-wide responsibility for risk management lies with 

the Management Board. Risk management at the respective 

locations is adequately covered and ensured through regu-

lar (video) meetings with the respective senior managers. In 

this way, the Management Board is kept directly informed 

and the relevant risks are continuously monitored and 

managed by the Management Board. Work is also carried 

out to identify risk factors in risk areas where quantification 

is not possible or expedient.

Central risk management

Central risk management plays an important role in the risk 

management and control process. As part of its responsibil-

ity for the company’s risk situation, the Management Board 

delegates the task of carrying out ongoing risk management 

activities to Central Risk Management. Responsibility for 

central risk management lies with the Head of Controlling. 

Central risk management at paragon has the task of coordi-

nating all risk management functions of decentralized risk 

management, evaluating risk analyses and consolidating 

them into risk reporting as well as further developing the 

risk management system. Central risk management deter-

mines the reporting cycles and, together with the Manage-

ment Board, defines the threshold values for the risks above 

which a risk controlling report must be prepared outside of 

the mandatory reporting obligations. Both the thresholds 

and the reporting cycles are based on the relevance of the 

risks.

Central risk management supports the decentralized risk 

managers in preparing the risk analyses and checks their 

feedback and plausibility. It summarizes the individual risk 

reports in a joint document. This allows interactions between 

risks to be analyzed and the overall risk situation of the 

paragon Group to be recorded, evaluated and commented 

on. This summary is referred to as risk reporting. Particu-

lar importance is attached to this task, as the objective of 

an integrated risk management system is to take a holistic 

view of a company’s risk situation. Risk reporting serves as 

the basic information for the statements on the risk situa-

tion of the paragon Group in the management report.

Together with the decentralized risk managers, new risk 

management measures are developed or existing ones 

adapted.

Decentralized risk management 

Decentralized risk management in the paragon Group is 

located in the departments and locations. As decentral-

ized risk managers, the division and process managers are 

responsible for risk management in their respective areas of 

work. Decentralized risk management reports on the devel-

opment of risks in these areas as part of risk controlling. 

The decentralized risk managers must prepare an analysis 

of the risks for which they are responsible at each quar-

terly reporting cycle date. The focus here is on describing 

the expected development of the risk. Depending on this, 

measures for future risk management or the improvement 

of existing management measures must be developed and 

included in the controlling report as a proposal for imple-

mentation. The decision on implementation is the respon-

sibility of the Management Board. In addition, the Manage-

ment Board must be informed immediately throughout 

the year of any risks that occur (ad hoc risk reporting). For 

reasons of efficiency, regular meetings with the participa-

tion of all decentralized risk managers no longer take place. 

Instead, individual meetings are held with the decentralized 

risk managers.

Risk monitoring 

Risk monitoring is the task of decentralized and central risk 

management. For this purpose, early warning indicators are 

defined by the decentralized risk manager for the critical 

success factors. The task of central risk management is to 

monitor the defined early warning indicators. As soon as 

the defined thresholds are reached, risk reporting is pre-

pared by the decentralized risk manager, i.e. a forecast of 

the expected impact of the occurrence of a risk for paragon. 
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These forecasts are to be supplemented by scenario analy-

ses that take different data constellations into account. Risk 

monitoring thus serves as a kind of knowledge amplifier 

for management decisions, as it attempts to reduce uncer-

tainty regarding the future development of the company 

and the risk situation.

Based on this information and the measures proposed by 

the decentralized risk managers and central risk manage-

ment, the management decides whether and to what extent 

risk management measures should be taken or whether 

an adjustment to the company’s objectives is necessary. 

Decentralized risk management is responsible for tracking 

the early warning indicators, monitoring the associated 

threshold values and carrying out scenario analyses.

Risk reporting

The quarterly report to the Management Board contains all 

new risks recorded in the reporting period as well as risks 

whose changes compared to the previous month were 

greater than or equal to 50%. 

Relevance classes

€’000 

Classification in Euro

1  Insignificant risk - which cannot have a noticeable impact on either the annual result  

or the company value

up to 100,000

2  Intermediary risk - which can have a noticeable negative impact on the annual result up to 500,000 

3  Significant risk - which can have a significant impact on the annual result or  

lead to a noticeable reduction in the value of the company

up to 1,000,000 

4  Serious risk - which can have a significant impact on the annual result and considerably  

reduce the value of the company

up to 5,000,000 

5  Going concern risk - which may jeopardize the continued existence of the company  

with a significant probability

over 5,000,000 

For risks that show a change of 100% or more compared to 

the previous reporting period, there is an ad hoc reporting 

obligation to the Management Board by Central Risk Man-

agement and a reporting obligation of the Management 

Board to the Supervisory Board within 24 hours of becom-

ing aware of the risk.

The risks analyzed by paragon on an ongoing basis as part 

of risk monitoring can be assigned to the following risk 

groups, each of which is subdivided into individual risks:

• Going concern risks

• Strategic and political Risks

• Market risks

• Operational risks

• Transaction risks

• Financial risks

• Personnel risks

Dimensions of the risk assessment

As part of the quantification of the individual risks, the pos-

sible probability of occurrence and the possible amount of 

loss in euros are multiplicatively linked. The loss potential 

for each risk is determined from the two parameters. The 

amount of potential loss defines the classification into one 

of the five relevance classes:
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In the current reporting year, the company considers one 

financial risk to be a going concern risk both at the level of 

the individual financial statements and at Group level. This 

risk relates to the liquidity situation. For further details, 

please refer to the separate section “Going concern risks”. 

Risks

Going concern risks

In the previous year, the company assessed a financial risk 

as a going concern risk both at the level of the individual 

financial statements and at Group level. This risk related to 

the financing requirements due to the scheduled repay-

ment of the CHF bond, the purchase of the EUR bond and tax 

liabilities still existing and due from coronavirus times. The 

CHF bond was repaid as scheduled in April 2023. The nomi-

nal amount of the EUR bond was reduced. Furthermore, the 

company has been carrying out an on-exchange buyback 

program since November 2023 in accordance with the pro-

visions of the Market Abuse Regulation. The tax liabilities 

still due from coronavirus times were repaid up to EUR 0.5 

million. This remaining amount was paid to the tax office in 

March 2024. 

The company’s liquidity situation improved in the 2023 

financial year, but has not yet fully normalized. In the course 

of the 2023 financial year, there was still a limited willing-

ness on the part of lenders and equity providers to provide 

the company with additional funds. German banks in par-

ticular were generally reluctant to extend loans to medi-

um-sized automotive suppliers. However, deferral agree-

ments and extended payment terms were successfully 

reached with suppliers and service providers. 

The company assumes that a return to the original pay-

ment agreements with suppliers and service providers will 

take place in the course of the 2024 financial year, taking 

into account the planned sales and the forecast operating 

profitability, and that deferred liabilities will be repaid. If 

the planned level of sales and profitability is not achieved, 

it would not be possible to return to the original payment 

agreements. There would then be a risk that suppliers and 

service providers would no longer accept extended pay-

ment terms and deferrals. The solvency of paragon would 

be jeopardized.

At the same time, the company is working on optimizing 

inventories at all production plants.   On the other hand, the 

possibility of taking out new bank loans in the mid-single-

digit million range is an option that paragon’s management 

is still examining for feasibility.  

Overall, the management is convinced that the financing of 

the operating business and the repayment of deferred lia-

bilities to suppliers and service providers can be presented 

as planned and that the short and medium-term solvency 

of the company and the Group is therefore fully secured. The 

risk that the improvement in the liquidity situation cannot 

be realized as planned represents a material uncertainty 

with regard to solvency, which may cast significant doubt 

on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern and 

therefore represents a risk to the company’s ability to con-

tinue as a going concern. This statement applies equally to 

the paragon Group and to paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA as the 

parent company.

Strategic and political risks

Macroeconomic developments are monitored as part of the 

risk management system due to their potential influence 

on the demand behavior of consumers as end customers of 

the automotive industry. This could result in fundamental 

changes in supply and demand behavior on the procure-

ment and sales markets for paragon. For example, a longer-

term economic downturn, possibly triggered by economic 

policy measures in individual submarkets such as the USA 

or China, could have a negative impact on the company’s 

net assets, financial position and results of operations. In 

particular, a politically motivated departure from the rule-

based international trading system or its disruption through 

individual protectionist measures could lead to distortions 

in the global automotive value chain. The paragon Group’s 

presence with its own production sites in China and its spe-

cific customer/product structure could reduce this risk.

The future course of the coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2) and the 

associated COVID-19 diseases continue to pose a macroe-

conomic risk. The resulting measures to contain the virus 

and the pandemic have led to a slump in global economic 

growth within a very short space of time in 2020. Risks exist 

for the paragon Group depending on the further impact on 

the sales development of key customers, which could have 
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a direct impact on the earnings and liquidity situation. A 

renewed long-term interruption of operations at the sites 

- for example as a result of official measures - could lead 

to deviations in revenue planning due to reduced customer 

call-offs. 

Russia’s invasion of Ukraine over two years ago on Febru-

ary 24, 2022 poses a further risk that still cannot be conclu-

sively quantified at present. The progress of the war and the 

impact on both the industry in Germany and the European 

automotive industry remain unclear. 

Although we cannot conclusively assess the impact of these 

strategic and political risks on paragon, it cannot be ruled 

out that they may represent a serious risk in their entirety.

Market risks

For years, paragon has enjoyed a strong market position 

as an established and innovative direct supplier to German 

premium manufacturers in the automotive industry. The 

market research institute S&P Global (IHS) expects global 

production of passenger cars and light commercial vehicles 

to increase by 2.8% in the 2024 financial year. 

Supply chains

The dynamics of the automotive market for challenges in 

the supply chain have become clear in recent years. The 

shortage of semiconductors needed to manufacture vehi-

cles has had consequences for OEMs. A change in the stra-

tegic orientation of chip manufacturers in the wake of the 

coronavirus pandemic meant that a lack of components led 

to production cutbacks and delays in deliveries. Russia’s war 

of aggression against Ukraine has put considerable pressure 

on the supply chains for other necessary components. This 

production risk for our customers is exacerbated by just-in-

time and just-in-sequence deliveries - sometimes coupled 

with a single source strategy. In the event of production 

stoppages or cutbacks, suppliers such as paragon could also 

be confronted with a reduction in call-off orders from cus-

tomers, which could have an impact on sales and earnings. 

However, the management is convinced that the conse-

quences for paragon can be mitigated, as the company is in 

close consultation with customers and suppliers regarding 

changes in call-off planning, among other things, in order 

to ensure the best possible protection. We classify this risk 

as a medium risk.

Customer concentration

Close ties to German premium manufacturers and a focus 

on specific market niches characterize paragon’s strategic 

positioning. Sales opportunities and risks are assessed using 

a comprehensive operational sales controlling system. 

Fixed components of this system are the analysis of mar-

ket and competitive data, rolling planning for the short and 

medium term and regular coordination meetings between 

sales, production and development. The comparatively 

broad portfolio of different products for a variety of vehi-

cle platforms from a large number of customers documents 

the high degree of independence from individual product 

groups and customers. With the three largest customer 

groups, paragon generated 55.5%, 14.1% and 12.1% of reve-

nue in the 2023 financial year. The loss of a major customer 

could have an impact on the net assets, financial position 

and results of operations in the medium term. However, due 

to the multi-year contract terms for the individual vehicle 

series (and the heterogeneous organization of customers 

into legally independent brands), the loss of a key customer 

would be announced at an early stage. paragon counters 

this risk through comprehensive development work on 

product innovations and detailed ongoing order backlog 

analyses as part of early risk identification. We classify this 

risk as a significant risk .

Capitalized development costs

paragon’s innovation process is characterized by independ-

ent product development that takes into account the inter-

ests and wishes of vehicle occupants as end customers. This 

means that, unlike many automotive suppliers, paragon 

does not simply wait for requests and corresponding speci-

fications from car manufacturers, but develops its own inno-

vative solutions, which are implemented together with pilot 

customers and then offered to a broader customer base. As 

a large proportion of automotive innovations are increas-

ingly being made in the field of electronics, there are many 

market opportunities for paragon in this business segment. 

However, it cannot be ruled out that a product development 

will not achieve the expected number of units or will not 

find a market, or that commercial success will be lower or 

later than originally planned. In view of the high proportion 

of capitalized development costs in the balance sheet due 

to IFRS accounting standards, a corresponding impairment 

of intangible assets could have a negative impact on the 

company’s net assets, financial position and results of oper-

ations. We classify this risk as a medium risk.
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Goodwill

No impairment of goodwill was necessary in the current 

financial year. In particular, a deterioration in the business 

prospects of the subsidiary paragon movasys GmbH could 

lead to an impairment requirement. We classify this risk as 

a medium risk.

Operational risks

Technological development

The market for automotive electrics, electronics and mecha-

tronics is subject to increasingly dynamic technological 

change. The future economic success of paragon will there-

fore depend on its ability to develop new, innovative prod-

ucts for and together with customers in good time and to 

launch them successfully on the market. The prerequisite 

for this is that new technological developments and trends 

are recognized in good time and that we respond to them 

and implement solutions together with our customers. If 

paragon is unable to identify and implement new trends, 

customer requirements or technological developments in 

good time or at all in the future and develop new products 

and further develop or adapt existing products in accord-

ance with business principles, this may have a negative 

impact on the company’s net assets, financial position and 

results of operations. In close cooperation with the develop-

ment departments of key customers, paragon contributes 

to automotive product innovations with a wide range of 

development projects and innovative solutions. Significant 

deviations from project targets in terms of time and money 

can result in cost and legal risks (e.g. contractual penalties). 

Ongoing development and project controlling is intended to 

limit the associated risks. We classify this risk as a medium 

risk.

Information technology

The increasing penetration of information technology (IT) 

and its networking of the Group’s entire value chain har-

bours a multitude of opportunities as well as risks, such 

as system failures or unauthorized external access (cyber 

attacks) to the company’s data and information. In cooper-

ation with specialized service partners, paragon has imple-

mented established security solutions to avert potential 

threats to the IT infrastructure and mission-critical data. We 

classify this risk as a medium risk.

Transaction risks

In the group of transaction risks, paragon summarizes all 

risks associated with the purchase and sale of companies 

or parts of companies. In this context, delays in negotia-

tions or in the actual implementation of the transaction 

could result in risks such as the excessive use of manage-

ment resources and downstream management levels or the 

unforeseen increase in costs associated with the transac-

tion. Furthermore, a significant deviation from the originally 

intended sales proceeds could lead to a negative impact on 

earnings. In order to minimize the risks associated with the 

transaction, paragon is seeking professional support from 

renowned investment banks and experienced external con-

sultants as part of the marketing process. We currently clas-

sify this risk as insignificant.
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Financial risks

In the group of financial risks, paragon monitors interest 

rate, currency and liquidity risks as well as risks from bad 

debts, balance sheet risks and tax risks. 

Interest rate change

Interest rate risks are virtually insignificant for paragon, as 

fixed interest rates are currently agreed for the majority 

of non-current liabilities. paragon currently classifies the 

interest rate risk as an insignificant risk

Exchange rate fluctuations

In procurement, paragon takes advantage of global price 

competition on all relevant markets and secures a signif-

icant portion of procurement prices through framework 

agreements, annual agreements and long-term supplier 

relationships. The Group continues to source the majority 

of its purchasing value from European contractual partners, 

with the remainder being purchased directly in Asia and the 

USA. The euro is the predominant purchasing currency, with 

only a small proportion invoiced in US dollars in the report-

ing year. Currency risks arise primarily for purchases in US 

dollars that are destined for the European currency area. 

These risks are minimized through price escalation clauses 

and other suitable measures. The company monitors 

potential currency risks on the procurement and sales side 

using continuously reviewed exchange rate expectations. 

paragon does not use any financial instruments to hedge 

currency risks on the procurement and sales side. The com-

pany continues to classify the risk as a medium risk.

Liquidity

The company ensures its solvency through comprehensive 

liquidity planning and control. These plans are prepared on 

a short, medium and long-term basis. In addition, paragon 

has a consistent accounts receivable management system 

to ensure a prompt inflow of funds. A significant proportion 

of receivables is also covered by trade credit insurance. 

The company’s liquidity situation improved in the 2023 

financial year, but has not yet fully normalized. In the course 

of the 2023 financial year, there was still limited willingness 

on the part of lenders and equity providers to provide addi-

tional funds for the company’s further growth. However, 

extended payment terms were successfully agreed with 

suppliers. The company expects to return to the original 

payment agreements with suppliers and repay deferred 

liabilities in the course of the 2024 financial year, taking 

into account the planned revenue and forecast operating 

profitability. 

We also refer to the comments in the separate section 

“Going concern risks”.

Personnel risks

The company is fundamentally dependent on the recruit-

ment and long-term retention of qualified personnel and 

individuals in key positions. The future economic success of 

paragon depends to a considerable extent on the continued 

involvement of its managers, executives and employees in 

key positions. This applies in particular to its founder and 

Managing Director Klaus Dieter Frers, who is the driving force 

behind the company and an important source of ideas. In 

addition, paragon is also dependent on qualified employees 

in the areas of management, research and development and 

sales. The company cannot guarantee that it will be able to 

retain its managers, executives and employees in key posi-

tions in the future or that it will be able to recruit new man-

agers and employees with the appropriate qualifications. 

There is increasing competition for such qualified employ-

ees and the personnel market, particularly in regions out-

side German conurbations, is comparatively small, meaning 

that individual experts would be difficult or impossible to 

replace. If paragon does not have sufficient qualified per-

sonnel available in the future, the company’s strategic and 

economic objectives may not be achieved or may only be 

achieved at a later date, which could have a negative impact 

on the company’s net assets, financial position and results 

of operations. paragon continues to classify the personnel 

risk as a medium risk.

Overall assessment of the risk situation

The company’s risk management was further adapted to 

the dynamic development of the paragon Group in the past 

year. The management currently assumes that the ongo-

ing Group-wide monitoring of operating risks will become 

increasingly important as business activities expand.

Against the backdrop of the ambitious growth strategy, 

paragon’s overall economic development remains linked 

to the economic development of the automotive indus-
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try and, in particular, its key customers. A differentiated 

look at the development of the automotive industry shows 

that the company is positioned in forward-looking market 

segments and submarkets, maintains promising customer 

relationships and has a number of products, some of which 

are only offered on the market by paragon. 90% of revenue 

in 2023 was generated as a single source, i.e. paragon was 

the sole supplier for the corresponding product.

paragon will continue to hedge against general market 

risks in the automotive industry in the future. Market risk 

represents a significant individual risk for paragon. In the 

reporting year, paragon continued to realize a high propor-

tion of revenue with the three most important customers 

in accordance with IFRS 8.34. The strategic positioning as 

a direct supplier to German premium manufacturers with 

long-standing, successful business relationships with these 

companies should further mitigate the risk. However, it can 

be assumed that car manufacturers will pass on the contin-

uously increasing cost pressure resulting from the transfor-

mation process in terms of technologies and business mod-

els to suppliers. However, the existing customer contacts 

offer considerable opportunities to place new product inno-

vations. The increasing diversification of the Group’s product 

portfolio should help to further reduce market risks.

With regard to the supply chains - in particular semicon-

ductors and other primary materials - there may still be 

restrictions in our customers’ automotive production. The 

potential further impact of the war in Ukraine on energy 

prices and the availability of materials cannot be meaning-

fully assessed at present.

Overall, the management is convinced that the company’s 

financing can be provided as planned and that the short and 

medium-term solvency of the company and the Group is 

therefore fully secured. If this cannot be realized as planned, 

the continued existence of the company would be at risk. 

We refer to the further explanations in the section “Risks to 

the company’s continued existence”.

There are inherent limitations to the effectiveness of any 

internal control and risk management system. No system 

can guarantee that all actual risks have been identified at 

an early stage and that all violations or errors in the inter-

nal processes have been ruled out, even if the system has 

been assessed as appropriate and effective. In this sense, 

paragon’s internal control and risk management system 

described above cannot offer absolute certainty.

Description of the main features of 
the internal control and risk man-
agement system with regard to the 
Group accounting process (Section 
315 (4) HGB)

The paragon Group is characterized by a clear and man-

ageable corporate structure. In addition to paragon GmbH & 

Co. KGaA, the scope of consolidation comprises only a small 

number of companies that are included in the consolidated 

financial statements in accordance with the rules of full 

consolidation. As the internal control and risk management 

system is not defined by law, paragon follows the defini-

tion of the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer in Deutschland e.V. 

(Institute of Public Auditors in Germany), Düsseldorf, on the 

accounting-related internal control system (IDW PS 261). 

An internal control system is understood to be the princi-

ples, procedures and measures introduced by management 

in the company that are aimed at the organizational imple-

mentation of management decisions. The following objec-

tives are pursued:

a)  Ensuring the effectiveness and efficiency of business 

activities (incl. protection of assets, including the pre-

vention and detection of asset misappropriation),

b)  the regularity and reliability of internal and external 

accounting, and

c)  Compliance with the legal and statutory regulations 

applicable to the company.

The Group’s risk management system comprises the 

entirety of all organizational regulations and measures for 

identifying risks and dealing with the risks of entrepreneur-

ial activity. 

The Management Board of paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA bears 

overall responsibility for the internal control and risk man-

agement system with regard to the accounting process. 

The principles, procedural instructions, the structural and 
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procedural organization and the processes of the account-

ing-related internal control and risk management system 

are set out in organizational instructions, which are adapted 

to current external and internal developments at regular 

intervals. 

In view of the size and complexity of the accounting pro-

cess, management has determined the scope and design 

of the control activities and implemented them in this 

process. In addition, process-independent controls have 

been established. The control activities address those con-

trol risks which, in terms of their probability of occurrence 

and their impact, could have a significant influence on the 

accounting and the overall statement of the consolidated 

financial statements, including the combined management 

report. The main principles, procedures, measures and con-

trol activities include

•  Identification of material control risks relevant to the 

Group accounting process

•  Process-independent controls for monitoring the 

Group accounting process and its results at the man-

agement level of paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA

Control activities in the finance department of para-

gon GmbH & Co. KGaA that provide key information for 

the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, 

including the combined management report

Risk reporting in relation to the use 
of financial instruments (Section 
315 (2) no. 1 HGB)

The paragon Group is exposed to the following risks from 

the use of financial instruments: 

Interest rate risks are virtually insignificant for paragon, as 

fixed interest rates are currently agreed for the majority of 

non-current liabilities.

The company ensures its solvency through comprehensive 

liquidity planning and control. These plans are prepared on 

a short, medium and long-term basis. In addition, paragon 

has a consistent accounts receivable management system 

to ensure a prompt inflow of funds. A significant proportion 

of receivables is also covered by trade credit insurance. An 

additional option for short-term financing is available in 

the form of factoring agreements.

The company monitors potential currency risks on the 

procurement and sales side using continuously reviewed 

exchange rate expectations. The individual risks are 

explained in the risk report “Financial risks”. 

Forecast report

The expected development of the paragon Group is 

described in the following sections. Risks and opportunities 

that could result in a deviation from the forecast develop-

ments are presented in the opportunity and risk report. 

Market development 2024

The International Monetary Fund (IMF) expects global eco-

nomic output to continue to grow by 3.1% in 2024 and by 

3.2% in 2025. However, the forecast for 2024-25 is below the 

historical (2000-19) average of 3.8%, as both the central 

banks’ increased key interest rates to combat inflation and 

the withdrawal of fiscal support in view of the high level of 

debt are weighing on economic activity and the underlying 

productivity growth is low. New commodity price spikes due 

to geopolitical shocks - including ongoing attacks in the 

Red Sea - and supply disruptions or more persistent under-

lying inflation could weigh on the economy going forward. 

A worsening of the problems in the real estate sector in 

China could also lead to reduced growth.

With regard to the automotive industry, we expect - in line 

with the market research institute S&P Global (IHS) - that 

the global passenger car market will grow slightly in 2024. 

The following assumptions are considered material for the 

derivation of the paragon Group’s forecast:

•  Increase in production figures within the global auto-

motive industry and stable, positive development of 

paragon’s core markets (Europe and China). 

•  Continued robustness of the premium segment in 

the face of economic influences on the automotive 

industry.
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•  No significant restrictions on the availability of primary 

products and semiconductors.

•  Maintaining production while the risk of renewed 

restrictions on public life due to Covid 19 remains latent.

paragon Group

The Group’s corporate planning is based on detailed sales 

and revenue planning and is broken down to product level 

on a customer-specific basis. The main cost components 

are planned for a period of several years using individual 

planning models and then extrapolated in line with sales 

development. 

Significant parameters such as price changes in purchasing 

or sales as well as possible cost increases in the area of per-

sonnel or changes to the tax base are integrated into the 

planning. The continuously updated risk management sys-

tem allows the company to identify risks at an early stage 

and, if necessary, take appropriate countermeasures. 

The management’s forecast is based on the solid order sit-

uation for 2024 and the known sales expectations of auto-

motive customers according to S&P Global (IHS) and their 

existing call-off orders for paragon products for the first 

half of 2024. paragon’s management therefore expects the 

Group to generate revenue of EUR 160 to 165 million and 

EBITDA of between EUR 18 and 20 million in the 2024 finan-

cial year. 

A key driver of sales will be the strong demand for air qual-

ity sensors in the Sensors division and display instruments 

in the Interior division. These products are being installed in 

more and more model series and air quality sensors have 

recently attracted increased attention from manufactur-

ers due to the intense social debate surrounding particu-

late matter levels in city centers. The company continues 

to see the expansion of activities in the Sensors and Kin-

ematics division in the Chinese market as a further driver. 

In the 2024 financial year, sales revenue in China will also 

continue to rise due to the start of further kinematics and 

sensor series orders.  

Development of the key performance indicators:

€’000 or as stated

2023 2022 Change

 in %

Forecast 2024

Financial performance indicators

Group sales
161.647 160.677 0,6%

160 to 165 
million

EBITDA continuing and discontinued operations
25. 234 14.948 68,8%

18 to 20 
million

This combined management report contains disclosures 

and forecasts relating to the future development of the 

companies in the paragon Group. These forecasts repre-

sent estimates that the management has made on the 

basis of the information available at the present time. If the 

assumptions on which the forecasts are based prove to be 

incorrect or risks, such as those mentioned in the risk report, 

materialize, actual results may differ from current expec-

tations. The management assumes no obligation to update 

the statements contained in this combined management 

report outside of the statutory disclosure requirements.
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Takeover-related disclosures in 
accordance with Sections 289a (1) 
and 315a (1) HGB 

Composition of the subscribed capital

The subscribed capital (share capital) of paragon GmbH & 

Co. KGaA amounts to EUR 4,526,266.00 and is divided into 

4,526,266 ordinary bearer shares with no par value (no-par 

value shares), each representing EUR 1.00 of the share 

capital. All shares are entitled to a share in profits. Each 

share entitles the holder to one vote at the Annual General 

Meeting.

Share voting or transfer restrictions 

The management is not aware of any restrictions relating to 

voting rights or the transfer of shares.

Shareholdings exceeding 10% of the voting rights

•  According to the voting rights notification dated 

5.10.2023, Mr. Ralf Haller’s total share of voting rights 

was reduced from 29.94% to 0.0% as of 29.09.2023. The 

attribution was based on the indirect shareholding in 

ElectricBrands AG in accordance with Section 34 para. 1 

sentence 1 no. 1 WpHG. 

•  According to the voting rights notification dated Octo-

ber 5, 2023, Mr. Klaus Dieter Frers’ total share of voting 

rights increased from 20.06% to 50.0% as of Septem-

ber 29, 2023. Mr. Klaus Dieter Frers also informed the 

company that, in a decision dated 11 October 2023, the 

German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin) 

exempted him from the obligation to publish the acqui-

sition of control of paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA, based in 

Delbrück, in accordance with section 37(1)(4) WpÜG and 

in accordance with section 35(2)(1) in conjunction with 

section 14(2)(1) WpÜG. § Section 14 para. 2 sentence 1 

WpÜG to publish a mandatory offer. 

•  In a voting rights notification dated 28.12.2023, the 

company was informed that Frers Family Office GmbH 

holds 50.0% of the voting rights. Mr. Klaus Dieter Frers 

controls Frers Family Office GmbH. 

Shares with special rights that confer powers of control

There are no shares with special rights that confer powers 

of control.

Type of voting right control if employees hold an interest 

in the capital

Insofar as employees participate in the limited partnership 

capital (share capital) as shareholders, they cannot derive 

any special rights from this.

Appointment and dismissal of members of the Manage-

ment Board and amendment of the Articles of Association

The management of paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA is the 

responsibility of paragon GmbH as the general partner. 

With this capitalist structure of the KGaA, the management 

bodies of the general partner thus effectively manage the 

business of the KGaA. The relevant provisions of the German 

Stock Corporation Act for the Management Board apply 

mutatis mutandis to the management. 

Unlike the Management Board of an AG, however, the per-

sonally liable partner is a “born” management body, i.e. he is 

authorized to manage the business and represent the com-

pany on a permanent basis and not for a specific period of 

time. He is not appointed by the Supervisory Board or the 

Annual General Meeting, but by the articles of association. 

For this reason, it cannot be dismissed by the Supervisory 

Board or the Annual General Meeting. 

With regard to the regulations on amending the Articles of 

Association, reference is made to Section 278 para. 3 AktG 

in conjunction with Section 179 para. § Section 179 para. 2 

sentence 2 AktG.

Powers of the management to issue shares

By resolution of the Annual General Meeting on 31 August 

2021, the general partner is authorized, with the approval of 

the Supervisory Board, to increase the company’s share cap-

ital on one or more occasions up to and including 30 August 

2026 by up to a total of EUR 2,263,133.00 against cash and/

or non-cash contributions by issuing up to 2,263,133 new 

ordinary bearer shares with no par value (no-par value 

shares) (Authorized Capital 2021/I). 
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Shareholders must generally be granted subscription rights. 

The statutory subscription right can also be granted in 

such a way that the new shares are taken over by a bank-

ing syndicate with the obligation to offer them indirectly to 

the shareholders for subscription in accordance with Sec-

tion 186 (5) AktG. However, the general partner is author-

ized, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to exclude 

shareholders’ statutory subscription rights in defined cases. 

By resolution of the Annual General Meeting on August 31, 

2021, the general partner is authorized, with the approval 

of the Supervisory Board, to issue bearer or registered con-

vertible bonds or bonds with warrants or a combination 

of these instruments on one or more occasions up to and 

including August 30, 2026 in a total nominal amount of 

EUR 150,000,000.00 with a maximum term of ten years 

and to grant the holders or creditors of convertible bonds 

or bonds with warrants conversion or option rights of up to 

EUR 2,263,133,000.00.000,000.00 with a maximum term of 

ten years and to grant the holders or creditors of convertible 

bonds or bonds with warrants conversion or option rights to 

up to 2,263,133 new ordinary bearer shares in the company 

(Contingent Capital 2021/I). 

The bonds can be issued against cash contributions, but also 

against contributions in kind, in particular investments in 

other companies. In the case of bonds with warrants, they 

may also be issued against non-cash contributions if the 

terms and conditions of the warrants provide for the option 

price per share in the company to be paid in full in cash 

upon exercise. 

Change of control and compensation agreements

In accordance with Article 6 No. 3 of the company’s Articles 

of Association in the version dated June 30, 2023, additional 

general partners with or without management and/or rep-

resentation powers may be admitted to the company. The 

admission requires the consent of the general partner and 

the approval of the Annual General Meeting. The provisions 

of the company’s Articles of Association regarding the gen-

eral partner apply accordingly to newly admitted general 

partners. 

Pursuant to Section 6 No. 4 of the company’s Articles of 

Association in the version dated June 30, 2023, the general 

partner shall withdraw from the company if someone other 

than Brigitte Frers or a person related to Klaus Dieter Frers in 

a direct line (Section 1589 (1) sentence 1 BGB) becomes the 

legal or beneficial owner of the majority of voting rights in 

the general partner and no takeover or mandatory offer is 

made within three months of the acquisition taking effect 

in accordance with the provisions of the German Securities 

Acquisition and Takeover Act. 1 BGB) becomes the legal or 

beneficial owner of the majority of voting rights in the gen-

eral partner and does not submit a takeover or mandatory 

offer to the company’s shareholders in accordance with the 

provisions of the German Securities Acquisition and Takeo-

ver Act (WpÜG) within three months of the acquisition tak-

ing effect. 

If the general partner withdraws from the company without 

a new general partner being admitted at the same time, the 

company shall be continued by the limited liability share-

holders alone on a transitional basis in accordance with Sec-

tion 6 No. 5 of the company’s Articles of Association. In this 

case, the Supervisory Board must immediately apply for the 

appointment of an emergency representative to represent 

the company until a new general partner is admitted.

Annual financial statements of 
paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA
 

Business performance of paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA 

For the individual company paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA, rev-

enue and EBITDA are also considered financial performance 

indicators. From 2023, paragon has switched to using an 

absolute EBITDA amount as the key profitability indicator 

rather than an EBITDA margin.

paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA had published the following 

forecast for the 2023 financial year: 

• 120 million euros in sales,

• 12 million euros EBITDA

The business performance of paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA 

(HGB annual financial statements) in the 2023 reporting 

year was characterized by reduced revenue as a result of 

the scheduled discontinuation of an air quality product for a 

vehicle model in the third quarter of 2023. In total, sales rev-
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enue of EUR 110.6 million was generated (previous year: EUR 

117.0 million). The sales forecast was therefore not achieved. 

This deviation is due to a reduction in the car manufactur-

ers’ production figures compared to budget planning. Com-

pared to previous years and expectations, this was due to 

extended plant vacations by car manufacturers in the sum-

mer and at the turn of the year.

The sale of paragon semvox GmbH and the transfer of part 

of the Power division to Clarios led to positive earnings con-

tributions. In this context, please refer to the comments on 

the Group’s business performance. This also enabled EBITDA 

of EUR 25.7 million to be achieved in the 2023 financial year. 

The EBITDA forecast was clearly exceeded.

Financial position of paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA

The total assets of paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA in the HGB 

single-entity financial statements were significantly lower 

than in the previous year at EUR 105.2 million (previous 

year: EUR 152.1 million). 

Fixed assets fell by 30.2 million euros to 62.5 million euros 

(previous year: 92.7 million euros). The main reason for this 

decline is the sale of the investment in paragon semvox 

GmbH and the sale of fixed assets to the battery manufac-

turer Clarios.

Receivables and other assets remained constant at EUR 39.8 

million (previous year: EUR 39.6 million). 

Cash and cash equivalents amounted to € 2.1 million as at 

the reporting date (previous year: € 17.8 million). The reduc-

tion in cash and cash equivalents results from the repay-

ment of the loan that was granted to paragon as interim 

financing - to repay bond liabilities in April 2023 - immedi-

ately before the previous year’s reporting date.

Equity increased from EUR 4.2 million to EUR 8.4 million due 

to the positive net profit in the reporting year .

Provisions at paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA amounted to EUR 7.3 

million as at the balance sheet date (previous year: EUR 5.1 

million). Liabilities decreased to EUR 89.5 million (previous 

year: EUR 142.1 million). This is mainly due to the repay-

ment of interim financing in the amount of EUR 22.5 million, 

the repayment of the CHF bond and partial repayment of 

the EUR bond, as well as the payment of tax liabilities. 

 

Financial position of paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA

The development of the annual result (net profit € 4.2 mil-

lion in the reporting year compared to a net loss of € 8.8 

million in the previous year) is mainly due to the sale of the 

investment in paragon semvox GmbH and the partial sale of 

the Power division. The recognized write-downs and write-

ups on investments had a negative impact on . The total of 

write-downs and write-ups on investments amounted to € 

6.6 million in the reporting year compared to € 3.1 million 

in the previous year.

The scheduled repayment of bank loans and repayment of 

interim financing led to a negative cash flow from financing 

activities. 

Cash and cash equivalents fell to EUR 2.1 million as at the 

balance sheet date (previous year: EUR 17.8 million). In 

the previous year, this was heavily influenced by interim 

financing for the repayment of bond liabilities. 

Earnings position of paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA

The revenue of paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA in the HGB annual 

financial statements amounted to € 110.6 million in the 

reporting year, a decrease of € 6.4 million compared to 

the previous year (previous year: € 117.0 million). This was 

mainly due to the scheduled discontinuation of an air qual-

ity product in the third quarter of 2023. This reduction in 

sales was only partially offset by higher sales in the Power 

segment.

In the financial year, internally generated intangible assets 

were capitalized via own work capitalized in the amount of 

EUR 2.9 million (previous year: EUR 3.5 million). This reduc-

tion is due to increased customer reimbursements for 

development services which is deducted from the own work 

capitalized

Other operating income in the reporting year mainly 

includes the capital gain from the sale of the subsidiary 

paragon semvox GmbH amounting to EUR 16.0 million. Fur-

thermore, the book profit from the sale of a part of the Power 
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division of EUR 6.6 million is recognized here. This item also 

includes income from the repurchase of own bonds as well 

as income from the reversal of impairment losses and from 

the use of vehicles by employees.  

At 76.0% (previous year: 71.0%), the cost of materials ratio 

increased compared to the previous year due to a change 

in the product mix. Personnel expenses increased to EUR 

15.3 million (previous year: EUR 13.4 million). The increase 

in personnel expenses is mainly due to a general increase in 

wages and salaries in 2023 as a result of the rise in the cost 

of living. 

Other operating expenses amounted to EUR 14.9 million 

in the reporting year (previous year: EUR 19.5 million); the 

reduction is mainly due to a book loss from the sale of fixed 

assets and reduced legal and consulting costs reported in 

the previous year. The main expenses in the reporting year 

were for additions to valuation allowance, rent and leasing, 

damages, IT expenses and the remuneration of the general 

partner. 

The profit transfer results from the profit transferred from 

paragon electronic GmbH in the amount of EUR 2.8 million 

(previous year: EUR 2.2 million). In the reporting year, non-

cash reversals of write-downs on financial assets in the 

amount of EUR 0.9 million (previous year: EUR 0.0 million) 

and write-downs on financial assets in the amount of EUR 

7.5 million (previous year: EUR 3.1 million) were incurred. 

They relate to adjustments to the carrying amounts of the 

investments in the subsidiaries paragon movasys, paragon 

Kunshan and paragon Shanghai. 

Taking into account income taxes and other taxes, paragon 

GmbH & Co. KGaA thus reported a net profit of € 4.2 million 

in the reporting year (previous year: net loss of € 8.8 mil-

lion). EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation 

and amortization and write ups, result from profit transfer 

agreements) for paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA amounted to 

EUR 25.7 million in the reporting year (previous year: EUR 

8.5 million). The EBITDA margin amounted to 23.2% in the 

reporting year (previous year: 7.3%). This increase can be 

explained by the special effects from disposals described 

above. 

Overall statement on the net assets, financial position and 

results of operations of paragon GmbH & Co.

The development of the net assets, financial position and 

results of operations of paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA in the past 

fiscal year was strongly influenced by the sale of the invest-

ment in paragon semvox GmbH and the sale of part of the 

Power division. The Management Board considers business 

development in the 2023 reporting year to be encouraging.

Development of the key performance indicators

In the current financial year, the management expects a 

slight decline in revenue for paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA in 

the HGB annual financial statements due to the scheduled 

discontinuation of an air quality product in 2023. EBITDA will 

be lower in the 2024 financial year due to the special effects 

in 2023. 

Development of the key performance indicators:

€’000 or as stated

2023 2023 Change

 in %

Forecast 2024

Financial performance indicators

Turnover
110,588 116,965 -5.5%

90 million  
euros

EBITDA 
25,706 8,534 301.2%

7 million  
euros
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Declaration on Corporate Govern-
ance pursuant to Section 315d in 
conjunction with Section 289f (1) 
HGB and Declaration of Conformity 
of paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA with 
the German Corporate Governance 
Code 
 

The Management Board and Supervisory Board of the 

company are committed to the principles of transparent 

and responsible corporate management and control. They 

attach great importance to the standards of good corporate 

governance.  

 

The corporate governance declaration in accordance with 

Section 315d in conjunction with Section 289f (1) HGB can 

be viewed permanently on the paragon website at https://

ir.paragon.ag. It contains the declaration of compliance with 

the German Corporate Governance Code in accordance with 

Section 161 AktG, relevant information on corporate gov-

ernance practices and a description of the working meth-

ods of the Management Board and Supervisory Board and 

their composition, the targets set in accordance with Sec-

tion 76 (4) and Section 111 (5) AktG and information on their 

achievement as well as the company’s measures in connec-

tion with increasing diversity. 

The details of the remuneration of the members of the 

Executive Board and Supervisory Board are presented in the 

remuneration report in accordance with Section 162 AktG, 

which the Supervisory Board will discuss and pass a resolu-

tion on at its meeting on April 24, 2024. This report will sub-

sequently be published on the paragon website at https://

ir.paragon.ag. 

Delbrück, April 2024

paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA

The management of the personally 

liable shareholder, paragon GmbH

Klaus Dieter Frers   
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Consolidated Income Statement

€’000

Appendix Jan. 1–

Dec. 31, 2023 1
Jan. 1–

Dec. 31, 2022 2 

Sales 11 161,647 160,677

Other operating income 12 12,064 4,642

Increase or decrease in inventories  

of finished goods and work in progress  -1,492 118

Other own work capitalized 13 3,883 5,063

Overall performance  176,102 170,501

   

Cost of materials 14 -91,529 -94,590

Gross profit  84,571 75,911

  

Personnel expenses 15 -44,231 -40,983

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortization of intangible assets 16 -16,432 -14,279

Impairment of current assets  0 -22

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets -187 -318

Other operating expenses 17 -22,669 -24,718

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)  1,050 -4,408

   

Financial income 18 142 42

Financing expenses 18 -12,654 -7,585

Financial result  -12,513 -7,544

  

Earnings before taxes (EBT)  -11,463 -11,951

Income taxes 19 890 2,448

Result from continuing operations -10,571 -9,503

Result from discontinued operations 20 6,759 5,309

Group result  -3,812 -4,194

 

Earnings per share in € (basic and diluted) from continuing operations 21 -2,34 -2,10

Earnings per share in € (basic and diluted) from discontinued operations 1,49 1,17

Earnings per share in € (basic and diluted) from continuing and discontinued 

operations -0,84 -0,93

Average number of shares in circulation (basic and diluted) 4,526,266 4,526,266

1  paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA sold its shares in paragon semvox GmbH to CARIAD SE by notarized agreement dated December 1, 2022. The closing took 
place on May 12, 2023. As a result of the sale, paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA lost control over the subsidiaries. For this reason, paragon semvox GmbH is 
accounted for as a discontinued operation in accordance with IFRS 5.

2  Previous year’s figures adjusted. The adjustments are explained in Note 5.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 

Note: For arithmetical reasons, rounding differences of +/- one unit (€ thousands) may occur in tables.

€’000

Appendix Jan. 1–

Dec. 31, 2023 1
Jan. 1–

Dec. 31, 2022 2 

Group result -3,812 -4,194

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Actuarial gains and losses from continuing operations 29 43 698

Currency translation reserve from continuing operations -149 31

Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss

Currency translation reserve from discontinued operations 0 0

Overall result -3,918 -3,466
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Consolidated balance sheet 

€’000 Appendix Dec. 31, 20231 Dec. 31, 20222

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 22 33,711 37,360

Goodwill 23 5,745 5,745

Property, plant and equipment 24 26,719 30,830

Investments accounted for using the equity method  1,522 1,522

Shares in associated companies  120 121

Other non-current financial assets  456 468

68,274 76,046

Current assets

Inventories 25 20.641 24,008

Trade receivables 26 6,646 7,660

Other current financial assets 27 5,193 5,189

Other current non-financial assets 27 3,094 4,364

Contract assets 28 1.461 1,251

Cash and cash equivalents 29 3,209 18,106

Income tax assets  0 217

Assets classified as held for sale  0 35,771

 40,245 96,566

Total assets 108,520 172,612

1  paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA sold its shares in paragon semvox GmbH to CARIAD SE by notarized agreement dated December 1, 2022. The closing took 
place on May 12, 2023. As a result of the sale, paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA lost control over the subsidiaries. For this reason, paragon semvox GmbH is 
accounted for as a discontinued operation in accordance with IFRS 5.

2  Previous year’s figures adjusted. The adjustments are explained in Note 5.



  C O N S O L I D AT E D  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S  2 0 2 1  |  4 5

€’000 Appendix Jan. 1–

Dec. 31, 20231

Jan. 1–

Dec. 31, 20222 

L IABIL IT IES

Equity

Subscribed capital 30 4,526 4,526

Capital reserve 30 15,485 15,485

Revaluation reserve 30 64 21

Loss carryforward 30 -20,478 -16,284

Group result 30 -3,812 -4,194

Reserves from currency differences 30 132 281

 -4,084 -166

Non-current provisions and liabilities

Non-current lease liabilities 31 8,687 9,710

Long-term loans 32 6,001 7,313

Long-term bonds 33 24,825 45,000

Deferred taxes 19 292 1,211

Provisions for pensions 34 1,921 2,383

Other non-current financial liabilities 37 2,205 1,375

 43,930 66,993

Current provisions and liabilities

Current lease liabilities 31 2,958 4,379

Short-term loans and current portion of long-term loans 32 7,872 30,550

Liabilities from deliveries and services 24,374 24,950

Short-term bond 33 22,162 22,566

Other provisions 35 488 273

Income tax liabilities 36 614 288

Other current financial liabilities 37 2,632 1,629

Other current non-financial liabilities 38 7,574 15,924

Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale 0 5,226

 68,673 105,786

Total liabilities 108,520 172,612
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 

€’000

Appendix Jan. 1–

Dec. 31, 2023

Jan. 1–

Dec. 31, 2022 

Earnings before taxes (EBT) -3,812 -11,952

Group result  -3.812

Depreciation of fixed assets  16,432 14,278

Financial result  12,513 7,544

Profit (-), loss (+) from disposal of property, plant and equipment and financial assets  -12,899 2,213

Increase (+), decrease (-) in other provisions and pension provisions  -1,031 -1,597

Other non-cash expenses and income  -979 -1,828

Increase (-), decrease (+) in trade receivables, other receivables and other assets  537 -1,120

Devaluation of non-current assets (+)  0 318

Increase (-), decrease (+) in inventories  3.367 -1,238

Increase (+), decrease (-) in trade payables and other liabilities  -8.369 11,793

Interest paid  -11.921 -6,500

Income tax expense (+)/income (-) without deferred taxes  0 -437

Cash flow from operating activities (continuing) 44 -6.163 11,475

Cash flow from operating activities (discontinued)  n.a. 3,084

Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and equipment (+) 4,100 6,395

Payments for investments in property, plant and equipment (-) -1,717 -2,677

Payments for investments in intangible assets (-) -5,878 -5,048

Proceeds from the sale of consolidated companies and other business units (+) 37,538 0

Proceeds from the sale of intangible assets 4,100 1,500

Proceeds from the sale of securities held as fixed assets 0 416

Cash flow from investing activities (continued) 44 38,143 585

Cash flow from investing activities (discontinued) n.a. -4,460

Payments for the repayment of financial loans (-) -24.783 -7.267

Proceeds from the raising of financial loans (+) 2.340 21.638

Payments for the repayment of bonds (-) -19.949 -11.710

Payment for the repayment of liabilities from leases (-) -4.379 -748

Proceeds from the assumption of lease liabilities (+) 0 2.696

Payments for prolongation costs EUR bond (-) 0 -271

Change in OCI -106 727

Cash flow from financing activities (continued) 44 -46.878 5,064

Cash flow from financing activities (discontinued) n.a. 905

Cash-effective change in cash and cash equivalents (continued) -14,897 17,125

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period (continued) 18,106 981

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period (continued) 29 3,209 18,106
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Statement of Changes in Equity1 

€’000
Subscribed 

capital
Capital 
reserve

Revaluation 
reserve

Currency 
translation 

reserve
Loss 

carryforward Group result Total

Jan. 1, 2023 4,526 15,485 21 281 -16,284 -4,194 -166

Appropriation of 

earnings 0 0 0 0 -4,194 4,194 0

Group results 0 0 0 0 0 -3,812 -3,812

Actuarial gains and 

losses 0 0 43 0 0 0 43

Currency conversion 0 0 0 -149 0 0 -149

Total other compre-
hensive income 0 0 43 -149 0 0 -106

Overall result 0 0 43 -149 -4,194 382 -3,918

Dec. 31, 2023 4,526 15,485 64 132 -20,478 -3,812 -4,084

€’000
Gezeichnetes 

Kapital
Kapital- 
rücklage

Neu- 
bewertungs- 

rücklage

Rücklage  
aus der  

Währungs- 
umrech nung Verlustvortrag

Konzern-
ergebnis Gesamt

Jan. 1, 2022 4,526 15,485 -677 250 -10,323 -5,960 3,300

Appropriation of 

earnings 0 0 0 0 -5,960 5,960 0

Group results 0 0 0 0 0 -4,194 -4,194

Actuarial gains and 

losses 0 0 698 0 0 0 698

Currency conversion 0 0 0 31 0 0 31

Total other compre-
hensive income 0 0 698 31 0 0 728

Overall result 0 0 698 31 -5,960 1,766 -3,466

Dec. 31, 2022 4,526 15,485 21 281 -16,285 -4,194 -167

1  Previous year’s figures adjusted. The adjustments are explained in Note 5.

€’000

Appendix Jan. 1–

Dec. 31, 2023

Jan. 1–

Dec. 31, 2022 

Earnings before taxes (EBT) -3,812 -11,952

Group result  -3.812

Depreciation of fixed assets  16,432 14,278

Financial result  12,513 7,544

Profit (-), loss (+) from disposal of property, plant and equipment and financial assets  -12,899 2,213

Increase (+), decrease (-) in other provisions and pension provisions  -1,031 -1,597

Other non-cash expenses and income  -979 -1,828

Increase (-), decrease (+) in trade receivables, other receivables and other assets  537 -1,120

Devaluation of non-current assets (+)  0 318

Increase (-), decrease (+) in inventories  3.367 -1,238

Increase (+), decrease (-) in trade payables and other liabilities  -8.369 11,793

Interest paid  -11.921 -6,500

Income tax expense (+)/income (-) without deferred taxes  0 -437

Cash flow from operating activities (continuing) 44 -6.163 11,475

Cash flow from operating activities (discontinued)  n.a. 3,084

Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and equipment (+) 4,100 6,395

Payments for investments in property, plant and equipment (-) -1,717 -2,677

Payments for investments in intangible assets (-) -5,878 -5,048

Proceeds from the sale of consolidated companies and other business units (+) 37,538 0

Proceeds from the sale of intangible assets 4,100 1,500

Proceeds from the sale of securities held as fixed assets 0 416

Cash flow from investing activities (continued) 44 38,143 585

Cash flow from investing activities (discontinued) n.a. -4,460

Payments for the repayment of financial loans (-) -24.783 -7.267

Proceeds from the raising of financial loans (+) 2.340 21.638

Payments for the repayment of bonds (-) -19.949 -11.710

Payment for the repayment of liabilities from leases (-) -4.379 -748

Proceeds from the assumption of lease liabilities (+) 0 2.696

Payments for prolongation costs EUR bond (-) 0 -271

Change in OCI -106 727

Cash flow from financing activities (continued) 44 -46.878 5,064

Cash flow from financing activities (discontinued) n.a. 905

Cash-effective change in cash and cash equivalents (continued) -14,897 17,125

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period (continued) 18,106 981

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period (continued) 29 3,209 18,106

 



Notes to the Consolidated  
Financial Statements 2023

(1) General information

paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA, with its registered office at Bösendamm 11, 33129 Delbrück, Germany, is 

a partnership limited by shares established under German law. The shares of paragon GmbH & Co. 

KGaA have been traded on the regulated market, Prime Standard segment, of the Frankfurt Stock 

Exchange since 2000. paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA is entered in the commercial register of Paderborn 

Local Court (HRB 13491). The purpose of paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA (hereinafter also referred to as 

“paragon”, the “Company” or the “Group”) is research and development in the field of microelec-

tronics, the manufacture and sale of electronic devices, associated peripherals and corresponding 

assemblies, and the administration of patents, licenses and utility models. 

The Management Board of paragon GmbH, the general partner of paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA, 

approved the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2023 and the combined man-

agement report for the reporting period from January 1 to December 31, 2023 for submission to 

the Supervisory Board on April 24, 2024.

The consolidated financial statements and the combined management report for the reporting 

period from January 1 to December 31, 2023 of paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA will be submitted to the 

electronic Federal Gazette and will be available as part of the annual report on the company’s web-

site (https://www.paragon.ag/).

paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA sold its shares in paragon semvox GmbH to CARIAD SE by notarized 

agreement dated December 1, 2022. The closing took place in May 2023. As a result of the sale, 

paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA lost control over the subsidiary paragon semvox GmbH. For this reason, 

paragon semvox GmbH is accounted for as a discontinued operation in accordance with IFRS 5. In 

the paragon Group, it represented the Digital Assistance division. 

(2)  Application of the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS)

The consolidated financial statements of paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA as at December 31, 2023 were 

prepared in accordance with Section 315 e (1) HGB (consolidated financial statements in accordance 

with international accounting standards), the provisions of the International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) of the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), London, applicable on the 

reporting date and adopted by the European Union, and the interpretations of the International 

Financial Reporting Standards Interpretations Committee (IFRSIC).
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(3) Facts jeopardizing the existence of the company

 The financial statements for the reporting period from January 1 to December 31, 2023 were pre-

pared on a going concern basis. Accordingly, the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities were 

determined on the basis of going concern values.

At the time of preparation, there is significant uncertainty with regard to securing the continu-

ous financing of paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA and the paragon Group due to the company’s liquidity 

situation, which has not yet been fully normalized and which may cast significant doubt on the 

company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Details on this can be found in the risk report in 

the “Going concern risks” section of the combined management report.

(4) Events after the balance sheet date

The consolidated financial statements must be prepared on the basis of the circumstances pre-

vailing on the balance sheet date. In accordance with IAS 10.7, the value elimination period ends 

with the release of the consolidated financial statements for publication. The consolidated finan-

cial statements as at December 31, 2023 will be approved by the Management Board and passed 

on to the Supervisory Board for signature on April 24, 2024. No significant events have occurred up 

to this date. 

(5) Adjustment of prior periods

The published prior-year figures have been adjusted for the following items.

Transaction costs for bond prolongation

In the reporting year, there was an error correction in connection with the recognition of transac-

tion costs as part of the extension of the EUR bond in 2022. The EUR bond was extended by a further 

five years in March 2022. Transaction costs for consultants, lawyers and notaries were incurred as 

part of this prolongation. These costs were deducted from the acquisition costs of the bond in the 

published financial statements for 2022. As the extension led to a material change in the bond in 

accordance with IFRS 9 3.3.2, these costs must be recognized as an expense in accordance with 

IFRS 9 B3.3.6. The affected items in the previous year’s financial statements were adjusted. In the 

balance sheet, this led to a EUR 1,282 thousand increase in the carrying amount of the bond, a EUR 
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385 thousand reduction in deferred tax liabilities and a EUR 897 thousand reduction in equity. In 

the income statement, other operating expenses were increased by EUR 1,424 thousand, interest 

expenses were reduced by EUR 142 thousand and tax expenses were reduced by EUR 385 thousand.

Revenue recognition over time

In the reporting year, an error was corrected in connection with the recognition of revenue for 

period-related transactions. paragon reported finished goods produced on behalf of customers as 

inventories in the published financial statements as at 31 December 2022. In accordance with IFRS 

15 35c, however, there is a performance obligation in this regard that is fulfilled over a certain period 

of time. Revenue must therefore be recognized as at the reporting date. The relevant items in the 

previous year’s financial statements have been adjusted. A contract asset in the amount of EUR 

1,251 thousand was recognized in the balance sheet. At the same time, inventories were reduced 

by EUR 1,181 thousand. Equity was increased by EUR 71 thousand. In the income statement, sales 

revenue was increased by EUR 359 thousand and the change in inventories was reduced by EUR 

289 thousand.

Recognition of liabilities from sale and leaseback transactions that do not constitute a sale

Lease liabilities from sale and leaseback transactions were reported even though these transactions 

did not meet the criteria of a sale in accordance with IFRS 15. This led to an incorrect balance sheet 

presentation of the lease liabilities, as these should have been reported as other financial liabilities 

in accordance with IFRS 16.103(a). A corresponding disposal of property, plant and equipment and 

the recognition of a right-of-use asset were correctly not carried out. As a result, non-current lease 

liabilities were reduced by EUR 1,375 thousand and current lease liabilities by EUR 516 thousand. 

The corresponding offsetting entry was made in other non-current and current financial liabilities. 

This did not have any effect on earnings.

Further reclassifications 

In addition to the above-mentioned adjustments, the 

a)  In the reporting year, other current assets were broken down into the items “other current 

financial assets” and “other current non-financial assets”. The item “other current financial 

assets” amounted to TEUR 5,189 in the previous year. The item “other current non-financial 

assets” was reduced by the same amount.

b)  Other liabilities are broken down in the reporting year into the items “other financial liabilities” 

and “other non-financial liabilities”. The previous year’s presentation was adjusted accordingly. 

At the same time, other provisions were reduced by TEUR 784 and other current non-financial 

liabilities were reduced by TEUR 329 thousand. Other current financial liabilities were increased 

accordingly by TEUR 1,113. 
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The following tables summarize the effects on the consolidated financial statements.

Published con-
solidated finan-
cial statements

Adjustments Adjusted consol-
idated financial 

statements

Sales revenue 160,318 359 160,677

Other operating income 4,642  4,642

Increase or decrease in inventories of finished goods 

and work in progress 407 -289 118

Other own work capitalized 5,063  5,063

Overall performance 170,431 70 170,501

Cost of materials -94,590  -94,590

Gross profit 75,841 70 75,911

Personnel expenses -40,983  -40,983

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and 

amortization of intangible assets -14,279  -14,279

Impairment of current assets -22  -22

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and 

intangible assets -318  -318

Other operating expenses -23,293 -1,424 -24,718

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) -3,054 -1,354 -4,408

Financial income 42  42

Financing expenses -7,728 142 -7,585

Financial result -7,686 142 -7,544

Earnings before taxes (EBT) -10,740 -1,212 -11,951

Income taxes 2,063 385 2,448

Result from continuing operations -8,676 -827 -9,503

Result from discontinued operations 5,309  5,309

Group result -3,367 -827 -4,194

Actuarial gains and losses 698  698

Currency translation reserve 31 31

Overall result -2,639 -827 -3,466

Earnings per share in € continuing operations 

(undiluted) -1,92 -0,18 -2,10

Earnings per share in € continuing operations (diluted) -1,92 -0,18 -2,10

Earnings per share in € discontinued operation 

(undiluted) 1,17 1,17

Earnings per share in € continuing and discontinued 

operations (diluted) -0,74 -0,18 -0,93
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Published con-
solidated finan-
cial statements

Adjustments Adjusted consol-
idated financial 

statements

Assets

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 37,360  37,360

Goodwill 5,745  5,745

Property, plant and equipment 30,830  30,830

Shares in associated companies and joint ventures 1,642  1,642

Other assets 468  468

Total non-current assets 76,046 76,046

Current assets

Current assets 25,188 -1,181 24,008

Inventories 7,660  7,660

Trade receivables 0 1,251 1,251

Contract asset value 217  217

Income tax assets 5,189 5,189

Other current financial assets 9,553 -5,189 4,364

Other current non-financial assets 18,106  18,106

Cash and cash equivalents 35,771  35,771

Assets classified as held for sale 96,496 70 96,566

Total assets 172,542 70 172,612

The following tables summarize the effects on the consolidated financial statements.
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Published con-
solidated finan-
cial statements

Adjustments Adjusted consol-
idated financial 

statements

L I A BI L I T I ES

Equity

Subscribed capital 4,526  4,526

Capital reserve 15,485  15,485

Revaluation reserve 21  21

Profit / (-) loss carried forward -16,284  -16,284

Group result -3,367 -827 -4,194

Currency differences 281  281

Total equity 661 -827 -166

Non-current provisions and liabilities

Non-current lease liabilities 11,085 -1,375 9,710

Long-term loans 7,313  7,313

Long-term bonds 45,000  45,000

Deferred taxes 1,596 -385 1,211

Provisions for pensions 2,383  2,383

Other non-current financial liabilities 0 1,375 1,375

Total non-current provisions and liabilities 67,378 -385 66,993

Current provisions and liabilities

Current portion of lease liabilities 4.895 -516 4.379

Short-term loans and current portion of long-term 

loans 30.550  30.550

Short-term bonds 21.284 1.282 22.566

Liabilities from deliveries and services 24.950  24.950

Other provisions 1.057 -784 273

Income tax liabilities 288  288

Other current financial liabilities  1.629 1.629

Other current non-financial liabilities 16.253 -329 15.924

Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as 

held for sale 5.226  5.226

Total current provisions and liabilities 104,503 1,283 105,786

Total liabilities 172,542 70 172,612

The following tables summarize the effects on the consolidated financial statements.
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€’000

Published con-
solidated finan-
cial statements

Adjustments Adjusted consol-
idated financial 

statements

Earnings before taxes (EBT) -10,740 -1,212 -11,952

Depreciation of fixed assets 14,278 14,278

Financial result 7,686 -142 7,544

Profit (-), loss (+) from disposal of property, plant and 

equipment and financial assets 2,213 2,213

Increase (+), decrease (-) in other provisions and pen-

sion provisions -1,597 -1,597

Other non-cash expenses and income -1,828 -1,828

Increase (-), decrease (+) in trade receivables, other 

receivables and other assets -1,050 -70 -1,120

Devaluation of non-current assets (+) 318 318

Increase (-), decrease (+) in inventories -1,238 -1,238

Increase (+), decrease (-) in trade payables and other 

liabilities 11,793 11,793

Interest paid -6,500 -6,500

Income tax expense (+)/income (-) without deferred 

taxes -437 -437

Cash flow from operating activities 
(continuing) 12,899 -1,424 11,475

Cash flow from operating activities 
(discontinued) 3,084 3,084

The following tables summarize the effects on the consolidated financial statements.
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€’000

Published con-
solidated finan-
cial statements

Adjustments Adjusted consol-
idated financial 

statements

Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and 

equipment (+) 6,395 6,395

Payments for investments in property, plant and equip-

ment (-) -2,677 -2,677

Payments for investments in intangible assets (-) -5,048 -5,048

Proceeds from the sale of consolidated companies and 

other business units (+) 0 0

Proceeds from the sale of intangible assets 1,500 1,500

Proceeds from the sale of securities held as fixed assets 416 416

Cash flow from investing activities (continued) 585 585

Cash flow from investing activities 
(discontinued) -4,460 -4,460

Payments for the repayment of financial loans (-) -7.267 -7.267

Proceeds from the raising of financial loans (+) 21.638 21.638

Payments for the repayment of bonds (-) -11.710 -11.710

Payments for the repayment of lease liabilities -748 -748

Proceeds from lease liabilities 2.696 2.696

Payments for prolongation costs EUR bond (-) -1.695 1.424 -271

Change in OCI 727 727

Cash flow from financing activities (continued) 3,640 1,424 5,064

Cash flow from financing activities 
(discontinued) 905 905

Cash-effective change in cash and cash equivalents 

(continued) 17,125 0 17,125

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 

period (continued) 980 980

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 

(continued) 18.105 18.105

The following tables summarize the effects on the consolidated financial statements.
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(6) New accounting principles due to new standards

The effects of new accounting standards whose scope of application is compatible with the activ-

ities of paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA are listed below. For reasons of materiality, paragon GmbH & Co. 

KGaA does not present changes in accounting that have no impact on the company. There were no 

significant changes to existing IFRS standards in the reporting period in the area of application with 

the activities of paragon GmbH & Co KGaA. 

In the 2023 financial year, paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA applied the following standards, interpreta-

tions and amendments to existing standards that were adopted for mandatory application for the 

first time: 

IAS 1 - (amended, effective from January 1, 2023) 

Disclosures on accounting policies.

IAS 8 - (amended, effective from January 1, 2023)  

Definition of accounting estimates. 

IAS 12 - (amended, effective from January 1, 2023) 

Deferred taxes relating to assets and liabilities from a single transaction.

IFRS 17 and amendments to IFRS 17 - (amended, effective from January 1, 2023) 

Insurance contracts and first-time application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9

The listed amendments and adjustments to the standards have no material impact on the consol-

idated financial statements. 

The following amended standards are only applicable in the future and have not been applied 

early in the current consolidated financial statements. 

IFRS 16 - (amended, effective from January 1, 2024) 

Lease liability for sale and leaseback.

IFRS 18 (amended, effective from Januar 1, 2027) 

Presentation and information

IFRS 7/IAS 7 - (amended, effective from January 1, 2024)

Information on supplier relationships and agreements

IAS 1 (amended, effective from January 1, 2024) 

• Classification of debt as current or non-current

• Non-current liabilities with covenants
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IAS 21 (amended, effective from January 1, 2025)

Lack of interchangeability

The amendments and adjustments to the standards are not expected to have any material effects 

or impact on the consolidated financial statements of paragon GmbH & Co. 

(7) Scope of consolidation

In addition to the parent company paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA, Delbrück, all material subsidiaries 

are fully consolidated. The balance sheet date for all companies is December 31, 2023. The scope of 

consolidation and shareholdings are shown in the following table.

Name and registered office of the company Shareholdings Consolidation

Germany

paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA, Delbrück n. a. n. a.

paragon electronic GmbH, Delbrück 100% Fully consolidated subsidiary

Nordhagen Immobilien GmbH, Delbrück 100% Fully consolidated subsidiary

paragon movasys GmbH, Delbrück 100% Fully consolidated subsidiary

ETON Soundsysteme GmbH GmbH 

(formerly: paragon electroacoustic GmH)1 

100% Fully consolidated subsidiary

paragon electrodrive GmbH, Delbrück 100% Fully consolidated subsidiary

India

Paravox Automotive Ltd, India 99% Fully consolidated subsidiary

China

paragon Automotive Technology (Shanghai), Co., Ltd. 100% Fully consolidated subsidiary

paragon Automotive (Kunshan), Co. Ltd. 100% Fully consolidated subsidiary

Shareholding

Hepa GmbH 50% at equity Consolidation

The following companies are not consolidated:

paragon semvox GmbH, Limbach deconsolidated in 2023

paragon Automotive LLC, Delaware 100% No inclusion, as immaterial

paragon movasys d.o.o.; Croatia 100% No inclusion, as immaterial

1 The former ETON Soundsysteme GmbH was merged with the former paragon electroacoustic GmbH in the reporting year. 
paragon electroacoustic GmbH was renamed ETON Soundsysteme GmbH in the reporting year.  
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The scope of consolidation has changed significantly due to the deconsolidation of paragon sem-

vox GmbH. paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA sold its shares in paragon semvox GmbH to CARIAD SE by 

notarized agreement dated December 1, 2022. The closing took place on May 12, 2023. As a result 

of the sale, paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA lost control over the subsidiaries. 

Due to the current minor significance of the companies paragon movasys d.o.o., Croatia, and para-

gon Automotive LLC, USA, these companies were not consolidated in the 2023 financial year.

Company Share
Turnover

2023 €’000
Equity capital

2023
Net profit/loss for 

the year 2023

Parent company    

paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA, Delbrück n.a.

Consolidated subsidiaries 

Nordhagen Immobilien GmbH, Delbrück 100.00% 0 -1,467 -151

paragon Automotive Co., Ltd., Kunshan 100.00% 12,859 3,410 2,715

paragon Automotive Technology (Shanghai) 

Co. Ltd., China 100.00% 139 41 2

ETON Soundsysteme GmbH, Delbrück 

(formerly: paragon electroacoustic GmbH) 100.00% 112 -440 617

paragon electrodrive GmbH, Delbrück 100.00% 42 -2,379 -30

paragon electronic GmbH, Delbrück 100.00% 75,715 7,819 0

paragon movasys GmbH, Landsberg am Lech  100.00% 54,205 -16,852 -3,973

paravox Automotive Ltd., Indien 100,00% 462 80 -34

The following companies are not consolidated:

paragon movasys d.o.o., Kroatien 100,00% 644 73 28

paragon Auotomotive LLC, USA 100.00% 0 0 0

Shareholdings and joint ventures

Hepa GmbH1 50,00% 24 3.025 1

Bilster Berg Drive Resort GmbH & Co. KG2 0,60%  4.770  20.006  -292

1  Proportionate consolidation in accordance with Section 310 HGB - preliminary figures as at December 31, 2023 
2  Financial figures as at December 31, 2022.

Hepa GmbH, based in Münster, is a joint venture between Hengst SE (Münster) and paragon GmbH & 

Co. KGaA. Both shareholders each hold EUR 12,500 of the subscribed capital of Hepa GmbH totaling 

EUR 25,000. Hengst SE and paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA have combined their activities to develop and 

market an electric filter and a customized high-voltage source and particle charging unit. Hepa 

GmbH was founded in order to be flexibly positioned for various sales situations during the utili-

zation phase of the results and at the same time to allow both parties to participate in the sales 

success.
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Hepa GmbH’s capital reserves amount to EUR 3,000 thousand and liabilities are insignificant. Hepa’s 

main assets are intangible assets in the form of patents, utility models and copyrights amounting 

to EUR 3,000 thousand. Hepa GmbH’s sales revenues are still insignificant, as customer orders are 

still being initiated or before the start of production. 

Hepa GmbH is accounted for using the equity method. Significant financial obligations to Hepa 

GmbH will only arise in the future depending on realized sales revenues from jointly developed 

products in the form of annual license payments.

The share of profit or loss of Hepa GmbH is not reported separately in the income statement due 

to immateriality.

The carrying amount of the investment is unchanged from the previous year (Bilster Berg Drive 

Resort GmbH & Co. KG: EUR 120 thousand).

Company Share
Turnover

2022 €’000
Equity capital

2022
Net profit/loss for 

the year 2022

Parent company n.a.    

paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA, Delbrück

Consolidated subsidiaries

ETON Soundsysteme GmbH, Neu-Ulm 100,00% 0 709 -37

Nordhagen Immobilien GmbH, Delbrück 100,00% 0 -1.316 -75

paragon Automotive Co., Ltd., KunShan 100,00% 8.486 840 1.877

paragon Automotive Technology (Shanghai) 

Co. Ltd., China 100,00% 135 43 0

paragon electroacoustic GmbH, Neu-Ulm 100,00% 0 -1.057 -215

paragon electrodrive GmbH, Delbrück 100,00% 974 -2.349 -1.187

paragon electronic GmbH, Delbrück 100,00% 74.132 7.819 0

paragon movasys GmbH, Landsberg am Lech  100,00% 52.038 -12.858 -6.333

paragon semvox GmbH, Saarbrücken 100,00% 12.780 5.360 5.311

paravox Automotive Ltd., India 100,00% 549 113 84

The following companies are not consolidated: 

paragon movasys d.o.o., Croatia 100,00% 644 73 28

Shareholdings and joint ventures

Hepa GmbH 50,00% 2 3.025 -1

Bilster Berg Drive Resort GmbH & Co. KG1 0,60%  4.770  20.006  -292

1 Key financial figures for the investments are not yet available at the time of preparing the annual financial statements.
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Consolidation methods

The consolidated financial statements are based on the annual financial statements of the compa-

nies included in the Group prepared in accordance with uniform rules applying IFRS as at December 

31, 2023. The financial statements are included in the consolidated financial statements from the 

date on which control is obtained until the date on which control ceases. The starting point for the 

IFRS adjusting entries for paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA was the audited annual financial statements of 

paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA under commercial law as at December 31, 2023. 

The scope of consolidation is defined in accordance with IFRS 10. Capital consolidation is carried 

out using the purchase method in accordance with IFRS 3. The recognition of shares in affiliated 

companies at their carrying amount at the parent company is replaced by the assets and liabilities 

of the consolidated companies recognized at their fair value. The equity of the subsidiaries is thus 

compared with the carrying amount of the shares in the parent company. Any positive difference 

is recognized as goodwill under non-current assets and tested for impairment annually in accord-

ance with IFRS 3 in conjunction with IAS 36. IAS 36, it is subjected to an annual impairment test.

In addition, debt consolidation, elimination of intercompany profits and losses and consolidation 

of income and expenses were carried out. The differences arising from the consolidation of income 

and expenses were offset in profit or loss. Assets from intercompany deliveries included in fixed 

assets and inventories were adjusted for intercompany profits.

The investment in Hepa GmbH was accounted for using the equity method in accordance with IAS 

28.

 

(8) Currency conversion

In paragon’s consolidated financial statements, foreign currency receivables and liabilities are 

measured on initial recognition at the transaction rate applicable at that time and adjusted to the 

exchange rate applicable on the balance sheet date. Exchange rate gains and losses are recognized 

in the income statement under other operating income or expenses. The translation of financial 

statements in foreign currencies is carried out in accordance with IAS 21.39 ff. 

In the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, exchange rate losses and gains from the 

operating business are included in other operating expenses and other operating income. Expenses 

from the valuation of Swiss franc derivatives that are not in a hedging relationship with underlying 

transactions amounted to EUR 39 thousand (previous year: EUR 41 thousand).

The currency differences resulting from the translation of the financial statements prepared in 

foreign currencies and from consolidation were offset against equity in accordance with IAS 21. 
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The exchange rates of the currencies relevant to the paragon Group developed as follows:

Foreign currency for 1 EUR

Balance sheet 
mid-market price 

on Dec. 31, 2023
P&L average rate 

2023

Balance sheet 
mid-market price 

on Dec. 31, 2022
P&L average rate 

2022

US dollar (USD) 1.1037 1.0916 1.0704 1.0586

Swiss franc (CHF) 0.9288 0.9435 0.9899 0.9873

Chinese renminbi yuan (RMB) 7.8142 7.7731 7.3836 7.3849

Indian rupee (INR) 91.8142 90.8782 88.5689 87.3031

The functional currency of the Chinese subsidiaries is RMB, for the Indian subsidiary is INR as the 

companies mainly generate and spend cash in this currency. 

(9) Explanations of the accounting and valuation methods

The consolidated financial statements were prepared in euros (EUR). The reporting currency is the 

euro. Unless otherwise stated, all amounts are shown in thousands of euros (EUR thousand). In 

these financial statements, the reporting period at paragon comprises the period from January 1 

to December 31, 2023. Individual items in the statement of financial position and the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income have been combined to improve the clarity and transparency 

of the presentation. In this case, the items are explained separately in the notes. The consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income is still structured according to the nature of expense method. 

A distinction is made in the balance sheet between current and non-current assets and liabilities, 

which are classified in detail in the notes according to their maturity. Assets and liabilities are con-

sidered current if they are due within a period of twelve months.

The consolidated financial statements comprise the consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income, the notes to the consolidated financial statements, the con-

solidated cash flow statement and the consolidated statement of changes in equity. A Group man-

agement report has also been prepared.

Accounting for acquisitions 

Goodwill is recognized in the Group’s balance sheet as a result of acquisitions. When an acquisition 

is consolidated for the first time, all identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are rec-

ognized at fair value on the acquisition date. One of the most important estimates relates to the 

determination of the fair value of these assets and liabilities on the acquisition date. Land, build-

ings and office equipment are generally valued on the basis of independent appraisals, while mar-

ketable securities are recognized at market price. If intangible assets are identified, the fair value 
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is determined internally using an appropriate valuation technique, which is usually based on the 

forecast of total expected future cash flows. These valuations are closely linked to the assumptions 

made by management regarding the future development of the value of the respective assets and 

the assumed changes in the discount rate to be applied.

Intangible assets

Purchased intangible assets are recognized at cost, taking into account incidental costs and pur-

chase price reductions.

Research costs are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. Costs in 

connection with the development of patent and specific customer solutions are only capitalized as 

intangible assets at production cost if the clear allocation of expenses required by IAS 38 “Intangi-

ble Assets” is possible, technical feasibility and marketability/usability are ensured and the prob-

able generation of future economic benefits has been demonstrated. Production costs include all 

costs directly and indirectly attributable to the development process as well as necessary por-

tions of project-related overheads. If the capitalization criteria are not met, the development costs 

are recognized immediately in profit or loss under other operating expenses in the year in which 

they are incurred. After initial recognition, development costs are carried at cost less accumulated 

amortization and accumulated impairment losses.

If intangible assets are subject to a finite useful life, they are generally amortized on a straight-line 

basis over their useful economic life. Amortization begins as soon as the asset is available for use, 

i.e. when it is in the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner 

intended by management. Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are tested annually for 

impairment. For this purpose, the carrying amounts of intangible assets are examined on each bal-

ance sheet date to determine whether there are any indications of impairment. If there were such 

indications, an impairment test was carried out in accordance with IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”. 

The residual values, useful lives and amortization methods are reviewed at the end of each financial 

year and adjusted if necessary.

The useful lives for internal development costs correspond to the expected product life cycles and 

are generally 7 years. paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA assesses the useful life of products individually 

and reviews the useful life annually. The useful lives of licenses, patents and software are between 

3 and 12 years.
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Goodwill is recognized at cost and tested for impairment annually and additionally if there are 

indications of possible impairment at other times. Impairment losses are recognized as a separate 

item in the income statement. 

Property, plant and equipment

Additions to property, plant and equipment are measured at cost plus incidental acquisition costs 

and less any purchase price reductions. If the acquisition or production costs of certain compo-

nents of an item of property, plant and equipment are significant in relation to the total acquisition 

or production costs, these components are recognized and depreciated individually. Depreciation 

is generally calculated using the straight-line method. The depreciation period is 33 to 50 years for 

buildings, between 5 and 10 years for technical equipment and 3 to 10 years for other equipment, 

fixtures and fittings.

Fully depreciated fixed assets are reported under acquisition and production costs and accumu-

lated depreciation until the assets are decommissioned. Amortized cost and accumulated depre-

ciation are deducted from the proceeds from the disposal of fixed assets. Earnings contributions 

from asset disposals (disposal proceeds less residual carrying amounts) are reported in the con-

solidated statement of comprehensive income under other operating income or other operating 

expenses. All residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed annually and 

adjusted if necessary.

At each balance sheet date, the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment, which are 

depreciated over their useful lives, are reviewed to determine whether there are any indications of 

impairment. If such indications exist, an impairment test is carried out.

Leases

At the inception of each lease, paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA assesses whether the contract is or con-

tains a lease. This is the case if the contract entitles the lessee to control the use of an identified 

asset for a certain period of time in return for payment of a fee. If a contract is amended, paragon 

GmbH & Co. KGaA reassesses whether a contract constitutes a lease. 

In accordance with the option in IFRS 16.5 to 16.8, the Group has decided not to recognize leases if 

the lease has a term of up to 12 months or the determined right-of-use asset does not exceed a 

value of EUR 5,000. In these cases, the expense from the lease is recognized on a straight-line basis 

over its specific term and presented as other operating expenses. 
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The individual lease components and non-lease components are recognized separately. If a lease 

exists, this contract is allocated to the individual lease components on the basis of the contractu-

ally agreed consideration based on the contractually agreed relative stand-alone selling prices 

of the lease components and the aggregated stand-alone selling price of the non-lease compo-

nents. In doing so, paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA determines the relative stand-alone selling price on 

the basis of the price that a lessor or a similar supplier of paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA would charge 

separately for these or comparable components. In the absence of an observable market, paragon 

GmbH & Co. KGaA uses estimates.

When determining the term of the lease, paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA takes the non-cancellable 

basic term and an optional extension period as a basis, provided that the company is reasonably 

certain to exercise this option. If there is a termination option, this is taken into account accordingly 

when determining the term, provided that the exercise of the option is sufficiently certain. paragon 

GmbH & Co. KGaA regularly reviews whether the exercise of an option is sufficiently certain. 

On the provision date, paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liabil-

ity. On the provision date, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost. The acquisition costs include

• Present value of lease payments not yet made at the provision date

• Lease payments made on or before provision

• Initial direct costs 

• Estimated costs for dismantling and removal 

The lease liability comprises the present value of the lease payments not yet made as at the pro-

vision date. Discounting is based on the underlying constant interest rate. If this is not available, 

paragon uses an incremental borrowing rate that is used for comparable lease financing. Lease 

payments not made include 

• all fixed payments less leasing incentives received, 

• variable leasing payments,

•  Amounts that will probably have to be paid at the end of the term as part of residual value 

guarantees,

• the exercise price of a call option, provided the exercise is reasonably certain, and

• Penalties for termination, provided that the exercise of the right is reasonably certain.

The right-of-use asset is amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term or its 

useful life, adjusted for the revaluation of the lease liability. Any impairment losses are measured 

in accordance with IAS 36. 
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The carrying amount of the lease liability is increased by the interest expense and reduced by 

payments made after provision as at the reporting date. A revaluation of the lease liability is rec-

ognized immediately. 

Rights of use are not reported as separate balance sheet items in paragon’s balance sheet. For 

this reason, they are shown separately in the notes to the consolidated statement of changes in 

non-current assets. Lease liabilities are reported as separate balance sheet items. In the case of 

sale and leaseback transactions, paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA assesses whether the transaction of the 

asset subsequently leased back meets the criteria of a sale in accordance with IFRS 15. The Group 

bases this assessment on the transfer of control of the underlying asset. If the transaction enables 

the lessor to direct the use of the underlying asset and obtain substantially all of the remaining 

economic benefits from it, it is a sale in accordance with IFRS 15. In this case, paragon recognizes 

the disposal of the underlying asset and realizes the gain on sale to the extent that it relates to 

the right-of-use asset actually transferred to the lessor. A right-of-use asset is recognized for the 

remaining portion. If there is no sale in accordance with IFRS 15, the transaction is recognized as a 

loan.

Impairment of non-financial assets

On each balance sheet date, it is determined whether there are any indications of impairment of 

non-financial assets (in particular intangible assets with finite useful lives). If there are indica-

tions of impairment, the recoverable amount of the asset in question is determined. In accordance 

with IAS 36.6 “Impairment of Assets”, the recoverable amount corresponds to the higher of the fair 

value less costs to sell and the value in use of the asset or identifiable group of assets that gener-

ates cash from continuing use (cash-generating unit / CGU). If the carrying amount of an asset or 

CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is impaired and is written down to its recoverable 

amount.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, with the exception of goodwill, are reviewed 

at each balance sheet date to determine whether there are any indications that a previously rec-

ognized impairment loss no longer exists or has decreased. If such indications exist, the recoverable 

amount of the asset or CGU is determined. A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only 

if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the recoverable amount since the 

last impairment loss was recognized. The reversal of impairment losses is limited to the extent 

that the carrying amount of an asset may not exceed either its recoverable amount or the carrying 

amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment 

loss had been recognized for the asset in prior years.
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Financial instruments

Financial instruments are contracts that give rise to a financial asset of one party and a financial 

liability or equity instrument of the other party. Primary financial instruments include, in particu-

lar, trade receivables, loans, cash and cash equivalents, financial liabilities and trade payables. Other 

financial assets and other financial liabilities also exclusively include financial instruments.

Equity instruments are measured at fair value. On initial recognition, there is an irrevocable option 

to present realized and unrealized changes in value in the statement of comprehensive income 

rather than in the income statement, provided that the equity instrument is not held for trading 

purposes. Amounts recognized in profit or loss may not subsequently be reclassified to the income 

statement.

Non-derivative financial instruments are recognized in the balance sheet on the settlement date 

in the case of regular way purchases or sales. Foreign currency receivables and liabilities are meas-

ured at the respective closing rates.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are reported gross at paragon. They are only offset if there 

is an enforceable right to offset the amounts at the present time and the intention is to settle on 

a net basis.

For accounting and measurement purposes, financial assets are allocated to one of the following 

categories in accordance with IFRS 9:

•  measured at amortized cost (AC), 

•  measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL),

•  at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

For accounting and measurement purposes, financial liabilities are allocated to one of the follow-

ing categories in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9:

•  measured at amortized cost (AC),

•  measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).

paragon classifies financial assets and financial liabilities in these categories at the time of addition.

Financial assets are classified as measured at amortized cost (AC) if the business model provides for 

the financial asset to be held for the purpose of collecting the contractual cash flows and the con-
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tractual terms of the instrument give rise solely to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 

and interest. If the business model provides for the financial asset to be held and sold and the con-

tractual terms of the instrument result exclusively in cash flows representing interest payments 

and principal repayments, the financial asset is recognized at fair value, with changes in value rec-

ognized in other comprehensive income (FVOCI). 

Financial assets held exclusively for trading purposes are classified at fair value through profit or 

loss, with changes in value recognized in profit or loss (FVTPL). Derivatives belong to this category. 

It is also possible to measure financial instruments carried at amortized cost at fair value through 

profit or loss using the fair value option if this significantly reduces or prevents a measurement or 

recognition inconsistency. paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA does not make use of the fair value option. 

Non-current and current financial liabilities to banks, trade payables and other financial liabili-

ties are classified as financial liabilities at amortized cost, with the exception of derivative financial 

instruments.

Financial liabilities are classified as at fair value through profit or loss if they are held for trading or 

are designated as such upon initial recognition. Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading 

if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near future. Directly attributable transaction 

costs are recognized in profit or loss as soon as they are incurred.

On initial recognition, financial instruments are measured at fair value, with the exception of trade 

receivables, which are recognized at their transaction price plus directly attributable transaction 

costs.

Financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs. 

Non-current liabilities are measured using the effective interest method less directly attributable 

transaction costs.

As part of subsequent measurement, financial assets measured at amortized cost are measured 

using the effective interest method. When applying the effective interest method, all directly 

attributable fees, fees paid or received, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts included 

in the calculation of the effective interest rate are amortized over the expected term of the financial 

instrument. 

Interest income and expenses from the application of the effective interest method are recognized 

in the income statement under interest income or interest expense from financial instruments.
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Non-interest-bearing and low-interest receivables with a term of more than twelve months are 

discounted at the interest rate appropriate to the term.

Financial assets, with the exception of financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss, 

are tested for possible impairment indicators at each reporting date. Financial assets are considered 

impaired if there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the 

initial recognition of the asset, there has been a negative change in the expected future cash flows 

of the financial instrument. Objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred could 

be various facts such as delayed payment over a certain period of time, initiation of enforcement 

measures, imminent insolvency or over-indebtedness, application for or initiation of insolvency 

proceedings or failure of restructuring measures.

Impairment losses on contract assets and other financial assets measured at amortized cost are 

recognized using a forward-looking model taking into account expected credit losses. The con-

solidated financial statements do not include financial assets in the FVOCI category, as receivables 

intended for sale to a factoring bank are assigned directly at the time they arise. For this reason, 

the difference between the purchase price and the nominal value of the receivable is recognized 

in profit or loss.

Allowances for trade receivables, contract assets and lease receivables are calculated using the 

simplified approach with the lifetime expected credit loss.

paragon derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from an asset 

expire or the rights to receive the cash flows are transferred in a transaction in which all signifi-

cant risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are also transferred. Derecognition also 

takes place if paragon has transferred all significant risks and rewards of ownership and has not 

retained control of the transferred asset. Any interest in such transferred financial assets that arises 

or remains with paragon is recognized as a separate asset or liability.

Financial liabilities are derecognized when the contractual obligations have been fulfilled, canceled 

or have expired.
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Fair value measurement

The measurement of assets and liabilities at fair value follows a three-level hierarchy and is based 

on the proximity of the valuation factors used to an active market. A market is designated as “active” 

if quoted prices are readily and regularly available and these prices are based on actual, regularly 

occurring market transactions at arm’s length.

Level 1: Prices quoted on active markets (unchanged) for identical assets and liabilities.

Level 2: Input data that is either directly or indirectly observable for the asset or liability and does 

not represent quoted prices according to Level 1. The fair values of level 2 financial instruments are 

calculated on the basis of the conditions existing on the balance sheet date and using recognized 

models, e.g. discounted cash flow models.

Level 3: Input data used that is not based on observable market data for the measurement of the 

asset and liability (unobservable input data).

The fair values were determined on the basis of the market conditions available on the report-

ing date using actuarial valuation methods. They correspond to the prices that would be received 

between independent market participants for the sale of an asset or paid for the transfer of a 

liability.

Reclassifications between the levels of the fair value hierarchy are recognized as at the respective 

reporting dates. There were no reclassifications between Level 1, Level 2 or Level 3 in the 2023 and 

2022 financial years.

Income taxes

Income taxes include both direct taxes on income and earnings and deferred taxes.

Income tax payable for the current and prior periods is measured at the amount expected to be 

refunded or paid by the tax authorities. The calculation of the amount is based on the tax law status 

and thus the tax rates that apply or have been announced on the balance sheet date.

Deferred taxes are recognized in accordance with IAS 12 “Income Taxes” using the balance sheet 

liability method. If there are temporary differences arising from the different treatment of cer-

tain balance sheet items between the IFRS consolidated financial statements and the tax accounts, 

these lead to the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities (“temporary concept”). In addi-

tion, deferred taxes are recognized for future tax reduction claims.
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Deferred tax assets on deductible temporary differences and tax reduction claims are capitalized 

to the extent that it can be expected that these can be used in future periods through sufficient 

available taxable income.

The calculation of current and deferred taxes is based on judgments and estimates. If actual events 

deviate from these estimates, this can have both positive and negative effects on the net assets, 

financial position and results of operations. The decisive factor for the recoverability of deferred 

tax assets is the assessment of the probability of the reversal of the valuation differences and the 

usability of loss carryforwards or tax benefits that have led to the recognition of deferred tax assets. 

This depends on the generation of future taxable profits during the periods in which tax loss carry-

forwards can be utilized. Deferred taxes are measured using the tax rates applicable at the time of 

realization based on the current legal situation on the balance sheet date.

Current income tax assets and liabilities as well as deferred tax assets and liabilities were only 

offset if statutory offsetting is possible and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income 

taxes levied by the same tax authority and there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 

assets against current tax liabilities. Deferred taxes are recognized as non-current in accordance 

with IAS 1.70.

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost or net realizable value. In accordance with IAS 2 

“Inventories”, production costs include all expenses that are directly attributable to the products 

as well as all systematically attributable fixed and variable production overheads. In addition to 

production materials and production wages, they therefore include a proportionate share of mate-

rial and production overheads. Administrative and social expenses are included to the extent that 

they are attributable to production. Financing costs are not recognized as part of acquisition or 

production costs, as the requirements for qualifying assets are not met. Inventory risks resulting 

from the storage period and reduced usability were taken into account by means of appropriate 

write-downs when determining the net realizable value. Lower values on the reporting date due to 

lower prices on the sales market were taken into account. Raw materials, consumables and supplies 

as well as merchandise are mainly valued using the moving average method.
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Trade receivables and other current assets

Where possible and intended by the management, trade receivables are assigned as part of fac-

toring. As a result, trade receivables are held as part of a business model whose objective is to hold 

the receivables in order to collect the cash flows resulting from the receivables. Accordingly, these 

receivables are measured at amortized cost (AC). On the other hand, trade receivables are held as 

part of the “factoring” business model, which is characterized by the fact that these receivables 

are exclusively intended for sale. These receivables are accordingly measured at fair value through 

profit or loss (FVTPL). Receivables in the AC category are initially recognized at their transaction 

price plus directly attributable transaction costs less any necessary impairments. Receivables in 

the FVTPL category are measured at fair value at the time of initial recognition. As part of subse-

quent measurement, impairments for receivables in the AC category are determined in the form 

of specific valuation allowances using the simplified approach with lifetime expected credit losses 

and take sufficient account of the expected default risks. Specific defaults lead to the derecognition 

of the receivables concerned. The calculation of allowances for doubtful receivables is essentially 

based on estimates and assessments of the creditworthiness and solvency of the respective cus-

tomer. The subsequent measurement of receivables in the FVTPL category is recognized in profit 

or loss.

Other current assets are measured at amortized cost, taking into account necessary valuation 

allowances that adequately reflect the expected default risks. To the extent that receivables rec-

ognized under this item are asserted through legal action, paragon firmly expects the full enforce-

ability of its recognized claims. If financial assets (financial instruments) are involved, they are 

allocated to the loans and receivables category.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and current account balances with banks and 

other financial institutions. These are only reported under cash and cash equivalents if they can be 

converted into cash amounts that can be determined in advance at any time, are only subject to 

insignificant value fluctuation risks and have a residual term of no more than three months from 

the date of acquisition.

Cash and cash equivalents correspond to cash and cash equivalents (cash on hand and bank 

balances). 
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Pension provisions

Pension provisions are calculated using the projected unit credit method in accordance with IAS 

19 (revised) “Employee Benefits”. The projected unit credit method takes into account not only the 

pensions and acquired entitlements known on the balance sheet date, but also expected future 

increases in pensions and salaries based on an assessment of the relevant influencing factors. 

The calculation is based on actuarial reports taking into account biometric calculation principles. 

The amounts not yet recognized in the balance sheet result from actuarial gains and losses from 

changes in the portfolio and differences between the assumptions made and the actual develop-

ment. Actuarial gains and losses that occur in the reporting period are recognized in full in other 

comprehensive income in equity. The service cost is reported under personnel expenses. The inter-

est expense included in pension expenses is recognized in net interest income.

The valuation as at December 31, 2023 was based on the expected long-term market interest rate 

development with a discount rate of 3.19 % to 3.50 % (previous year: 1.10 % to 3.26 %). The valu-

ation of pension provisions is based in principle on the “2018 G mortality tables” by Prof. Dr. Klaus 

Heubeck.

In addition, the actuarial calculations are based on salary growth of 0.00% since 2009, unchanged 

from the previous year, and, as in the previous year, pension growth of 2.00%.

Other provisions

Other provisions are recognized in accordance with IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 

Contingent Assets” if there are legal or constructive obligations to third parties that are based on 

past transactions or events and are likely to lead to an outflow of resources. The amount of the 

provisions is determined by the best possible estimate of the expenses required to fulfill the obli-

gation, without offsetting these against recourse claims. This means that the assessment of the 

probability that a pending case will be successful or the qualification of the possible amount of the 

payment obligations is based on the assessment of the respective situation. In each case, the most 

probable settlement amount was taken into account. Non-current provisions were measured at 

their discounted settlement amount as at the balance sheet date.

Due to the uncertainty associated with this assessment, the actual settlement obligations or the 

actual outflow of resources embodying economic benefits may differ from the original estimates 

and therefore from the provision amounts. In addition, estimates may change due to new informa-

tion and may have a significant impact on the future earnings situation.

Government grants

Investment grants and subsidies granted by the government are recognized in accordance with 

IAS 20 “Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance” and reported 
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in the balance sheet under non-current liabilities. In accordance with IAS 20, these government 

grants are only recognized if there is reasonable assurance that the conditions attached to them 

will be met and the grants will be received. Government grants and subsidies are generally recog-

nized in the form of a special item for investment grants and are released over the average useful 

life of the subsidized assets. They are released to other operating income in accordance with the 

assumed useful life of the asset in question.

In the 2022 financial year, the instrument of short-time working was only used in one specialist 

department. As a result of the utilization, the employees of the paragon Group received short-time 

work compensation from the Federal Employment Agency in the amount of EUR 10 thousand in 

the previous year. The instrument of short-time working was not used in the 2023 reporting year.

Recognition of income and expenses

Revenue is recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to paragon and 

the amount of revenue can be measured reliably(time-related). In addition customer-specific-or-

ders are recorded based on time period. Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration 

received. Value added tax or other levies are not taken into account. If a declaration of accept-

ance by the purchaser is required for transactions, the relevant revenue is only recognized once 

such a declaration has been made. If sales of products and services contain several delivery and 

service components (multi-component contracts), such as different compensation agreements in 

the form of advance payments, milestone and similar payments, an assessment is made as to 

whether several separate realization dates for partial sales are to be taken into account. Contractu-

ally agreed advance payments and other one-off payments are deferred and recognized in profit 

or loss over the period in which the contractually agreed consideration is provided.

Revenue from the sale of products is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of owner-

ship of the products sold have been transferred to the buyer. In accordance with the agreements 

concluded with customers, this generally occurs when the products are shipped. Sales are reported 

after deduction of discounts, rebates and returns.

The interest expenses of the bonds are measured using the effective interest method. Operating 

expenses are recognized in profit or loss when the services are utilized or at the time they are eco-

nomically incurred.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. They are 

capitalized if they meet the requirements of a qualifying asset within the meaning of IAS 23 “Bor-

rowing Costs”. When capitalizing borrowing costs, a weighted average of the borrowing costs for 

such loans of the company is used.
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(10) Use of estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires assump-

tions and estimates to be made that affect the recognized assets and liabilities, the disclosure of 

contingent liabilities on the balance sheet date and the recognition of income and expenses during 

the reporting period. If actual events deviate from these estimates, this could have both positive 

and negative effects on the net assets, financial position and results of operations. For paragon 

GmbH & Co. KGaA, estimates and assumptions were made in particular in the impairment tests for 

capitalized development costs, goodwill, disclosed hidden reserves from capital consolidation and 

contractual assets in accordance with IFRS 15. Should these assumptions and estimates prove to be 

incorrect, this would have an impact on the net assets and results of operations. 

In applying the accounting and valuation methods, the following estimates and assumptions were 

made which have a material effect on the amounts in the financial statements:

Determination of the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business 

combinations

The fair values and the allocation of the acquisition costs to the assets acquired and liabilities 

assumed were determined based on past experience and estimates of future cash inflows. The 

actual cash inflows may differ from the expected amounts.

Goodwill

As described in the accounting principles, the Group tests goodwill for impairment annually and 

if there is any indication that it may be impaired. The recoverable amount of the cash-generat-

ing unit is then estimated. This corresponds to the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and 

the value in use. Determining the value in use involves making adjustments and estimates relat-

ing to the forecast and discounting of future cash flows. Although the management assumes that 

the assumptions used to calculate the recoverable amount are appropriate, any unforeseeable 

changes in these assumptions could lead to an impairment loss that could have a negative impact 

on the net assets, financial position and results of operations.

Capitalized development costs

In order to measure capitalized development costs, assumptions were made about the amount of 

the expected future cash inflows from assets, the discount rates to be applied and the period of the 

inflow of expected future cash that these assets will generate. The assumptions about the period 

and the amount of future cash inflows are based on expectations about the future development 

of the order backlog with those customers with whom these development projects are carried out. 

The period of normal use corresponds to the estimated economic useful life. 
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Transfer of assets and leased assets

The question of when substantially all the significant risks and rewards incidental to ownership 

of the financial assets and leased assets are transferred to other companies is regularly subject to 

discretionary decisions. 

Leasing relationships

paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA recognizes individual lease components and non-lease components 

separately. If a lease exists, this contract is allocated to the individual lease components on the 

basis of the contractually agreed consideration based on the contractually agreed relative stand-

alone selling prices of the lease components and the aggregated stand-alone selling prices of the 

non-lease components. In doing so, paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA determines the relative stand-alone 

selling price on the basis of the price that a lessor or similar supplier would charge paragon GmbH & 

Co. KGaA separately for these or comparable components. In the absence of an observable market, 

paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA uses estimates.

paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA makes assumptions about the amount of the incremental borrowing rate 

as part of the replacement approach for leases and uses a readily observable interest rate based on 

the same payment profile as the lease. Otherwise, discounting is based on the lessee’s incremen-

tal borrowing rate, i.e. the interest rate that the lessee would have to pay if it had to borrow funds 

to acquire an asset of comparable value for a comparable term with comparable collateral under 

comparable conditions in a comparable economic environment. Where possible, the individual les-

see’s financing arrangements with third parties are used as a starting point. If necessary, these are 

adjusted to take account of changes in conditions since the financing was obtained. If there is no 

recent financing with third parties, the Group uses a risk-free interest rate as the starting point and 

adjusts this to the lessee’s credit risk. Other adjustments also relate to the term of the lease, the 

economic environment, the currency of the lease and the collateral.

Inventories

In individual cases, inventories are measured on the basis of the expected proceeds less the esti-

mated costs to completion and the estimated necessary selling costs. The actual proceeds and the 

costs still to be incurred may differ from the expected amounts.

With regard to the valuation discounts, please refer to the comments on inventories in the previous 

note. 

Estimates are required to recognize income from the provision of services according to the stage of 

completion on the balance sheet date. The main measurement parameter is the stage of comple-

tion, which is determined on the basis of a careful estimate of the total contract costs, the costs to 

be incurred until completion, the total contract revenue, the contract risks and other assumptions.
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Other assets and liabilities

Assumptions and estimates are generally required for allowances for doubtful receivables, con-

tingent liabilities and other provisions, as well as when determining the fair value of long-lived 

property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.

In individual cases, the actual values may deviate from the assumptions and estimates made, 

meaning that the carrying amount of the assets or liabilities concerned must be adjusted.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are only recognized to the extent that a positive tax result is expected in 

future periods or corresponding deferred tax liabilities exist that can be offset and their realiza-

tion appears sufficiently certain. In addition, there are estimation uncertainties with regard to the 

reversal effects in accordance with IAS 12.29 a (ii). The actual taxable income situation in future 

periods may differ from the estimate at the time the deferred taxes are capitalized.

Pension provisions

The expense from defined benefit plans is determined on the basis of actuarial calculations. The 

actuarial valuation is based on assumptions relating to discount rates, expected income from plan 

assets, future wage and salary increases, mortality and future pension increases. These estimates 

are subject to significant uncertainties due to the long-term nature of these plans.

Other provisions

Other provisions are recognized and measured on the basis of an estimate of the probability of the 

future outflow of resources and on the basis of past experience and the circumstances known at 

the balance sheet date. The actual future outflow of benefits may therefore differ from the other 

provisions recognized as at the balance sheet date.

Contingent liabilities

The recognition of an identified contingent liability as part of a purchase price allocation is based 

on assumptions derived by the management on the basis of the information available at the time 

of acquisition. 
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Legal risks

In principle, paragon Group companies may be parties to legal disputes. Management regularly 

analyzes the latest information on these cases and, where necessary, creates provisions for prob-

able obligations, including estimated legal costs. External lawyers are used for the assessment. 

When deciding whether a provision is necessary, the management takes into account the prob-

ability of an unfavorable outcome and the ability to estimate the amount of the obligation with 

sufficient reliability. The filing of a lawsuit, the formal assertion of a claim or the disclosure of a 

legal dispute in the notes do not automatically mean that a provision for the risk in question is 

appropriate.

Sales revenue

Discretionary decisions are made by the management with regard to the allocation of the transac-

tion price to the performance obligations. The transaction prices are allocated to the performance 

obligations on the basis of the relative stand-alone selling prices.

For sales with rights of return, the company makes an estimate of the probability that the cus-

tomer will return the goods.

(11) Sales revenue

Sales include sales of products and services, less sales deductions. Of the revenue of EUR 161,647 

thousand (previous year: EUR 160,677 thousand) in the reporting period, EUR 103,091 thousand 

(previous year: EUR 106.683 thousand) was generated in Germany and EUR 58,556 thousand (pre-

vious year: EUR 53.994 thousand) abroad.

Revenue is broken down by operating segment and recognition over time or at a point in time. 

paragon has the strategic segments Electronics and Mechanics.

2023 
€’000 Electronics Mechanics Total

Time-related realization 62,095 6,801 68,896

Period-related realization 41,916 50,835 92,751

Total segments 104,011 57,636 161,647

2022
€’000 Electronics Mechanics Total

Time-related realization 64,546 6,202 70,748

Period-related realization 43,572 46,357 89,929

Total segments 108,118 52,559 160,677
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In the Electronics segment, paragon generates revenue as a direct supplier to the automotive 

industry. The Electronics segment’s portfolio includes innovative air quality management, mod-

ern display systems, connectivity solutions and high-end acoustic systems. Sales in this segment 

were recognized at a point in time and over time in the financial year. Industry-standard payment 

terms without significant financing components are used. Variable consideration is not regularly 

provided.

In the Mechanics segment, paragon also acts as a direct supplier to the automotive industry. para-

gon generates revenue from individually developed mechanics as part of long-term series supply 

contracts. Revenue in this segment was recognized at a point in time and over time in the financial 

year. Standard industry payment terms without significant financing components are used. Varia-

ble consideration is not regularly provided.

As at December 31, 2023, there were trade receivables in the amount of EUR 6,646 thousand 

(December 31, 2022: EUR 7,660 thousand). 

In the reporting period, other revenue of EUR 8,570 thousand (previous year: EUR 7,894 thousand) 

was realized in connection with development services.

(12) Other operating income

Other operating income is mainly attributable to the following items:

Other operating income
Jan. 1–

Dec. 31, 2023
Jan. 1–

Dec. 31, 2022

Income from the sale of fixed assets 6,587 299

Exchange rate differences 1,744 1,468

Reversal of provisions and valuation allowances 1,567 1,574

Waiver of tax liabilities 470 0

Provision of vehicles to employees 259 306

Other 1.437 995

Total 12,064 4,642

(13) Other own work capitalized

If development projects meet the requirements of IAS 38.21 and IAS 38.57 and are capitalized in 

the reporting period, project-related development costs are reported under other own work cap-

italized. The capitalized amounts are reported under intangible assets. Own work capitalized also 

includes production costs for testing facilities.
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€’000
Jan. 1–

Dec. 31, 2023
Jan. 1–

Dec. 31, 2022

Project-related development costs 3,569 4,743

Manufacturing costs of test systems 314 321

Other own work capitalized 3,883 5,063

(14) Cost of materials

€’000
Jan. 1–

Dec. 31, 2023
Jan. 1–

Dec. 31, 2022

Raw materials and supplies 88,506 88,813 

Expenses for purchased services 3,022 5,777

Cost of materials 91,529 94,590 

(15) Personnel expenses

Personnel expenses break down as follows:

€’000
Jan. 1–

Dec. 31, 2023
Jan. 1–

Dec. 31, 2022

Wages and salaries 33,123 29,809

Social security contributions / pension expenses 6,519 5,653

Personnel leasing 4,589 5,521

Personnel expenses 44,231 40,983

The average number of employees in continuing operations, including temporary employees, 

developed as follows compared to the previous year:

Jan. 1–
Dec. 31, 2023

Jan. 1–
Dec. 31, 2022

Employees 400 379

Commercial employees 379 460

Headcount 779 839
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(16) Depreciation and amortization

A breakdown of amortization, depreciation and impairment losses on intangible assets, property, 

plant and equipment and financial assets can be found in the statement of changes in non-current 

assets. 

(17) Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses are mainly attributable to the following items:

Other operating expenses    

€’000
Jan. 1–

Dec. 31, 2023
Jan. 1–

Dec. 31, 2022

Compensation and value adjustments 4,135 3,080

EDP and telephone 2,396 2,041

Remuneration of the general partner 1,548 1,499

Energy and water costs 1,409 1,779

Freight and packaging costs 1,206 1,817

Legal, consulting and auditing costs 1,156 3,084

External services 1,131 1,800

Maintenance 982 913

Losses on receivables 834 424

Insurance 677 891

Currency losses 636 1,641

Vehicle and travel expenses 509 858

Building costs 458 647

Recruitment and other personnel costs 215 287

Other 5,377 3,957

Total 22,669 24,718
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(18) Financial result

€’000
Jan. 1–

Dec. 31, 2023
Jan. 1–

Dec. 31, 2022

Financial income 142 42

 Interest income 142 42

Financing expenses -12,654 -7,585

 Other financial and interest expenses -12,654 -7,585

Financial result -12,513 -7,544

Interest expenses to banks amounting to EUR 676 thousand (previous year: EUR 1,610 thousand) 

are reported under other financial and interest expenses. Interest expenses for bond liabilities 

amounted to EUR 4,488 thousand (previous year: EUR 4,400 thousand). This item also includes 

interest expenses for leases, interest expenses from the discounting of pension provisions and 

bank charges in connection with financial assets and liabilities.

The increase in the 2023 financial year is due to the costs of interim financing in the amount of EUR 

3.5 million to ensure the timely repayment of the CHF bond in April 2023.

The following overview summarizes the net results from financial instruments broken down by 

measurement category. The carrying amounts of the measurement categories are shown in the 

separate note “Additional information on financial instruments”. 

 

€’000
Jan. 1–

Dec. 31, 2023
Jan. 1–

Dec. 31, 2022

Financial assets

Measured at amortized cost 103 3

Measured at fair value through profit or loss 39 39

142 42

Financial liabilities

 Measured at amortized cost -12,654 -6,711

 Measured at fair value through profit or loss 0 -874

-12,654 -7,585

Interest expenses of EUR 1,214 thousand were incurred for IFRS 16 leases in the reporting year 

(previous year: EUR 903 thousand). The net results from other financial instruments include net 

income and expenses from interest, fair value measurements, currency translation, impairments 

and disposal effects.
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(19) Income taxes

The calculation of domestic deferred taxes as at December 31, 2023 was based on a combined 

income tax rate of 30.0% (previous year: 30.0%). On the one hand, this includes a corporation tax 

rate of 15% and a solidarity surcharge of 5.5%. On the other hand, this income tax rate includes 

trade tax, taking into account the allocation of the trade tax assessment amount to the municipal-

ities in which the company’s branches are located. A combined income tax rate of 34.6% (previous 

year: 34.6%) was applied in China.

€’000
Jan. 1–

Dec. 31, 2023
Jan. 1–

Dec. 31, 2022

Current taxes 51 -156

 Domestic current taxes 51 -156

 Current taxes abroad 0 0

Deferred taxes -941 -2,292

 Domestic deferred taxes -1,051 -2,292

 Deferred taxes abroad 110 0

Income taxes (income) -890 -2,448

Deferred tax assets and liabilities were recognized in connection with the following items and 

circumstances:

31.12.2023 31.12.2022

€’000
Aktivische 

latente Steuern
Passivische lat-

ente Steuern
Aktivische  

latente Steuern
Passivische lat-

ente Steuern

Intangible assets 0 6,446 0 8,122

Property, plant and equipment 

and leasing 698 0 982 0

Receivables and other assets 0 387 0 289

Pension provisions 222 0 296

Bonds 0 57 0 185

Loss carryforwards 5,678 0 6.107 0

Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities before offsetting 6,598 6,890 7,385 8,597

Balancing -6,598 -6,598 -7,385 -7,385

Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities after netting 0 292 0 1,211

Deferred tax assets amounted to EUR 0 thousand in the reporting year (previous year: EUR 0 thou-

sand).  At the end of the reporting period, deferred tax liabilities amounting to EUR 292 thousand 
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(previous year: EUR 1,211 thousand) relate to Germany in the amount of EUR 182 thousand (previ-

ous year: EUR 1,211 thousand) and abroad in the amount of EUR 110 thousand (previous year: EUR 

0 thousand).

In the reporting period, deferred taxes from pension provisions amounting to EUR 22 thousand 

(previous year: EUR -299 thousand) were recognized directly in equity in the revaluation reserve. 

This also corresponds to the amount of deferred taxes in connection with the component of other 

comprehensive income.

Future dividends to be paid in Germany by paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA have no influence on the tax 

burden of paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA.

In accordance with IAS 12.81 (c), the actual tax expense must be compared with the tax expense 

that would theoretically result if the tax rates to be applied to the reported earnings before tax 

were used. The following reconciliation shows the reconciliation of the calculated tax expense to 

the actual tax expense.

€’000
Jan. 1–

Dec. 31, 2023
Jan. 1–

Dec. 31, 2022

Earnings before taxes -11.463 -11.951

Calculated tax income at a tax rate of 30.0% (previous year: 30.0%) 3.439 3.585

Effect from the utilization or non-recognition of deferred tax assets -2.250 -1.346

Actual taxes relating to other periods 0 156

Miscellaneous -298 53

Actual tax income  890 2.448

The tax income is calculated by multiplying the tax rate by the result determined for tax purposes. 

Deferred tax assets on loss carryforwards were only recognized in order to offset existing deferred 

tax liabilities. No deferred tax assets were recognized on the domestic loss carryforwards existing 

at paragon movasys GmbH. 

(20) Result from discontinued operations

paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA sold its shares in paragon semvox GmbH to CARIAD SE by notarized 

agreement dated December 1, 2022. The closing took place on May 12, 2023. As a result of the sale, 

paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA lost control over the subsidiaries. For this reason, paragon semvox GmbH 

is accounted for as a discontinued operation in accordance with IFRS 5. Within the paragon Group, 

paragon semvox GmbH represented the Digital Assistance division. The result from discontinued 

operations is reported in total in a separate line. It is not necessary to adjust the previous year’s 

figures for 2022 as they were already accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 in 2022. The Digital 

Assistance division was allocated to the “Electronics” segment in accordance with IFRS 8.
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The result of the Digital Assistance division (for the full year 2022 and for 2023 from January 1, 

2023 to May 12, 2023) is made up as follows The profit from the discontinued operation is fully 

attributable to the owners of the parent company.

€’000 2023 2022

Sales revenue 3,077 12,780

Other operating income 86 321

Increase or decrease in inventories of finished goods and work in progress 2,152 77

Other own work capitalized 1,728 4,400

Cost of materials -96 -255

Personnel expenses -4,816 -10,165

Depreciation, amortization and impairment 0 -1,992

Other operating expenses -498 -2,421

Financial result -59 -56

Earnings before taxes (EBT) 1,575 2,689

Income taxes -510 2,621

Result from operating activities of the discontinued operation 1,064 5,309

Profit before taxes from the sale of the discontinued operation 5,928 n.a.

Income taxes on the profit from the sale of the discontinued operation -234 n.a.

Profit from discontinued operations after taxes 6,759 5,309
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paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA received a total of EUR 38,845 thousand from the seller in two purchase 

price installments. Transaction costs of EUR 1,307 thousand were incurred. The gain on disposal is 

calculated as follows, taking into account the net assets and liabilities disposed of:

€’000 May 12. 2023 Dec. 31. 2022

Intangible assets 15,488    13,759   

Goodwill 16,130    16,130   

Property, plant and equipment 134    62   

Financial assets 1    1   

Inventories 2,244    91   

Trade receivables 2,259    5,287   

Other assets 578    438   

Cash and cash equivalents 8    3   

Net assets 36,841    35,771   

Long-term loans -2,845   -3,000   

Deferred taxes -524    -     

Liabilities from deliveries and services -204   -193   

Other provisions -952   -78   

Income tax liabilities -99   -230   

Other current liabilities -607   -1,725   

Net debt -5,231   -5,226   

Balance of net assets and liabilities 31,610    30,545   

Consideration received in cash (less transaction costs) 37,538   

Profit before taxes from the sale of the discontinued operation 5,928   

Income taxes on the profit from the sale of the discontinued operation -234   

Profit after tax from the sale of the discontinued operation 5,694   

(21) Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the result for the reporting period by the 

weighted average number of shares issued. The weighted average number of shares issued in the 

reporting period amounted to 4,526,266 (previous year: 4,526,266). 

With earnings attributable to the owners of the paragon Group for the reporting period amounting 

to EUR -3,812 thousand (previous year: EUR -4,194 thousand), basic earnings per share (contin-

uing and discontinued operations) amounted to EUR -0.84 (previous year: EUR -0.93). Earnings 

per share for the continuing operations amounted to EUR -2.34 (previous year: EUR -2.10). This 

is calculated by dividing the result from continuing operations of EUR -10,571 thousand by the 

4,526,266 shares in circulation. Earnings per share from discontinued operations amounted to EUR 

1.49 (previous year: EUR 1.17).
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For the calculation of diluted earnings per share, the weighted average number of shares issued is 

adjusted by the number of all potentially dilutive shares.

Share option plans generally lead to such a potential dilution of earnings per share. There were no 

option rights to subscribe to shares in paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA during the financial year from 

January 1 to December 31, 2023. There are therefore currently no dilutive effects.

(22) Intangible assets

The development and breakdown of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and financial 

assets is shown in the consolidated statement of changes in fixed assets in the section “Changes in 

consolidated fixed assets”. Amortization of intangible assets is included in the income statement 

item “Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortization of intangible assets”. Expla-

nations on investments can be found in the management report.

Capitalized development costs

Development costs of EUR 18,526 thousand (previous year: EUR 23,436 thousand) were capitalized 

under intangible assets. Total development expenses for the period amounted to EUR 12,788 thou-

sand (previous year: EUR 14,654 thousand). Of this amount, internal development expenses of EUR 

3,569 thousand (previous year: EUR 4,743 thousand) were capitalized as intangible assets in the 

reporting period.

Amortization of these internal development expenses amounted to EUR 6,519 thousand in the 

reporting period (previous year: EUR 5,014 thousand). The amortization period for development 

projects is generally 7 years from the date on which they are ready for use.

The capitalized development costs were subjected to an impairment test in accordance with IAS 

36. The respective recoverable amount corresponds to the fair value of the development projects, 

which was determined on the basis of more recent findings on the saleability of the develop-

ment projects. Impairment losses in accordance with IAS 36 amounted to EUR 187 thousand in the 

reporting year (previous year: EUR 318 thousand).

The recoverable amount of internally generated intangible assets is determined on the basis of a 

value in use calculation using cash flow forecasts based on sales planning approved by the man-

agement. The sales planning includes a planning period of five years; growth is determined for 

each product according to the available market analyses. The risk-adjusted discount factor used 

for the cash flow forecasts is 9.39% (previous year: 9.39%).
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(23) Goodwill

Goodwill is composed as follows:

€’000 Dec. 31. 2023 Dec. 31. 2022 Impairment loss 2023

SphereDesign GmbH (merged into para-

gon GmbH & Co. KGaA in 2022)

343 343 0

paragon movasys GmbH 5,067 5,067 0

ETON Soundsysteme GmbH (formerly: 

paragon electroacoustic GmbH)

335 335 0

Total 5,745 5,745 0

Goodwill and internally generated intangible assets whose production has not yet been completed 

are subject to regular impairment tests.

Goodwill and internally generated intangible assets whose production has not yet been completed 

are tested annually for possible impairment. If events or changes in circumstances occur that indi-

cate a possible impairment, the impairment test must also be carried out more frequently.

As part of the impairment test, the paragon Group compares the residual carrying amounts of the 

individual cash-generating units (CGUs) with their respective recoverable amount, i.e. the higher 

of the fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. In cases where the carrying amount of the 

cash-generating unit is higher than its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognized for 

the difference. The recoverable amount is determined by calculating the value in use using the 

discounted cash flow method. The cash flows for determining the value in use were determined on 

the basis of the management’s medium-term planning. These plans are based on past experience 

and expectations of future market developments, taking into account strategic and operational 

measures already initiated to manage the business segment. The period for the detailed planning 

horizon is generally five years. 

The cost of capital is calculated as the weighted average cost of equity and debt (WACC = weighted 

average cost of capital). The cost of equity is derived from a peer group analysis of the relevant 

market and thus from available capital market information. In order to take account of the different 

risk/return profiles of the Group’s main areas of activity, paragon calculates individual cost of cap-

ital rates for its companies (CGUs) depending on the main area of activity. The weighted average 

cost of capital (WACC before tax) used to discount the cash flows is generally 9.00% (previous year: 

9.39%). The growth rate after the detailed planning period is 1.00% (previous year: 1.00%). 
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No need for impairment was identified during the impairment test. 

In addition to the impairment test, three sensitivity analyses were carried out for each group of 

cash-generating units. In the first sensitivity analysis, the capitalization interest rate was increased 

by 2% for each group. In the second sensitivity analysis, a 1 percentage point lower growth rate was 

assumed. In the third sensitivity analysis, a flat-rate discount of 10.0% was applied to the EBITDA 

assumed in perpetuity. These changes would not result in an impairment for any of the groups of 

cash-generating units.

(24) Property, plant and equipment

The development and breakdown of property, plant and equipment is shown in the consolidated 

statement of changes in fixed assets in the section “Development of Group fixed assets”. Deprecia-

tion in the reporting period (excluding right-of-use assets in accordance with IFRS 16) amounted 

to EUR 2,303 thousand . Land and buildings are encumbered by mortgages to secure long-term 

bank loans. Depreciation of right-of-use assets in accordance with IFRS 16 amounted to EUR 3,890 

thousand .

In the reporting year, the parts of movable fixed assets financed via leasing agreements were 

reclassified to right-of-use assets to improve presentation. The carrying amount of the right-of-

use assets is EUR 8,836 thousand (previous year: EUR 11,773 thousand). 

Advance payments for machinery and equipment amounted to EUR 2, 585 thousand in the report-

ing year (previous year: EUR 1,875 thousand). 

In the reporting year, expenses and income from the disposal of property, plant and equipment 

(disposal of acquisition/production costs less accumulated depreciation) amounted to EUR 0 thou-

sand in expenses (previous year: EUR 2,529 thousand) and EUR 6,587 thousand in income (previous 

year: EUR 299 thousand).

(25) Inventories

Inventories are made up as follows: 

€’000 Dec. 31. 2023 Dec. 31. 2022

Raw materials and supplies 16.003 17.633

Work in progress/finished goods and services and merchandise 4.510 5.540

Payments on account for inventories 128 836 

Inventories 20.641 24.008
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Accumulated impairment losses on inventories, mainly due to blocked stock and spare parts 

inventories, amounted to EUR 4,438 thousand at the end of the reporting period (previous year: 

EUR 4,331 thousand). As in the previous year, no reversals of impairment losses were recognized in 

the reporting period. As at the balance sheet date, inventories amounting to EUR 0 thousand (pre-

vious year: EUR 0 thousand) served as collateral for liabilities.

(26) Trade receivables

The carrying amount of trade receivables is derived as follows:

€’000 Dec. 31. 2023 Dec. 31. 2022

Trade receivables Gross 7,836 10,280

Less value adjustments -1,190 -2,620

Trade receivables 6,646 7,660

As at the reporting date, there are no receivables that will be assigned as part of factoring in the 

following reporting year. In the financial year, uncollectible receivables amounting to EUR 834 

thousand (previous year: EUR 424 thousand) were derecognized through other operating expenses. 

The age structure of trade receivables as at the balance sheet date is as follows: 

€’000 Book value

0 – 30 Tage
sowie noch 
nicht fällig

30 – 60 Tage 60 – 90 Tage > 90 Tage

Dec. 31. 2023

Gross trade receivables 7,836 5,829 862 122 1,023

Trade receivables -1,190 -58 -216 -66 -850

Gross trade 
receivables 6,646

€’000 Buchwert 0 – 30 30 - 60 Tage 60 – 90 Tage > 90 Tage

Dec. 31. 2022

Gross trade receivables 10,280 4,894 672 158 4,557

Value adjustments -2,620 -79 -202 -106 -2,233

Trade receivables 7,660
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With regard to receivables that were neither impaired nor overdue, there were no indications as at 

the balance sheet date that the debtors would not meet their payment obligations.

Expenses from value adjustments and write-offs of trade receivables are reported under other 

operating expenses. Income from the receipt of derecognized receivables is reported under other 

operating income. 

(27) Other current assets

Other current financial assets include

Dec. 31. 2023

€’000 AC FVPL FVOCI Summe

Other current financial assets

Purchase price retention from factoring 1,600 0 0 1,600

Creditors with debit balances 973 0 0 973

CHF-Devisentermin 0 925 0 925

Receivables from related parties 1,195 0 0 1,195

Purchase price receivables 500  0 0 500

Other current financial assets 4,268 925 0 5,193

Dec. 31. 2023

€’000 AC FVPL FVOCI

Other current financial assets

Purchase price retention from factoring 724 0 0 724

Creditors with debit balances 1,888 0 0 1,888

Receivables from related parties 1,294 0 0 1,294

Outstanding payment into the capital reserve 319 0 0 319

CHF-Devisentermin 0 964 0 964

Other current financial assets 4,225 964 0 5,189
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The overdue amounts of other current financial assets were as follows as at the balance sheet date:

€’000 Book value of which neither impaired nor past due of which overdue but not impaired as 

follows

€’000 Book value

of which neither 
impaired nor  

past due of which overdue but not impaired as follows

Dec. 31. 2023 0 – 30 days 30 – 60 days 60 – 90 days > 90 days

Other current financial 

assets 5,193 5,193 0 0 0 0

Dec. 31. 2022 0 – 30 days 30 – 60 days 60 – 90 days > 90 days

Other current financial 

assets 5,189 5,189 0 0 0 0

DieOther current financial assets include a loan receivable of EUR 1,195 thousand from Frers GmbH 

& Co KG (formerly: Frers Grundstücksverwaltungs GmbH & Co. KG) (related party).  For further infor-

mation, please refer to the section “Related party disclosures”. With regard to CHF forward exchange 

transactions, please refer to the information in the section “Management of risks from financial 

instruments - foreign currency risks”.

With regard to other current financial and non-financial assets, there were no indications as at 

December 31, 2023 that significant payment defaults would occur. 

(28) Contract assets

The contract assets result from customer-specific products already manufactured by paragon. 

Contract assets are reclassified to trade receivables if the claim to payment is unconditional. This is 

essentially the case when the company has delivered the products to the customer.

(29) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash in hand and bank balances are recognized at their carrying amount. Cash and cash equiva-

lents include EUR 5 thousand (previous year: EUR 8 thousand) in cash on hand and EUR 3,204 thou-

sand (previous year: EUR 18,098 thousand) in bank balances. The development of cash and cash 

equivalents is shown in the consolidated cash flow statement. There are no restrictions on disposal 

within the meaning of IAS 7.48.
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(30) Equity

The development of the individual components of equity for the financial year from January 1 to 

December 31, 2022 and for the reporting period from January 1 to December 31, 2023 is shown in 

the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Share capital

The share capital of paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA amounted to EUR 4,526 thousand as at December 31, 

2023 (previous year: EUR 4,526 thousand) and is divided into 4,526,266 no-par value bearer shares 

with a notional interest in the share capital of EUR 1.00 each. There is no change compared to the 

previous year. No treasury shares are held.

Conditional capital

Conditional Capital 2021/I in accordance with the resolution of the Annual General Meeting on 

August 31, 2021

By resolution of the Annual General Meeting on 31 August 2021, the general partner was author-

ized, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to issue bearer or registered bonds with war-

rants and/or convertible bonds or a combination of these instruments (hereinafter also referred 

to collectively as “bonds”) on one or more occasions up to and including 30 August 2026 in a total 

nominal amount of up to EUR 150.000,000.00 with a maximum term of 10 years and to grant the 

holders or creditors (hereinafter collectively referred to as “holders”) of convertible bonds or bonds 

with warrants conversion or option rights to up to a total of 2,263,133 new no-par value bearer 

shares in the company in accordance with the terms and conditions of the bonds. The bonds can be 

issued against cash contributions, but also against contributions in kind, in particular investments 

in other companies. In the case of bonds with warrants, they may also be issued against non-cash 

contributions if the terms and conditions of the warrants provide for the option price per company 

share to be paid in full in cash upon exercise. The respective terms and conditions of the bonds 

may also establish a conversion or option obligation for the holders at the end of the term or at 

another time or provide for the right of the company to grant the holders of the bonds shares in 

the company in whole or in part instead of payment of the cash amount due upon maturity of the 

bonds associated with a conversion or option right (this also includes maturity due to termination). 

In the reporting period, there was no increase in share capital due to the exercise of option rights 

from the company’s share option plan. 
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Authorized capital

Authorized capital 2021/I in accordance with the resolution of the Annual General Meeting on 

August 31, 2021

By resolution of the Annual General Meeting on 31 August 2021, the general partner was author-

ized, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to increase the company’s share capital on one or 

more occasions up to and including 30 August 2026 by up to a total of EUR 2,263,133.00 by issu-

ing up to 2,263,133 new no-par value ordinary bearer shares (Authorized Capital 2021/I) in return 

for cash and/or non-cash contributions. The shareholders must generally be granted subscription 

rights. The statutory subscription right can also be granted if the new shares are underwritten by 

a syndicate of banks with the obligation to offer them indirectly to shareholders for subscrip-

tion within the meaning of Section 186 (5) AktG. However, the Executive Board or management is 

authorized, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to exclude shareholders’ statutory sub-

scription rights in defined cases.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve remained unchanged at EUR 15,485 thousand as at December 31, 2023 (previ-

ous year: EUR 15,485 thousand). 

In order to comply with the requirement to recognize actuarial gains and losses from pension pro-

visions directly in equity in accordance with IAS 19 “Employee Benefits”, the actuarial gains are 

reclassified to the revaluation reserve. 

Dividend

No dividend was distributed by paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA in the financial year. No dividend will be 

proposed to the Annual General Meeting for the reporting period ending December 31, 2023.

(31) Leasing liabilities

The recognition of the lease liability comprises the present value of the lease payments not yet 

made as at the provision date. Discounting is based on the underlying constant interest rate. If this 

is not available, paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA uses an incremental borrowing rate, which is used as the 

basis for comparable lease financing. The range of interest rates is 4.86% to 8.79% for operating and 

office equipment. The interest expense from lease liabilities for the 2023 financial year amounts 

to EUR 1,214 thousand (previous year: EUR 903 thousand). The rental expenses from unrecognized 

low-value and short-term leases recognized in other expenses are insignificant. 

The carrying amount of the lease liability is increased by the interest expense and reduced by pay-

ments made as at the reporting date. A revaluation of the lease liability is recognized immediately. 

In the reporting year, cash outflows for leases amounted to EUR 4,379 thousand (previous year: EUR 

4,072 thousand).
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€’000
Remaining term  

< 1 year
Remaining term between  

1 and 5 years
Remaining term  

> 5 years Dec. 31, 2023 Dec. 31, 2022

Minimum lease payments 3,588 7,366 3,308 14,262 17,017

of which future interest payments -630 -1.481 -506 -2,617 -2,928

Liabilities from leases
(repayment portion) 2,958 5,885 2,802 11,645 14,089

of which reported under non-current liabilities 8,687 9.710

of which reported under current liabilities 2,958 4,379

The development of right-of-use assets can be found in the section “Development of Group fixed 

assets”. 

(32) Loans

Current and non-current liabilities to banks total EUR 13,873 thousand (previous year: EUR 37,864 

thousand). 

Liabilities to banks are secured by non-financial assets in the form of land charges for liabilities 

from loans in the amount of EUR 9,250 thousand (previous year: EUR 7,309 thousand) and by the 

assignment of property, plant and equipment as security in the amount of EUR 573 thousand (pre-

vious year: EUR 2,092 thousand). 

Liabilities to banks have a term of: 

€’000
Remaining term  

< 1 year
Remaining term between  

1 and 5 years
Remaining term  

> 5 years Dec. 31, 2023 Dec. 31, 2022

Liabilities to banks, etc. 7,872 3,513 2,488 13,873 37,864

of which reported under non-current liabilities 6,001 7,313

of which reported under current liabilities 7,872 30,550

There is no interest rate risk for the fixed loans (see section “Financial result”).

The liabilities are allocated to the IFRS 9 measurement category AC. 
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(33) Bonds

On June 28, 2017, the company issued an unsubordinated and unsecured bearer bond with a nom-

inal volume of EUR 50,000 thousand. The bond is listed and traded on the OTC market of the Frank-

furt Stock Exchange (WKN: A2GSB8). The bond has an interest coupon of 6.75% in 2023 (plus a PIK 

component of 2.5%) and a basic term until July 5, 2027. In 2023, the nominal amount was reduced 

by EUR 4,789 thousand from EUR 50,000 thousand to EUR 45,211 thousand. This means that the 

outstanding nominal volume amounts to EUR 45,211 thousand as at December 31, 2023.

The treasury stock at the end of the previous year amounted to EUR 3.1 million and was deducted 

from the repayment amount. The same applies to the treasury stock in the amount of EUR 0.1 

million as at December 31, 2023. The carrying amount of the bond as at the balance sheet date 

was EUR 46,987 thousand (previous year: EUR 49,003 thousand) including the accrued interest 

liability for the 2023 financial year in the amount of EUR 2,090 thousand (previous year: EUR 2,332 

thousand). 

On April 23, 2019, the company issued a bearer bond traded on the SIX Swiss Exchange with a 

nominal volume of CHF 35.0 million (WKN: A2TR8X). The interest coupon was 4.0% and the term 

of the bond was 4 years until 23 April 2023. A partial repayment of CHF 5.25 million was made in 

2021 and a partial repayment of CHF 8.75 million in 2022. The nominal volume thus amounted to 

CHF 21.00 million as at the balance sheet date of 31 December 2022. The treasury stock of CHF 2.9 

million was deducted from the repayment amount at the end of the prior-year period. This finan-

cial instrument was measured at the repayment amount of EUR 18,563 thousand in the previous 

year’s financial statements and reported under current bonds in liabilities. Interest expenses of 

EUR 502 thousand were accrued as at the previous year’s balance sheet date and reported under 

bond liabilities. The bond was repaid in full in April 2023 and was therefore valued at zero as at the 

balance sheet date.

The bonds are allocated to the IFRS 9 measurement category AC. 

(34) Provisions for pensions

In accordance with IAS 19 (revised) “Employee Benefits”, a provision was recognized at paragon for 

a defined benefit plan. The paragon Group has pension commitments to two persons. The pension 

provisions exist for pension commitments to the management member Klaus Dieter Frers in the 

amount of EUR 1,832 thousand (previous year: EUR 1,876 thousand) and a further commitment to 

a former managing director of a subsidiary in the amount of EUR 525 thousand (previous year: EUR 

507 thousand). 
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The commitment to Klaus Dieter Frers is, on the one hand, an individual fixed amount commit-

ment based on the age of 65, which was defined in individual contracts. In addition to this existing 

pension agreement, a new commitment was made in the 2005 financial year. This is an individual 

contractual commitment based on the age of 65, which is based on length of service and salary 

level. Based on a resolution by the Supervisory Board on August 31, 2009, pension obligations of 

EUR 794 thousand and the corresponding plan assets of EUR 1,425 thousand were partially trans-

ferred to the HDI Gerling pension fund in the 2010 financial year. By resolution of the Supervisory 

Board on December 10, 2013, a further partial spin-off of pension obligations in the amount of EUR 

1,453 thousand to Allianz Pensionsfonds AG took place in the 2013 financial year. With these partial 

outsourcings, paragon’s liability for the outsourced obligations expires.

The former managing director of a subsidiary received ongoing pension payments from a subsid-

iary of paragon in 2023. There was a reinsurance policy to secure the pension commitment. As at 

the balance sheet date, there is a claim of EUR 436 thousand against a leading German insurance 

company corresponding to the amount of the maturity benefit of the insurance. This claim is rec-

ognized as plan assets in the amount of EUR 436 thousand. In the previous year, this claim war 

reported under other current assets.

The actuarial calculations are based on the following assumptions:

in % Dec. 31, 2023 Dec. 31, 2022

Discount rates 3.19-3.50 1.10-4.15

Pension dynamics 2.00 2.00

Increases or decreases in the present value of defined benefit obligations may result in actuarial 

gains or losses that affect the amount of equity and whose causes may include changes in the cal-

culation parameters and changes in estimates regarding the risk experience of the pension obliga-

tions. The net value of the provisions for pensions can be derived as follows:

Present value of the defined benefit obligation:

€’000 Dec. 31, 2023 Dec. 31, 2022

Present value of the benefit obligation at the beginning of the year 2,385 3,382

Interest expense 78 33

Payments -32 -32

Actuarial gains (-), losses (+) -73 -997

Due to the change in financial assumptions: 
Present value of the defined benefit  
obligation as at the reporting date

 

2,357

 

2,385
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The actuarial gains incurred in the 2023 financial year were recognized directly in equity in the 

revaluation reserve in accordance with IAS 19. Changes in demographic assumptions did not affect 

the amount of actuarial gains or losses in the reporting year.

Net value of the recognized benefit obligation:

€’000 Dec. 31, 2023 Dec. 31, 2022

Present value of the defined benefit obligation 2,357 2,383

Less fair value of plan assets -436 0

Unfunded benefit obligation as at the reporting date 1,921 2,383

The net value developed as follows:

€’000 Dec. 31, 2023 Dec. 31, 2022

Unfunded benefit obligation at the beginning of the year 2,383 2,931

Pension expense 47 449

Actuarial gains (-), losses (+) -73 -997

Unfunded benefit obligation as at the reporting date 2,357 2,383

The following amounts were recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income:

€’000 Dec. 31, 2023 Dec. 31, 2022

Interest expense 79 33

Losses from settlements 14 417

Actuarial gains (-), losses (+) -73 -997

Pension expense/income 21 -547

The actuarial gains and losses for the reporting year and previous years were recognized in full in 

other comprehensive income. 

The pension obligations to the Managing Director Klaus Dieter Frers are still in the vesting phase. 

Significant changes in the value of pension provisions generally only result from changes in the 

interest rate. 
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Information on sensitivities and risks: 

The sensitivity analysis for the pension provision by Klaus Dieter Frers provides the following values:

€’000 Dec. 31, 2023 Dec. 31, 2022

DBO as at Dec. 31, 2023 Interest rate 2.94 %  

(previous year interest rate 3.01 %)

1,887 1,933

DBO as at Dec. 31, 2023 Interest rate 3.44 %  

(previous year interest rate 3.51 %)

1,780 1,821

DBO as at Dec. 31, 2023 Pension dynamics 1.75 %  

(previous year: pension dynamics 1.75 %)

1,781 1,822

DBO as at Dec. 31, 2023 Pension dynamics 2.25 %  

(previous year: pension dynamics 2.25 %)

1,886 1,932

The sensitivity analysis for the pension provision for the former managing director of a subsidiary 

provides the following values:

€’000 Dec. 31, 2023 Dec. 31, 2022

DBO as at Dec. 31, 2023 Interest rate 3.00 %  

(previous year interest rate 3.65 %)

499 534

DBO as at Dec. 31, 2022 Interest rate 4.00 %  

(previous year interest rate 4.65 %)

553 482

Sensitivities to salary dynamics are not shown, as there have been no salary dynamics since the 

2010 service year. There are no significant extraordinary or company-specific risks in relation to 

the reported pension provisions.

(35) Other provisions

Other provisions are only due within one year and developed as follows: 

€’000 Jan. 01, 2023 Utilization Resolution Feed Dec. 31, 2023

Guarantees, goodwill and warranty 273 273 0 453 453

Other remaining provisions 0 0 0 35 35

Other provisions 273 273 0 453 488

(36) Income tax liabilities

This relates to trade tax and corporation tax for previous reporting periods in the amount of EUR 

236 thousand (previous year: EUR 288 thousand) and trade tax and corporation tax for the current 

period in the amount of EUR 378 thousand (previous year: EUR 0 thousand).
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(37) Other financial liabilities

To improve the presentation of other liabilities, these were broken down into other financial liabil-

ities and other non-financial liabilities in the reporting year.

Other financial liabilities developed as follows:

€’000
Remaining term 

< 1 year
Remaining term between 

1 and 5 years
Remaining term 

> 5 years Dec. 31, 2023 Dec. 31, 2022

Other financial liabilities 2.632 2.205 0 4.837 3.004

of which reported under non-current liabilities 2.205 1.375

of which reported under current liabilities 2.632 1.629

These are liabilities from sale and lease back agreements. However, the transfer of the assets did 

not result in a sale in accordance with IFRS 15, meaning that the liability is recognized in accord-

ance with IFRS 9.

(38) Other non-financial liabilities

To improve the presentation of other liabilities, these were broken down into other financial liabil-

ities and other non-financial liabilities in the reporting year.

€’000 Dec. 31, 2023 Dec. 31, 2022

Other non-financial liabilities

Liablities to employees (vacation not taken, overtime and bonuses) 4,161 2,699

Liabilities to social security funds 871 599

 Liabilities from other taxes 382 11,275 

Other liabilities 2,160 1,351

Other non-financial liabilities 7,575 15,924

Other non-financial liabilities are mainly current liabilities from taxes, vacation and provisions for 

bonus payments. Other current liabilities also include social security liabilities and debtors with 

credit balances. 
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The other non-financial liabilities have a term of:

€’000
Remaining term 

< 1 year
Remaining term between 

1 and 5 years
Remaining term 

> 5 years Dec. 31, 2023 Dec. 31, 2022

Other financial liabilities 7,575 0 0 7,575 15,924

of which reported under non-current liabilities 0 0

of which reported under current liabilities 7,575 15,924

Partial retirement provision

As at the reporting date, there were partial retirement obligations to two employees of paragon 

GmbH & Co. KGaA in accordance with individual agreements on the basis of the German Partial 

Retirement Act (AltTZG) as a block model. An actuarial interest rate of 3.3% (previous year: 3.7%) 

was used for the calculation. Salary growth and fluctuation were assumed to remain unchanged 

from the previous year at 0.0%. Pension growth of 2.50 % (previous year: 2.50 %) was taken into 

account. This results in a benefit obligation of EUR 604 thousand as at the reporting date (previ-

ous year: EUR 355 thousand).

(39) Additional information on financial instruments

This section provides a summarized overview of paragon’s financial instruments. 

The following overview summarizes the carrying amounts of the financial instruments included in 

the consolidated financial statements according to the measurement categories of IFRS 9:

€’000 Dec. 31, 2023 Dec. 31, 2022

Financial assets

 Measured at amortized cost 14,580 30,459

 Measured at fair value through profit or loss 925 964

 Measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 0 0

15,505 31,423

Financial liabilities

 Measured at amortized cost 90,069 133,384

 Erfolgswirksam zum beizulegenden Zeitwert bewertet 0 0

90,069 133,384
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paragon did not carry out any reclassifications between these categories in the 2023 financial year. 

The carrying amounts and fair values of current and non-current financial assets and financial 

liabilities as at the reporting date were as follows

Dec. 31, 2023 AC FVPL FVOCI

€’000 BW FV BW FV BW FV

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3,209 3,209 0 0 0 0

Trade receivables 6,646 6,646 0 0 0 0

Other non-current financial assets 456 456 0 0 0 0

Other current financial assets (without derivates) 4,268 4,268 0 0 0 0

Derivates 0 0 925 925 0 0

Total assets 14,580 14,580 925 925 0 0 

Liabilities

Loans 13,873 13,873 0 0 0 0

Bonds 46,987 33,370 0 0 0 0

Liabilities from deliveries and services 24,374 24,374 0 0 0 0

Other financial liabilities 4,836 4,836 0 0 0 0

Total liabilities 90,069 76,453 0 0 0 0 

Dec. 31, 2022 AC FVPL FVOCI

€’000 BW FV BW FV BW FV

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 18,106 18,106 0 0 0 0

Trade receivables 7,660 7,660 0 0 0 0

Other non-current financial assets 468 468 0 0 0 0

Other current financial assets (without derivates) 4,225 4,225 0 0 0 0

Derivates   964 964 0 0

Total assets 30,459 30,459 964 964 0 0 

Liabilities

Liabilities to banks (loans) 37,864 37,864 0 0 0 0

Bonds 67,566 40,011 0 0 0 0

Liabilities from deliveries and services 24,950 24,950 0 0 0 0

Other financial liabilities 3,004 3,004 0 0 0 0

Total liabilities 133,384 105,828 0 0 0 0 
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Cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables measured at amortized cost, purchase price reten-

tions from factoring, creditors with debit balances, contract assets, purchase price receivables, trade 

payables and the remaining other financial assets and liabilities mainly have short residual terms. 

For these financial instruments with short maturities, the carrying amount represents a reasonable 

approximation of the fair value. The same applies to loans to banks. These are either short-term 

in nature or secured by first-ranking collateral (land charges). The level used to determine the fair 

value of these financial instruments is not disclosed separately.

The fair value of the derivatives and the bond is a level 2 fair value. 

paragon does not hold any cash collateral. Credit balances and liabilities to banks are reported 

gross in the consolidated balance sheet. Other account balances with banks can be offset against 

all existing balances and liabilities between the relevant counterparties in the event of insolvency. 

At present, paragon has neither a legal claim to offsetting nor does it intend to settle on a net basis. 

There is no significant potential for offsetting by the parties involved in the event of insolvency.

paragon does not hold any collateral with regard to financial assets.

paragon distinguishes between recoverable and doubtful or non-performing and uncollectible 

financial assets. Recoverable financial assets are written down according to the expected 12-month 

credit loss. Doubtful or non-performing financial assets are written down in the amount of the 

expected credit loss until final maturity. Irrecoverable receivables are recognized as disposals. A 

receivable is considered to be non-performing (definition of default) if there are significant rea-

sons to believe that a debtor will not meet its payment obligations to paragon.
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The following overview summarizes the credit quality and the maximum default risk of the finan-

cial assets measured at amortized cost according to the aforementioned categories:

Dec. 31, 2023
€’000 Credit quality Treatment

Gross carrying 
amount

Value 
adjustment

Net book 
value

Other financial assets recoverable 12-month ECL 5.649 0 5.649

recoverable lifetime ECL 0 0 0

distressed lifetime ECL 0 0 0

  5.649 0 5.649

Trade receivables
lifetime ECL 

simplified 
approach 5.829 -58 5.771

lifetime ECL
simplified 
approach1 2.007 -1.132 875

notleidend lifetime ECL 0 0 0

  7.836 -1.190 6.646

Cash and cash 

equivalents

recoverable 12-month ECL 3.209 0 3.209

recoverable lifetime ECL 0 0 0

distressed lifetime ECL 0 0 0

  3.209 0 3.209

Dec. 31, 2022
€’000 Credit quality Treatment

Gross carrying 
amount

Value 
adjustment

Net book 
value

Other financial assets recoverable 12-month ECL 5.657 0 5.657

recoverable lifetime ECL 0 0 0

distressed lifetime ECL 0 0 0

  5.657 0 5.657

Trade receivables
lifetime ECL 

simplified 
approach 4.894 -79 4.815

lifetime ECL
simplified 
approach1 5.386 -2.541 2.845

notleidend lifetime ECL 0 0 0

  10.280 -2.620 7.660

Cash and cash 

equivalents

recoverable 12-month ECL 18.106 0 18.106

recoverable lifetime ECL 0 0 0

distressed lifetime ECL 0 0 0

  18.106 0 18.106

1  Category 2 requirements          
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paragon recognizes valuation allowances on receivables taking into account past events and 

expectations regarding the future development of credit risk. The balance of the valuation allow-

ances developed as follows:

€’000

Jan. 01, 2023 2,620

Adjustments due to changes  

in credit rating parameters

Increase from revaluation of receivables 0

Reduction due to reversal of impairment losses 165

Adjustments due to changes  

in the gross amount of assets

Reduction due to derecognition of assets -1.595

Increase due to capitalization of assets 0

Dec. 31, 2023 1,190

€’000

Jan. 01, 2022 2,813

Adjustments due to changes  

in credit rating parameters

Increase from revaluation of receivables 0

Reduction due to reversal of impairment losses 0

Adjustments due to changes  

in the gross amount of assets

Reduction due to derecognition of assets -193

Increase due to capitalization of assets

Dec. 31, 2022 2,620

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and bank balances. paragon invests cash and 

cash equivalents exclusively with banks with the highest credit ratings and probabilities of default 

close to zero. For reasons of materiality, no valuation allowance was recognized. In the event of a 

significant increase in the probability of default, the Group companies are instructed to withdraw 

cash and cash equivalents immediately. For this reason, cash and cash equivalents are either clas-

sified as recoverable (12-month ECL) or irrecoverable (lifetime ECL). 

In accordance with the simplified approach under IFRS 9.5.5.15, allowances for trade receivables 

are consistently measured at the expected credit loss until final maturity. When determining the 

value adjustment, the receivables are divided into risk categories and assigned different impair-

ment rates. Receivables are written off if a debtor is in serious financial difficulties and there is no 

prospect of recovery. Impairment is carried out in three different categories. Category 1 comprises 

receivables that are not due and receivables with a maturity of 0-30 days. These receivables are 

generally written down by 1%. Category 2 comprises receivables with a maturity of 31-60 days 

and these receivables are impaired by up to 25%. Receivables with a maturity of 61-90 days are 

impaired by up to 50%. Receivables with a due date of more than 90 days are impaired by up to 

75%. Category 3 comprises irrecoverable receivables, which are generally written down by up to 

100%. 

Companies in the paragon Group determine the default risk according to individual approaches, 

taking into account country- and business unit-specific risks. In doing so, the companies draw on 

data from Schufa, historical default rates and customer-specific forward-looking credit risk anal-

yses, among other things. 
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(40) Management of risks from financial instruments

Market price fluctuations can lead to considerable cash flow and profit risks for paragon. Changes 

in exchange rates and interest rates affect both the operating business and investment and 

financing activities. In order to optimize the financial resources within the Group, the risks arising 

from the development of interest rates and exchange rates are continuously analyzed and thus 

the ongoing business and financial market activities are managed and monitored. 

Price fluctuations in currencies and interest rates can result in significant profit and cash flow risks. 

For this reason, paragon centralizes these risks as far as possible and then manages them pro-

actively, possibly also through the use of derivative financial instruments. As part of the overall 

risk management system, the management of these risks is a central task of the management of 

paragon GmbH & Co. 

From various methods of risk analysis and risk management, paragon has implemented an inter-

nal system of sensitivity analysis. Sensitivity analysis enables the Group to identify risk positions 

in the business units. The sensitivity analysis quantifies the risk that can be realized within the 

given assumptions if certain parameters are changed to a defined extent. This is based on the fol-

lowing assumptions:

• an appreciation of the euro against all foreign currencies by 10 percentage points

• a parallel shift of the yield curves by 100 basis points (1 percentage point)

The potential effects from the sensitivity analysis are estimates and are based on the assumption 

that the assumed negative market changes will occur. The actual effects may differ significantly 

due to deviating market developments.

Foreign currency risks

paragon is exposed to foreign currency risks as part of its ongoing business activities. The company 

can use derivative financial instruments in individual cases to limit foreign currency risks. Exchange 

rate fluctuations can lead to undesirable fluctuations in earnings and liquidity. For paragon, the 

currency risk arises from foreign currency positions and possible changes in the corresponding 

exchange rates. The uncertainty of future developments is referred to as exchange rate risk. para-

gon limits the risk by invoicing purchases and sales of goods and services primarily in the respec-

tive local currency.

paragon determines the sensitivity to fluctuations in foreign currencies by aggregating the net 

currency position of the operating business that is not presented in the Group’s functional cur-

rency. The sensitivity is calculated by simulating a 10% devaluation of the euro against the foreign 

currencies. If future purchases are not hedged against currency risks, a devaluation of the euro 

against other currencies would have a negative impact on the Group’s financial and earnings posi-

tion, as foreign currency outflows exceed foreign currency inflows.



The following table provides an overview of the net foreign currency risk on trade payables by the 

individual main currencies:

Dec. 31, 2023 Dec. 31, 2022

€’000 USD Other USD Other

Transaction-related foreign currency 
risk 4,617 842 4,137 254

Foreign currency risk  

from balance sheet items 4,617 842 4,137 254

Foreign currency risk  

from pending transactions 0 0 0 0

Net exposure  
foreign currency positions 4,617 842 4,137 254

Change in foreign currency positions  

due to 10% appreciation of the euro 462 84 414 25

In the previous year, there was a foreign currency risk from the issue of the CHF-denominated 

bond with a nominal volume of CHF 18.04 million. In the previous year, the Swiss franc liabilities 

were translated at an exchange rate of CHF 1.01018/EUR. Accumulated over the term of the bond, 

TCHF 18.50 was outstanding (converted at the closing rate of EUR 18,692 thousand). If the Swiss 

franc had appreciated by 10% to CHF 1.11120/EUR, this would have led to an additional expense of 

EUR 1,869 thousand. In addition to the public buyback offer in January 2023, the final repayment 

of the outstanding amount including the interest payment was made in April 2023.

As at December 31, 2023, the company had four derivative financial instruments (Swiss franc for-

wards) with a nominal volume of CHF 72,800 thousand. There is no hedge relationship with the 

bond; accordingly, the derivatives are measured at fair value through profit or loss (positive market 

value) in the total amount of EUR 925 thousand (previous year: EUR 964 thousand). Of these, two 

derivatives have a positive market value of EUR 6,705 thousand (previous year: EUR 5,103 thousand) 

and three offsetting derivatives have a market value of EUR -5,781 thousand (previous year: EUR 

-4,140 thousand). Derivatives with the same remaining term are reported on a net basis. However, 

the strict requirements of a hedging relationship in the sense of hedge accounting are not met. 
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Interest rate risks

Interest rate risk comprises any impact of a change in interest rates on earnings and equity. Inter-

est rate risk mainly exists in connection with financial liabilities.

Interest-bearing financial liabilities are mainly liabilities for which a fixed interest rate has been 

agreed. Changes in the interest rate would only have an effect here if these financial instruments 

were recognized at fair value. As this is not the case, the financial instruments with fixed interest 

rates are not subject to interest rate risks within the meaning of IFRS 7.

For financial liabilities with variable interest rates, the interest rate risk is generally measured using 

cash flow sensitivity. At the end of the reporting period on December 31, 2023, the paragon Group 

held EUR 0 thousand (previous year: EUR 0 thousand) in financial liabilities with variable interest 

rates. A sensitivity analysis is not necessary.

Liquidity risks

The liquidity risk, i.e. the risk that paragon may not be able to meet its financial obligations, is lim-

ited by flexible cash management and continuous cash flow planning. The most important objec-

tive is to ensure a minimum level of liquidity in order to guarantee solvency at all times. As at 

December 31, 2023, cash and cash equivalents amounting to EUR 3,209 thousand (previous year: 

EUR 18,106 thousand) were available. Free overdraft facilities of EUR 146 thousand (previous year: 

EUR 127 thousand) were available as at December 31, 2023. In addition to the above-mentioned 

instruments for securing liquidity, the Group continuously monitors developments on the financial 

markets in order to take advantage of any favorable financing opportunities that arise.

The following table shows the maturity structure of the non-derivative financial liabilities recog-

nized as at 31 December 2023

€’000 2023 2024-2027
2028  

and afterwards

Non-derivative financial liabilities 
(without lease liabilities)

Liabilities from bonds 22,566 45,000 0

Liabilities to banks 30,550 3,644 3,670

Liabilities from deliveries and services 24,950 0 0

Other financial liabilities 3,004 0 0

Non-derivative financial liabilities 81,070 48,644 3,670
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Net liquidity or net debt results from the sum of cash and cash equivalents less liabilities to banks 

and lease liabilities as reported in the balance sheet.

€’000 Dec. 31, 2023 Dec. 31, 2022

Cash and cash equivalents 3,209 18,106

Total liquidity 3,209 18,106

Current and non-current bonds 46.987 59,125

Current and non-current loans 13.873 63,398

Total financial liabilities 60.859 122,523

Net debt in accordance with terms and conditions of EUR bond  -57.650 -104,416

This value is the numerator for determining the net leverage ratio in accordance with Section 3 (a) ii) 

of the terms and conditions of the bond as amended by the resolutions of the bondholders’ meeting 

on March 10, 2022. The net gearing ratio is calculated from the sum of the issuer’s interest-bearing 

liabilities to banks and bondholders plus the bond interest accrued as at the balance sheet date less 

cash and cash equivalents, the sum thus calculated divided by EBITDA.

Credit risks

A credit risk is defined as a financial loss that arises if a contractual partner fails to meet its pay-

ment obligations. The maximum default risk is therefore equal to the book value. The effective 

monitoring and management of credit risks is a key task of the risk management system. paragon 

carries out credit checks for all customers with credit requirements that exceed certain defined 

limits. The Group monitors the credit risk on an ongoing basis.
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(41) Capital management

The primary objective of capital management is to maintain an appropriate equity ratio. The cap-

ital structure is managed and adjusted in line with changes in the economic environment. No fun-

damental changes were made to the objectives, methods and processes of capital management in 

the financial year to December 31, 2023.

Capital management relates exclusively to the equity of paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA shown in the 

balance sheet. Please refer to the statement of changes in equity for information on changes in 

equity.

As part of the financing provided by lending banks, paragon is not obliged to comply with financial 

covenants in the reporting period until December 31, 2023.

As part of the CHF bond issue, paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA had undertaken to comply with an equity 

ratio of 10% (IFRS consolidated financial statements). This was not met as at the previous year’s 

reporting date (December 31, 2022). The CHF bond was repaid in full as scheduled in April 2023.  

(42)  Contingent liabilities, contingent assets and liabilities 
and other financial obligations

As at December 31, 2023, there were no contingent liabilities or unrecognised contingent assets or 

contingent liabilities. Other financial obligations are as follows:

€’000
Remaining term

< 1 year

Remaining term 
between

1 and 5 years
Remaining term

> 5 years Dec. 31, 2023 Dec. 31, 2022

Order commitment 68,486 129 0 68,615 87,387

Obligations from tenancies 498 1,004 0 1,502 247

Other obligations 508 0 0 508 665

Other financial obligations 69,492 1,133 0 70,626 88,299

Purchase commitments comprise purchase order items from fixed assets and inventories.
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(43) Development of Group fixed assets

Consolidated statement of changes in fixed assets as at December 31, 2023

Acquisition costs Depreciation and Amortization Carrying amounts

€’000 Jan. 01, 2023
Exchange  

rate change Additions Disposals Dec. 31, 2023 Jan. 01, 2023 Additions
Impairment 

acc. IAS 36/38 Disposals Dec. 31, 2023 Dec. 31, 2023 Dec. 31, 2022

Intangible assets 46,502 0 5,032 57 51,478 32,585 3,719 0 6 36,299 15,179 13,917

Licenses, patents, software, customer list 45,760 0 3,569 1,773 47,557 22,324 6,519 187 0 29,031 18,526 23,436

Capitalized development expenses 7,745 0 0 0 7,745 2,000 0 0 0 2,000 5,745 5,745

Goodwill 7 0 0 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 7 7

Advance payments for intangible assets 100,015 0 8,601 1,830 106,786 56,910 10,238 187 6 67,330 39,457 43,105

Total intangible assets

Rights of use

Land and buildings 9,554 0 70 25 9,599 1,873 1,627 0 25 3,473 6,126 7,682

Technical equipment and machinery 8,645 0 607 1,131 8,121 4,946 1,997 0 1,131 5,810 2,311 3,699

Other equipment, operating and office equipment 852 0 278 327 803 462 266 0 323 404 399 390

Total rights of use 19,051 0 956 1,483 18,523 7,281 3,890 0 1,480 9,688 8,836 11,771

Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings 13,925 0 36 0 13,961 1,937 352 0 0 2,289 11,672 11,988

Technical equipment and machinery 37,742 0 469 325 37,886 34,960 1,232 0 140 36,052 1,834 2,782

Other equipment, operating and office equipment 16,154 -83 291 119 16,243 13,742 720 0 11 14,451 1,793 2,412

Advance payments made 2,596 0 920 210 3,306 721 0 0 0 721 2,585 1,875

Total property, plant and equipment 70,417 -83 1,717 654 71,396 51,360 2,303 0 149 53,512 17,883 19,057

Financial assets

Investments accounted for using the equity method 1,522 0 0 0 1,522 0 0 0 0 0 1,522 1,522

Shares in associated companies 120 0 0 0 120 0 0 0 0 0 120 120

Total financial assets 1,642 0 0 0 1,642 0 0 0 0 0 1,642 1,642

 

Total 191,126 -83 11,274 3,967 198,348 115,551 16,432 187 1,635 130,530 67,818 75,577
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Acquisition costs Depreciation and Amortization Carrying amounts

€’000 Jan. 01, 2023
Exchange  

rate change Additions Disposals Dec. 31, 2023 Jan. 01, 2023 Additions
Impairment 

acc. IAS 36/38 Disposals Dec. 31, 2023 Dec. 31, 2023 Dec. 31, 2022

Intangible assets 46,502 0 5,032 57 51,478 32,585 3,719 0 6 36,299 15,179 13,917

Licenses, patents, software, customer list 45,760 0 3,569 1,773 47,557 22,324 6,519 187 0 29,031 18,526 23,436

Capitalized development expenses 7,745 0 0 0 7,745 2,000 0 0 0 2,000 5,745 5,745

Goodwill 7 0 0 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 7 7

Advance payments for intangible assets 100,015 0 8,601 1,830 106,786 56,910 10,238 187 6 67,330 39,457 43,105

Total intangible assets

Rights of use

Land and buildings 9,554 0 70 25 9,599 1,873 1,627 0 25 3,473 6,126 7,682

Technical equipment and machinery 8,645 0 607 1,131 8,121 4,946 1,997 0 1,131 5,810 2,311 3,699

Other equipment, operating and office equipment 852 0 278 327 803 462 266 0 323 404 399 390

Total rights of use 19,051 0 956 1,483 18,523 7,281 3,890 0 1,480 9,688 8,836 11,771

Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings 13,925 0 36 0 13,961 1,937 352 0 0 2,289 11,672 11,988

Technical equipment and machinery 37,742 0 469 325 37,886 34,960 1,232 0 140 36,052 1,834 2,782

Other equipment, operating and office equipment 16,154 -83 291 119 16,243 13,742 720 0 11 14,451 1,793 2,412

Advance payments made 2,596 0 920 210 3,306 721 0 0 0 721 2,585 1,875

Total property, plant and equipment 70,417 -83 1,717 654 71,396 51,360 2,303 0 149 53,512 17,883 19,057

Financial assets

Investments accounted for using the equity method 1,522 0 0 0 1,522 0 0 0 0 0 1,522 1,522

Shares in associated companies 120 0 0 0 120 0 0 0 0 0 120 120

Total financial assets 1,642 0 0 0 1,642 0 0 0 0 0 1,642 1,642

 

Total 191,126 -83 11,274 3,967 198,348 115,551 16,432 187 1,635 130,530 67,818 75,577
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Consolidated statement of changes1 in fixed assets as at December 31, 2022

Acquisition costs

€’000 Jan. 01, 2022 IFRS 5 Currency change Additions Departures Rebookings Dec. 31, 2022 Reclassifications Dec. 31, 2022

Intangible assets

Licenses, patents, software, customer list 57,771 11,167 0 306 408 0 46,502 0 46,502

Capitalized development expenses 52,140 8,123 0 4,742 1,500 -1,500 45,759 1 45,760

Goodwill 23,875 16,130 0 0 0 0 7,745 0 7,745

Advance payments for intangible assets 6 0 0 0 0 0 6 1 7

Total intangible assets 133,793 35,420 0 5,048 1,908 -1,500 100,012 2 100,015

Rights of use  

Land and buildings 2,780 0 0 3,027 0 0 5,807 3,747 9,554

Technical equipment and machinery 2,642 0 0 904 0 0 3,546 5,099 8,645

Other equipment, operating and office equipment 1,585 0 0 1,413 0 0 2,998 -2,146 852

Total rights of use 7,007 0 0 5,344 0 0 12,351 6,700 19,051

Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings 25,820 0 14 0 8,422 0 17,412 -3,487 13,925

Technical equipment and machinery 42,172 7 0 495 2,510 743 40,893 -3,151 37,742

Other equipment, operating and office equipment 16,095 277 34 1,089 958 170 16,153 1 16,154

Advance payments made 2,416 0 0 1,093 0 -913 2,596 0 2,596

Total property, plant and equipment 86,503 284 48 2,677 11,890 0 77,054 -6,637 70,417

Financial assets

Investments accounted for using the equity method 0 0 0 0 0 1,500 1,500 0 1,500

Shares in associated companies and joint ventures 120 1 0 22 0 0 141 1 142

Total financial assets 120 1 0 22 0 1,500 1,641 1 1,642

        

Total 227,423 35,705 48 13,090 13,797 0 191,058 66 191,126

1   Own work capitalized cannot be directly reconciled with the statement of changes in non-current assets  
due to a reclassification from inventories to non-current assets.
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Acquisition costs

€’000 Jan. 01, 2022 IFRS 5 Currency change Additions Departures Rebookings Dec. 31, 2022 Reclassifications Dec. 31, 2022

Intangible assets

Licenses, patents, software, customer list 57,771 11,167 0 306 408 0 46,502 0 46,502

Capitalized development expenses 52,140 8,123 0 4,742 1,500 -1,500 45,759 1 45,760

Goodwill 23,875 16,130 0 0 0 0 7,745 0 7,745

Advance payments for intangible assets 6 0 0 0 0 0 6 1 7

Total intangible assets 133,793 35,420 0 5,048 1,908 -1,500 100,012 2 100,015

Rights of use  

Land and buildings 2,780 0 0 3,027 0 0 5,807 3,747 9,554

Technical equipment and machinery 2,642 0 0 904 0 0 3,546 5,099 8,645

Other equipment, operating and office equipment 1,585 0 0 1,413 0 0 2,998 -2,146 852

Total rights of use 7,007 0 0 5,344 0 0 12,351 6,700 19,051

Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings 25,820 0 14 0 8,422 0 17,412 -3,487 13,925

Technical equipment and machinery 42,172 7 0 495 2,510 743 40,893 -3,151 37,742

Other equipment, operating and office equipment 16,095 277 34 1,089 958 170 16,153 1 16,154

Advance payments made 2,416 0 0 1,093 0 -913 2,596 0 2,596

Total property, plant and equipment 86,503 284 48 2,677 11,890 0 77,054 -6,637 70,417

Financial assets

Investments accounted for using the equity method 0 0 0 0 0 1,500 1,500 0 1,500

Shares in associated companies and joint ventures 120 1 0 22 0 0 141 1 142

Total financial assets 120 1 0 22 0 1,500 1,641 1 1,642

        

Total 227,423 35,705 48 13,090 13,797 0 191,058 66 191,126

1   Own work capitalized cannot be directly reconciled with the statement of changes in non-current assets  
due to a reclassification from inventories to non-current assets.
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Acquisition costs Carrying amounts

€’000 Jan. 01, 2022 IFRS 5
Currency 

 change Additions

Impairment in 
accordance with 

IAS 36/38 Departures Dec. 31, 2022 Reclassifications Dec. 31, 2022 Dec. 31, 2022 Dec. 31, 2021

Intangible assets

Licenses, patents, software, customer list 35,629 5,187 0 2,527 0 384 32,585 0 32,585 13,917 22,142

Capitalized development expenses 19,756 2,764 0 5,014 318 0 22,324 0 22,324 23,436 32,384

Goodwill 2,000 0 0 0 0 0 2,000 0 2,000 5,745 21,875

Advance payments for intangible assets 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 6

Total intangible assets 57,385 7,951 0 7,541 318 384 56,909 0 56,910 43,105 76,408

Rights of use   

Land and buildings 2,172 0 0 766 0 0 2,938 -1,064 1,873 7,682 607

Technical equipment and machinery 1,625 0 0 705 0 0 2,330 2,616 4,946 3,699 1,017

Other equipment, operating  

and office equipment 1,410 0 0 539 0 0 1,949 -1,487 462 390 175

Total rights of use 5,207 0 0 2,010 0 0 7,217 65 7,281 11,771 1,800

Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings 2,889 0 7 644 0 1,603 1,937 0 1,937 11,988 22,931

Technical equipment and machinery 32,859 7 0 3,262 0 1,154 34,960 0 34,960 2,782 9,313

Other equipment, operating  

and office equipment 13,837 264 40 831 0 692 13,742 0 13,742 2,412 2,259

Advance payments made 721 0 0 0 0 0 721 0 721 1,875 1,695

Total property, plant and 
equipment 50,305 271 47 4,737 0 3,449 51,360 0 51,360 19,057 36,198

Financial assets

Investments accounted for  

using the equity method 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,500 0

Shares in associated companies and joint 

ventures -1 0 0 0 0 0 -1 1 0 142 121

Total financial assets -1 0 0 0 0 0 -1 1 0 1,642 121

    

Total 112,896 8,222 47 14,278 318 3,833 115,485 66 115,551 75,577 114,527

1   Own work capitalized cannot be directly reconciled with the statement of changes in non-current assets  
due to a reclassification from inventories to non-current assets.

Consolidated statement of changes1 in fixed assets as at December 31, 2022
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Acquisition costs Carrying amounts

€’000 Jan. 01, 2022 IFRS 5
Currency 

 change Additions

Impairment in 
accordance with 

IAS 36/38 Departures Dec. 31, 2022 Reclassifications Dec. 31, 2022 Dec. 31, 2022 Dec. 31, 2021

Intangible assets

Licenses, patents, software, customer list 35,629 5,187 0 2,527 0 384 32,585 0 32,585 13,917 22,142

Capitalized development expenses 19,756 2,764 0 5,014 318 0 22,324 0 22,324 23,436 32,384

Goodwill 2,000 0 0 0 0 0 2,000 0 2,000 5,745 21,875

Advance payments for intangible assets 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 6

Total intangible assets 57,385 7,951 0 7,541 318 384 56,909 0 56,910 43,105 76,408

Rights of use   

Land and buildings 2,172 0 0 766 0 0 2,938 -1,064 1,873 7,682 607

Technical equipment and machinery 1,625 0 0 705 0 0 2,330 2,616 4,946 3,699 1,017

Other equipment, operating  

and office equipment 1,410 0 0 539 0 0 1,949 -1,487 462 390 175

Total rights of use 5,207 0 0 2,010 0 0 7,217 65 7,281 11,771 1,800

Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings 2,889 0 7 644 0 1,603 1,937 0 1,937 11,988 22,931

Technical equipment and machinery 32,859 7 0 3,262 0 1,154 34,960 0 34,960 2,782 9,313

Other equipment, operating  

and office equipment 13,837 264 40 831 0 692 13,742 0 13,742 2,412 2,259

Advance payments made 721 0 0 0 0 0 721 0 721 1,875 1,695

Total property, plant and 
equipment 50,305 271 47 4,737 0 3,449 51,360 0 51,360 19,057 36,198

Financial assets

Investments accounted for  

using the equity method 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,500 0

Shares in associated companies and joint 

ventures -1 0 0 0 0 0 -1 1 0 142 121

Total financial assets -1 0 0 0 0 0 -1 1 0 1,642 121

    

Total 112,896 8,222 47 14,278 318 3,833 115,485 66 115,551 75,577 114,527

1   Own work capitalized cannot be directly reconciled with the statement of changes in non-current assets  
due to a reclassification from inventories to non-current assets.
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(44) Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement

In accordance with IAS 7 “Cash Flow Statements”, the cash flows of a financial year are recorded 

in the consolidated cash flow statement in order to present information on the movements of 

the company’s cash and cash equivalents. The consolidated cash flow statement was prepared 

using the indirect method in accordance with IAS 7.18b. Cash flows are broken down into operating, 

investing and financing activities. 

The current cash inflows and outflows resulting from the factoring agreements concluded are allo-

cated to cash flow from operating activities.

The cash and cash equivalents reported in the consolidated cash flow statement comprise all cash 

and cash equivalents reported in the balance sheet that are available at short notice.

€’000 Dec. 31, 2023 Dec. 31, 2022

Cash at banks 3,204 18,098

Cash in hand 5 8

Cash and cash equivalents 3,209 18,106

(45) Segment reporting

In accordance with IFRS 8, two segments are regularly formed and reported. The “Electronics” seg-

ment comprises the development and sale of sensors, loudspeakers, microphones, batteries and 

instruments, primarily for the automotive industry. The companies paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA, par-

agon electronic GmbH, ETON Soundsysteme GmbH, Hepa GmbH, paragon Automotive Technology 

Co. Ltd, paragon Automotive Kunshan Co. Ltd. and Nordhagen Immobilien GmbH are allocated to 

the Electronics segment.  

The “Mechanics” segment comprises the development and sale of electromechanical components 

for the automotive industry and the mechanical production of paragon Group products by paragon 

movasys GmbH.  

Intercompany transactions exist between the various legally independent companies within the 

paragon Group; they are invoiced to each other as between external third parties with a corre-

sponding mark-up. Intercompany sales arise primarily for paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA, where devel-

opment and central functions are located. These include functions such as central purchasing, 

human resources and commercial administration, insofar as these functions are not directly avail-

able in the individual companies, as well as Group management. It also includes the leasing of land 

and buildings held by paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA as well as machinery and equipment to the sub-

sidiaries. The allocation between the segments is based on economic utilization. Segment assets 

and segment liabilities are reported using the same system.
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The two segments are managed using the EBITDA indicator; depreciation, amortization and impair-

ment losses are reported separately. Interest income, interest expenses and income tax expenses 

are therefore not reported by segment.

The asset reported below in the Electronics segment includes the investment in the joint venture 

Hepa GmbH in the amount of EUR 1,522 thousand (previous year: EUR 1,522 thousand).

2023

€’000 Electronics Mechanics Eliminations Group

Revenues with third parties 104,011 57,636 0 161,647

Intersegment sales 1,236 1,357 -2,593 0

Segment sales revenue 105,246 58,994 -2,593 161,647

Changes in inventories, other operating 

income & capitalized development costs 13,735 1,209 -489 14,455

Expenses from intersegment allocation -2,064 -1,017 3,082 0

Cost of materials, personnel expenses and 

other operating expenses -101,056 -57,374 0 -158,430

Segment EBITDA 15,861 1,811 0 17,672

15,1% 3,1% 0,0% 10,9%

Depreciation and amortization  

(incl. impairments) -13,267 -3,353 0 -16,620

  thereof depreciation and amortization -12,017 -3,165 0 -15,182

 of which impairments -1,250 -187 0 -1,437

Segment EBIT 2,594 -1,542 0 1,052

2,5% -2,6% 0,0% 0,7%

Consolidated financial result n, a, n, a, n, a, -12,513

Consolidated earnings before taxes n, a, n, a, n, a, -11,463

Assets 142,548 15,410 -48,188 109,770

Investments (CAPEX) 5,073 1,137 0 6,210

Debts -124,250 -35,615 56,240 -103,625
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2022

€’000 Electronics Mechanics Eliminations Group

Revenues with third parties 108,117 52,560 0 160,677

Intersegment sales 986 266 -1,252 0

Segment sales revenue 109,103 52,826 -1,252 160,677

Changes in inventories, other operating 

income & capitalized development costs 8,955 1,190 -321 9,824

Expenses from intersegment allocation -266 -1,307 1,573 0

Cost of materials, personnel expenses and 

other operating expenses -103,815 -56,475 0 -160,290

Segment EBITDA 13,977 -3,766 0 10,211

12,8% -7,1% 0,0% 6,4%

Depreciation and amortization  

(incl. impairments) -11,751 -2,867 0 -14,618

  thereof depreciation and amortization -11,471 -2,830 0 -14,300

 of which impairments -280 -38 0 -318

Segment EBIT 2,226 -6,634 0 -4,408

2,0% -12,6% 0,0% -2,7%

Consolidated financial result n. a. n. a. n. a. 0

Consolidated earnings before taxes n. a. n. a. n. a. 0

Assets 210,522 12,040 -50,020 172,542

Investments (CAPEX) 21,160 1,771 0 22,931

Debts -190,513 -35,010 53,955 -171,567

Information on geographical areas

The following table contains information on sales revenue with external customers in the Group’s 

geographical areas. The allocation of revenue from external customers to the individual geograph-

ical areas is based on the location of the external customer. The majority of assets are located in 

Germany. Only assets amounting to EUR 12.2 million (previous year: EUR 8.4 million) are located in 

China.

€’000 Domestic EU Third country Total

Jan. 1–
Dec. 31, 2023

Jan. 1–
Dec. 31, 2022

Jan. 1–
Dec. 31, 2023

Jan. 1–
Dec. 31, 2022

Jan. 1–
Dec. 31, 2023

Jan. 1–
Dec. 31, 2022

Jan. 1–
Dec. 31, 2023

Jan. 1–
Dec. 31, 2022

Sales revenue 103,091 106,683 31,597 30,871 26,959 23,123 161,647 160,677
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Information on business transactions with important customers

In the 2023 financial year, three groups of companies exceeded the 10% threshold in terms of the 

share of sales in accordance with IFRS 8.34 for the Automotive segment. Of these, one group of 

companies that are to be regarded as a single customer due to their joint control accounted for 

55.0% of sales (previous year: 56.0%). Another group of companies that are to be regarded as one 

customer due to their joint control accounted for 12.5% of sales (previous year: 22.1%). In 2023, a 

third group exceeded the 10% threshold with a 14.0% share of sales.

(46) Bodies of the company

The management of paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA has been irrevocably exercised by the general part-

ner paragon GmbH, Delbrück, since August 1, 2018. paragon GmbH has share capital of EUR 100 

thousand. paragon GmbH, and therefore paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA, was managed by one manag-

ing director in the financial year: 

 • Klaus Dieter Frers, Delbrück

The company’s Supervisory Board consisted of the following persons:

Name Profession

Memberships of supervisory boards 

and other supervisory bodies

Prof. Dr. Iris Gräßler

(Chairwoman

as of 31.08.2021)

Univ.-Prof. Dr. Ing.,

Univ.-Prof. for product development  

at the faculty for  

Mechanical Engineering at the  

Heinz Nixdorf Institute of the

University of Paderborn

Supervisory board mandates:

• none

Further mandates:

• none

Hermann-Josef Börnemeier Diplom Finanzwirt,  

and tax consultant,

Managing Director of Börnemeier  

& Loh GmbH and HJB Grundstücks- 

verwaltungs GmbH 

Supervisory Board mandate:

• none

Further mandates:

•  Börnemeier & Loh GmbH  

(Managing Director)

•  HJB Grundstücksverwaltungs GmbH 

(Managing Director since November 

2023)

Walter Schäfers Lawyer,

Partner of the law firm Schäfers 

Rechtsanwälte und Notare

Supervisory Board mandate:

• none
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(47) Related party disclosures

Related parties within the meaning of IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosure” include the members of the 

Management Board and the Supervisory Board. Close family members of board members and per-

sons with significant influence as well as affiliated companies are also considered related parties.

In the 2023 financial year, Treu-Union Treuhandgesellschaft mbH, Steuerberatungsgesellschaft, 

Paderborn, invoiced services under the existing contract in the amount of EUR 41 thousand (previ-

ous year: EUR 88 thousand). As at the balance sheet date, liabilities amounted to EUR 34 thousand 

(previous year: EUR 63 thousand). The member of the Supervisory Board of paragon GmbH & Co, 

KGaA, Hermann-Josef Börnemeier, was Managing Director of the aforementioned company until 

January 2022.

The law firm Schäfers, Rechtsanwälte & Notare, Paderborn, provided legal advice amounting to EUR 

19 thousand in the 2023 financial year (previous year: EUR 2 thousand). As at the balance sheet 

date, there were still liabilities from this in the amount of EUR 16 thousand (previous year: EUR 0 

thousand) The member of the Supervisory Board of paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA, Walter Schäfers, is 

also a partner in the aforementioned company. 

Members of the Supervisory Board held 4,000 shares (previous year: 4,000 shares) out of a total of 

4,526,266 shares on the balance sheet date.

Frers Family Office GmbH has held a total of 2,263,134 shares since December 21, 2023 and there-

fore owns 50% plus one share of the company’s limited partnership capital. Mr. Klaus Dieter Frers 

holds 98.6% of the shares in Frers Family Office GmbH. He is the ultimate controlling party of the 

parent company. 

Klaus Dieter Frers is the sole owner of Frers GmbH & Co. A loan granted to Frers GmbH & Co. KG, 

which is secured by land charges, amounted to EUR 1,195 thousand as at the balance sheet date 

(previous year: EUR 1,294 thousand). It bears interest at a rate of 1.5% p.a. and is repaid in monthly 

installments of EUR 10 thousand until December 2034. As it can be terminated within 6 months, 

this receivable is reported as current. 

In the 2023 reporting period, Frers GmbH & Co. KG leased space to paragon GmbH & Co, KGaA in three 

buildings used by paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA. This resulted in rental expenses of EUR 515 thousand 

(previous year: EUR 523 thousand). The three existing rental agreements remain unchanged and 

total monthly rent amounting to EUR 42 thousand (previous year: EUR 42 thousand). Rents can be 

adjusted in line with the consumer index for 1 contract from December 31, 2023 and for the other 

two contracts from December 31, 2025. Prior to this, constant rents have been agreed. 

All contracts can be terminated with a notice period of 6 months to the end of the year, whereby 

1 contract can be terminated at the earliest on December 31, 2025 and another at the earliest on 

December 31, 2032. paragon GmbH & Co KGaA also has a unilateral extension option for a further 1 

year for the contract terminable on “31.12.2025” and for a further 5 years for the contract termi-

nable on “31.12.32”. 
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Other receivables from Klaus Dieter Frers existing in the previous year no longer exist as at the bal-

ance sheet date (previous year: EUR 319 thousand).

Mr. Klaus Dieter Frers has received a pension commitment from the company. For further details, 

please refer to the section “Pension provisions”.

Brigitte Frers (wife of Klaus Dieter Frers) is employed as Head of Communications. The employment 

relationship is at standard market conditions. The annual remuneration amounts to EUR 162 thou-

sand (previous year: EUR 163 thousand) and is comparable with adequate positions in the com-

pany. Niklas Frers (son of Klaus Dieter Frers) received EUR 7 thousand in the financial year (previous 

year: EUR 5 thousand) as part of a marginal employment relationship.

ElectricBrands AG held 29.94% of the voting rights in paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA in the period from 

November 2022 to September 2023. In the course of initiating a business transaction, ElectricBrands 

AG had been paid a cumulative amount of € 5.0 million as at the reporting date (31.12.2022: cumu-

lative amount of € 2.7 million), which will be offset against expected future transactions included in 

the balance sheet item intangible assets. ElectricBrands AG has informed the company that it will 

no longer hold any shares in paragon GmbH & Co. KG aA from September 29, 2023. ElectricBrands 

AG is therefore no longer a related party as at the balance sheet date.

In the financial year, paragon GmbH received payments of EUR 1,006 thousand (previous year: EUR 

2,236 thousand) for taking over the management of the company; the expenses were reported as 

other operating expenses.

(48) Remuneration of the members of the management

The following table shows the remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board: 

€’000

Prof. Dr.-Ing. Iris Gräßler 
Chairwoman of the  
Supervisory Board  

Hermann Börnemeier Walter Schäfers

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 

Fixed remuneration 60 60 30 30 30 30 

Total remuneration  60 60 30 30 30 30 

N O T E S  T O  T H E  C O N S O L I D AT E D  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S  |  1 2 1



The following table shows the benefits granted to members of the Management Board in the 

reporting year (expenses recognized in the financial year):

Granted benefits

Klaus Dieter Frers 
Chairman of the Management Board 

Date of joining: April 11, 19881 

Dr. Matthias Schöllmann 
Managing Director 

Entry date: September 1, 2018
Withdrawal date: May 31, 2022  

2023 2022 2023 2022 

in EUR in % in EUR in % in EUR in % in EUR in %

Fixed remuneration 600,000.00 42,0 600,000.00 54.3 n.a. n.a. 166,666.70 90.5

Fringe benefits 38,895.04 2,7 55,103.48 5.0 n.a. n.a. 17,581.35 9.5

Total 638,895.04 44,7 655,103.48 59.3 n.a. n.a. 184,248.05 100.0

One-year variable 
remuneration 

789,078.51 55,3 450,000.00 40.7 n.a. n.a. 0.00 0.0

Total 1,427,973.55 100,0 1,105,103.48 100.0 n.a. n.a. 184,248.05 100.0

Total remuneration 1,427,973.55 100,0 1,105,103.48 100.0 n.a. n.a. 184,248.05 100.0

1  This is the date of entry into the activities of the paragon Group as a whole. He only joined the management of paragon 
GmbH at a later date when this company was founded

(49) Share-based payments

The 2012 share option program expired in 2017. There are currently no share-based payment 

agreements. 

(50) Auditor’s fee

The total fee paid to the auditor Rödl & Partner GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft for the 

reporting period amounted to EUR 550 thousand (previous year: EUR 430 thousand). The fee is 

divided into EUR 540 thousand (previous year: EUR 265 thousand) for auditing services in the 

reporting year and EUR 0 thousand (previous year: EUR 165 thousand) for auditing services in the 

previous year, as well as an additional EUR 10 thousand (previous year: EUR 0 thousand) for other 

assurance services in connection with the remuneration report. 
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(51) Risk management

The company’s risk management is explained in the combined management report.

(52)  Application of the exemption provisions  
of Section 264 (3) HGB

The following fully consolidated domestic subsidiary makes use of parts of the exemption provi-

sion for the reporting year (disclosure and audit):

paragon electronic GmbH, Delbrück

(53) Declaration pursuant to Section 160 (1) No. 8 AktG

Voting rights notifications

In the reporting year, the following publications were made in accordance with Section 33 (1) 

WpHG, which are reportable to the company in accordance with Section 160 (1) No. 8 AktG: 

•  According to the voting rights notification dated 5.10.2023, Mr. Ralf Haller’s total share of voting 

rights was reduced from 29.94% to 0.00% as of 29.09.2023. The attribution was based on the 

indirect shareholding in ElectricBrands AG in accordance with Section 34 para. 1 sentence 1 no. 

1 WpHG.

•  According to the voting rights notification dated October 5, 2023, Mr. Klaus Dieter Frers’ total 

share of voting rights increased from 20.06% to 50.00% as of September 29, 2023. Mr. Klaus 

Dieter Frers also informed the company that, in a decision dated October 11, 2023, the German 

Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin) exempted him from the obligation to publish 

the acquisition of control of paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA, Delbrück, pursuant to Section 37 (1) Var. 

4 WpÜG and pursuant to Section 35 (2) Sentence 1 in conjunction with Section 14 (2) Sentence 

1 WpÜG. § Section 14 para. 2 sentence 1 WpÜG to publish a mandatory offer.

•  In a voting rights notification dated 28.12.2023, the company was informed that Frers Family 

Office GmbH holds 50.0% of the voting rights. Mr. Klaus Dieter Frers controls Frers Family Office 

GmbH.
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Directors’ Dealings

In the reporting year, the company received the following notifications of managers’ transactions 

in accordance with Art. 19 of the Market Abuse Regulation (EU) No. 596/2014 (MAR):

•  Mr. Klaus Dieter Frers (Managing Director of the general partner) acquired a total of 1,355,000 

limited partnership shares on 29.9.2023 for a price of EUR 4.53 per share. This results in a total 

purchase price of EUR 6,138,150.00.

•  Mr. Klaus Dieter Frers sold a total of 2,232,263 shares on 21.12.2023 for a price of EUR 4.00 per 

share. This results in a total selling price of EUR 8,929,052.00.

•  Mrs. Brigitte Frers (wife of Mr. Klaus Dieter Frers) sold a total of 30,871 shares on 21.12.2023 for 

a price of EUR 4.00 per share. This results in a total selling price of EUR 123,484.00.

•  On December 21, 2023, Frers Family Office GmbH acquired a total of 2,263,134 shares at a price 

of EUR 4.00 per share. This results in a total purchase price of EUR 9,052,536.00.

 

Declaration on the German Corporate Governance Code

The Declaration of Conformity with the German Corporate Governance Code (GCGC) required by 

Section 161 AktG was last issued on February 28, 2024 and has been made permanently available 

to shareholders on the company’s website (https://www.paragon.ag/). 

Delbrück, 24. April 2024

Paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA

The management

Klaus Dieter Frers
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To paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA, Delbrück

Report on the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements 
and the Combined Management 
Report

Audit assessments 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of 

paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA, Delbrück, and its subsidiaries (the 

Group), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as 

at December 31, 2023, the consolidated income statement, 

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the 

consolidated statement of changes in equity and the con-

solidated cash flow statement for the financial year from 

January 1 to December 31, 2023, and notes to the consoli-

dated financial statements, including a summary of signif-

icant accounting policies. In addition, we have audited the 

combined management report of paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA, 

Delbrück, for the financial year from January 1 to December 

31, 2023. In accordance with the German legal requirements, 

we have not audited the content of the components of the 

combined management report listed in the appendix.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit

•  the accompanying consolidated financial statements 

comply, in all material respects, with the IFRSs as 

adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of 

German commercial law pursuant to Section 315e (1) 

HGB and, in compliance with these requirements, give a 

true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial 

position of the Group as at December 31, 2023 and of its 

Independent  
Auditor’s Report

financial performance for the financial year from Janu-

ary 1 to December 31, 2023, and

•  the accompanying combined management report as a 

whole provides a suitable view of the Group’s position. 

In all material respects, this combined management 

report is consistent with the consolidated financial 

statements, complies with German legal requirements 

and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks 

of future development. Our opinion on the combined 

management report does not cover the content of 

those parts of the combined management report listed 

in the appendix.

Pursuant to § 322 Abs. 3 Satz 1 HGB, we declare that our 

audit has not led to any reservations relating to the legal 

compliance of the consolidated financial statements and of 

the combined management report.

Basis for the audit opinions

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial state-

ments and of the combined management report in accord-

ance with § 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation (No. 

537/2014; referred to subsequently as “EU Audit Regula-

tion”) and in compliance with German Generally Accepted 

Standards for Financial Statement Audits promulgated by 

the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Audi-

tors in Germany] (IDW). 

Our responsibilities under those requirements and princi-

ples are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities 

for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements and 

of the Combined Management Report” section of our audi-

tor’s report. We are independent of the Group companies in 

accordance with the requirements of European law and Ger-

man commercial and professional law, and we have fulfilled 

our other German professional responsibilities in accord-

ance with these requirements. In addition, in accordance 

with Article 10 (2) (f) of the EU Audit Regulation, we declare 

that we have not provided non-audit services prohibited 

under Article 5 (1) of the EU Audit Regulation. We believe 

that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions on the 

consolidated financial statements and on the combined 

management report.



Material uncertainty in connection with the continuation 

of business activities

We refer to the disclosures in the “Going concern risks” sec-

tion of the notes to the consolidated financial statements 

and in the “Going concern risks” section of the combined 

management report, in which the legal representative 

describes that the Group’s liquidity situation has not nor-

malized and the willingness of lenders and equity provid-

ers to provide the paragon Group with additional funds is 

limited. As a result of the strained liquidity situation, defer-

ral agreements were concluded with suppliers and service 

providers, among others. The legal representative of para-

gon GmbH & Co. KGaA assumes that a return to the usual 

payment terms with suppliers and service providers and 

the repayment of deferred liabilities will take place in the 

course of the 2024 financial year, taking into account the 

planned revenue and the forecast operating profitability. If 

the planned sales level and profitability are not achieved, 

a return to the usual payment terms would not be possi-

ble. If suppliers and service providers no longer accept the 

extended payment targets and deferrals, the Group’s sol-

vency would be at risk.

As described in the aforementioned sections of the notes 

to the consolidated financial statements and the combined 

management report, these events and circumstances indi-

cate that a material uncertainty exists which may cast sig-

nificant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going 

concern and which constitutes a going concern risk within 

the meaning of Section 322 (2) sentence 3 HGB.

In accordance with Article 10 (2) (c) (ii) of the EU Audit Reg-

ulation, we summarize our response to this risk as follows: 

As part of our audit, we identified the appropriateness of 

the going concern basis of accounting and the appropriate 

presentation of the material uncertainty in connection with 

the going concern as a key risk and performed the following 

key audit procedures: We examined the Group-wide cor-

porate and financial planning, including the current short-

term liquidity planning and, in particular, the planned and 

initiated responses to the liquidity situation underlying 

these plans. Our audit procedures also included assess-

ing the other estimates made by the executive directors 

and the processes and controls established for Group-wide 

corporate and financial planning. In doing so, we consid-

ered the extent to which the Group has succeeded in recent 

years in implementing the deferral agreements necessary 

for liquidity management and other measures to secure 

liquidity. We held discussions with the legal representative 

and inspected and critically assessed the relevant docu-

ments and agreements regarding measures that the man-

agement has already initiated or implemented to return the 

liquidity situation to normal, in particular the implementa-

tion of the bond buyback program (ISIN: DE000A2GSB86; 

WKN: A2GSB8) of up to EUR 20.2 million of the original total 

nominal amount of EUR 50.0 million in the period from 6 

November 2023 to 5 July 2025 at the latest. We have exam-

ined whether the disclosures required to explain the mate-

rial uncertainty in the notes to the consolidated financial 

statements and in the combined management report are 

appropriate and complete.

We have satisfied ourselves as to whether events or cir-

cumstances exist that indicate the existence of a mate-

rial uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the 

Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

Our audit opinions on the consolidated financial statements 

and the combined management report are not modified 

with regard to this matter.

Key audit matters in the audit of the consolidated finan-

cial statements

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our profes-

sional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of 

the consolidated financial statements for the financial year 

from January 1 to December 31, 2023. These matters were 
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Reference to related information

Please refer to the notes to the consolidated financial state-

ments, sections “1 General information”, “7 Scope of con-

solidation” and “20. Result from discontinued operations” 

for information on the accounting and valuation methods 

applied.

2.  Recoverability of internally generated intangible 

assets

Reasons for designation as a key audit matter

Internally generated intangible assets amounting to EUR 

18.7 million (previous year: EUR 23.8 million) are reported 

in the consolidated financial statements of paragon GmbH 

& Co. 

The recoverability of internally generated intangible assets 

is primarily based on estimates and assessments of future 

cash inflows in the sense of a discounted contribution 

margin calculation. The result of the valuation is highly 

dependent on the estimates and expectations of the legal 

representative with regard to future income, the discount 

rate used and other assumptions and is therefore subject 

to considerable uncertainty. There is a risk that impairment 

losses on internally generated intangible assets may not be 

recognized or may not be recognized in sufficient amounts. 

Deferred tax liabilities arise from the capitalization of inter-

nally generated intangible assets. 

Our approach to the audit

As part of our audit, we examined the company’s internal 

methods, procedures and control mechanisms for project 

identification and evaluation. Our audit procedures included, 

addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated 

financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these 

matters. In addition to the matter described in the “Mate-

rial uncertainty related to going concern” section, we have 

determined the matters described below to be the key audit 

matters to be communicated in our auditor’s report.

1. Sale of the shares in paragon semvox GmbH 

Reasons for designation as a key audit matter

The company sold all of its shares in paragon semvox GmbH 

to CARIAD SE by notarized agreement dated December 

1, 2022. The closing was completed in May 2023. paragon 

semvox GmbH was the Digital Assistance division within 

the paragon Group. As a result of the sale, paragon sem-

vox GmbH is accounted for as a discontinued operation in 

accordance with IFRS 5 and deconsolidated in the reporting 

year. The deconsolidation gain amounted to EUR 5.7 million 

and therefore made a significant contribution to the Group’s 

net profit. 

Our approach to the audit

As part of our audit of the financial statements, we dealt 

with the deconsolidation and determination of profit or 

loss of the discontinued operation. Our audit procedures 

included, among other things, a review of the contractual 

basis and the specific communication with the acquirer. 

Our audit procedures included in particular the audit of the 

completeness, mathematical accuracy and plausibility of 

the deconsolidation, as well as its disclosure and the asso-

ciated determination of the deconsolidation effect from the 

disposal of paragon semvox GmbH from the scope of con-

solidation of paragon GmbH & Co KGaA.
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among other things, a review of the contractual basis or 

specific communication with potential customers. Our audit 

procedures included, in particular, testing the completeness, 

mathematical accuracy and plausibility of the underlying 

planning assumptions and assessing the other estimates 

made by the executive directors, such as the underlying 

useful lives, as well as the processes and controls in place. 

We compared the procedure with the accounting policies 

applied by paragon.

Reference to related information

Please refer to sections “19 Income taxes” and “22 Intangible 

assets” in the notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for information on the accounting policies applied and dis-

closures on internally generated intangible assets.

3. Revenue recognition

Reasons for designation as a key audit matter

Revenue is a significant item in the consolidated financial 

statements and is used as a key performance indicator (KPI) 

for corporate management. The main revenue streams in 

the consolidated financial statements of paragon GmbH 

& Co. KGaA arise from the sale of customer-specific prod-

ucts to automotive manufacturers. In our view, the proper 

accounting of revenue is an area with a significant risk of 

material misstatement due to fraud or error (ultimately 

a potential risk of management override of controls) and 

therefore a key audit matter.

Our approach to the audit

As part of our audit of the financial statements, we exam-

ined the Company’s internal methods, procedures and 

control mechanisms for revenue recognition. In addition, 

we assessed the design and effectiveness of the account-

ing-related internal controls by tracing specific business 

transactions from their origin to their presentation in the 

consolidated financial statements and by testing controls. 

Our audit procedures included, among other things, a review 

of the contractual basis. As part of our assessment of the 

estimates made by the executive directors regarding rev-

enue recognition, we evaluated, in particular based on our 

understanding of the business model and the contractual 

arrangements, whether the requirements for revenue rec-

ognition were implemented correctly and on an accrual 

basis.

Reference to related information

Please refer to sections “5 Restatement of prior periods” and 

“11 Revenue” in the notes to the consolidated financial stae-

ments for information on the accounting policies applied 

and revenue.

Other information

The legal representative or the Supervisory Board is respon-

sible for the other information. The other information 

comprises 

•  those parts of the combined management report listed 

in the appendix to the auditor’s report that were not 

audited as to their content,

•  the report of the Supervisory Board (section “Report of 

the Supervisory Board”),

•  the remaining parts of the annual report, with the 

exception of the audited consolidated financial state-

ments and combined management report and our 

auditor’s report,

•  the assurance pursuant to Section 297 (2) sentence 4 

HGB on the consolidated financial statements and the 

assurance pursuant to Section 315 (1) sentence 6 HGB 

on the combined management report.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for the report of the 

Supervisory Board. For the declaration in accordance with 

Section 161 AktG on the German Corporate Governance 

Code, which is part of the declaration of conformity in the 

section “Declaration on Corporate Governance in accordance 

with Section 315d in conjunction with Section 289f (1) HGB 

and 

1 2 8  |  PA R A G O N  G M B H  &  C O .  K G A A  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 2 3



the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 

(i.e. accounting fraud or fraudulent misrepresentation) or 

error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the legal 

representatives are responsible for assessing the Group’s 

ability to continue as a going concern. Furthermore, they 

are responsible for disclosing, as applicable, matters related 

to going concern. In addition, they are responsible for finan-

cial reporting based on the going concern basis of account-

ing unless there is an intention to liquidate the Group or to 

cease operations, or there is no realistic alternative but to 

do so.

Furthermore, management is responsible for the prepara-

tion of the combined management report that, as a whole, 

provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position and is, 

in all material respects, consistent with the consolidated 

financial statements, complies with German legal require-

ments, and appropriately presents the opportunities and 

risks of future development. In addition, the legal repre-

sentative is responsible for such arrangements and meas-

ures (systems) as he has considered necessary to enable the 

preparation of a combined management report that is in 

accordance with the applicable German legal requirements, 

and to be able to provide sufficient appropriate evidence for 

the assertions in the combined management report.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the 

Group’s financial reporting process for the preparation of the 

consolidated financial statements and the combined man-

agement report.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated 

financial statements and of the combined management 

report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 

whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 

or error, and whether the combined management report as 

Declaration of Conformity of paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA with 

the German Corporate 

Governance Code” of the combined management report is 

the responsibility of the legal representative and the Super-

visory Board. In all other respects, the legal representative is 

responsible for the other information.

Our opinions on the consolidated financial statements and 

on the combined management report do not cover the 

other information, and consequently we do not express an 

opinion or any other form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial 

statements, our responsibility is to read the other informa-

tion referred to above and, in doing so, consider whether the 

other information

•  are materially inconsistent with the consolidated finan-

cial statements, with the audited content of the com-

bined management report or our knowledge obtained 

in the audit, or

•  otherwise appear to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that 

there is a material misstatement of this other informa-

tion, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 

report in this context.

Responsibility of the legal representative and the Super-

visory Board for the consolidated financial statements and 

the combined management report

The legal representative is responsible for the preparation 

of the consolidated financial statements that comply, in all 

material respects, with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the 

additional requirements of German commercial law pursu-

ant to Section 315e (1) HGB and that the consolidated finan-

cial statements, in compliance with these requirements, give 

a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position 

and financial performance of the Group. Furthermore, the 

legal representatives are responsible for the internal con-

trols that they have determined to be necessary to enable 
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a whole provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position 

and, in all material respects, is consistent with the consoli-

dated financial statements and the knowledge obtained in 

the audit, complies with the German legal requirements and 

appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future 

development, as well as to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes our opinions on the consolidated financial state-

ments and on the combined management report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 

not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 

with Section 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation and in 

compliance with German Generally Accepted Standards for 

Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der 

Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) will always detect a material mis-

statement. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 

are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 

they could reasonably be expected to influence the eco-

nomic decisions of users taken on the basis of these con-

solidated financial statements and combined management 

report.

We exercise professional judgment and maintain profes-

sional skepticism throughout the audit. In addition

•  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 

of the consolidated financial statements and of the 

combined management report, whether due to fraud or 

error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 

to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions. The 

risk of not detecting a material misstatement result-

ing from fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting 

a material misstatement resulting from error, as fraud 

may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control

•  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to 

the audit of the consolidated financial statements and 

of arrangements and measures (systems) relevant to 

the audit of the combined management report in order 

to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of these systems.

•  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

and related disclosures made by management.

•  Conclude on the appropriateness of the legal represent-

ative’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a mate-

rial uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 

that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a mate-

rial uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 

in the auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 

consolidated financial statements and in the combined 

management report or, if such disclosures are inade-

quate, to modify our respective opinions. We draw our 

conclusions on the basis of the audit evidence obtained 

up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 

events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to be 

able to continue as a going concern.

•  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and con-

tent of the consolidated financial statements, including 

the disclosures, and whether the consolidated finan-

cial statements present the underlying transactions 

and events in a manner that the consolidated financial 

statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabil-

ities, financial position and financial performance of the 

Group in compliance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU 

and the additional requirements of German commercial 

law pursuant to Section 315e (1) HGB.

•  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regard-

ing the financial information of the entities or business 

activities within the Group to express opinions on the 

consolidated financial statements and on the com-

bined management report. We are responsible for the 

direction, supervision and performance of the audit of 

the consolidated financial statements. We are solely 

responsible for our audit opinions.
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Other statutory and other legal 
requirements

Report on the Audit of the Electronic Reproductions of 

the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Combined 

Management Report Prepared for Disclosure Pur-poses 

Pursuant to Section 317 (3a) HGB

Declaration of non-issuance of an audit opinion

We were engaged to perform a reasonable assurance 

engagement in accordance with § 317 Abs. 3a HGB to obtain 

reasonable assurance about whether the reproduction of 

the consolidated financial statements and the combined 

management report (hereinafter also referred to as “ESEF 

documents”) prepared for publication purposes complies in 

all material respects with the requirements of § 328 Abs. 1 

HGB for the electronic reporting format (“ESEF format”).

We do not express an opinion on the ESEF documents. Due 

to the significance of the matter described in the “Basis for 

not expressing an opinion” section, we have not been able 

to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a 

basis for our opinion on the ESEF documents.

Basis for the declaration of non-issuance of an audit opinion

As the legal representative has not provided us with any 

ESEF documents for review by the date of the auditor’s 

report, we do not express an opinion on the ESEF documents.

Responsibility of the legal representative and the Supervi-

sory Board for the ESEF documents

The legal representative of the company is responsible for 

the preparation of the ESEF documents including the elec-

tronic reproduction of the consolidated financial statements 

•  Evaluate the consistency of the combined manage-

ment report with the consolidated financial statements, 

its conformity with German law, and the view of the 

Group’s position it provides.

•  Perform audit procedures on the prospective informa-

tion presented by the executive directors in the com-

bined management report. On the basis of sufficient 

appropriate audit evidence we evaluate, in particular, 

the significant assumptions used by management as 

a basis for the prospective information, and evaluate 

the proper derivation of the prospective information 

from these assumptions. We do not express a separate 

opinion on the forward-looking statements or on the 

underlying assumptions. There is a significant unavoid-

able risk that future events will differ materially from 

the forward-looking statements.

We communicate with those charged with governance 

regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 

timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 

any significant deficiencies in internal control that we iden-

tify during our audit.

We provide those charged with governance with a state-

ment that we have complied with the relevant inde-

pendence requirements, and communicate with them all 

relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 

thought to bear on our independence, and where appli-

cable, the actions taken or safeguards applied to address 

independence threats.

From the matters communicated with those charged with 

governance, we determine those matters that were of most 

significance in the audit of the consolidated financial state-

ments of the current period and are therefore the key audit 

matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report 

unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about 

the matter.
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and the combined management report in accordance with 

section 328 (1) sentence 4 no. 1 HGB and for the tagging of 

the consolidated financial statements in accordance with 

section 328 (1) sentence 4 no. 2 HGB.

Furthermore, the company’s management is responsible for 

such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable 

the preparation of ESEF documents that are free from mate-

rial non-compliance, whether due to fraud or error, with 

the requirements of Section 328 (1) HGB for the electronic 

reporting format.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the pro-

cess of preparing the ESEF documents as part of the finan-

cial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibility for the audit of the ESEF 

documents

It is our responsibility to perform an audit of the ESEF doc-

uments in accordance with Section 317 (3a) HGB and IDW 

Auditing Standard: Audit of the Electronic Reproduction of 

Financial Statements and Management Reports Prepared 

for Publication Purposes in Accordance with Section 317 (3a) 

HGB (IDW PS 410 (06.2022)). Due to the matter described in 

the section “Basis for our opinion”, we have not been able to 

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence as a basis for 

our opinion on the ESEF documents.

Other Information pursuant 
to article 10 eu-aprvo

We were elected as auditor by the annual general meet-

ing on June 30, 2023. We were engaged by the supervisory 

board on September 4, 2023. We have been the auditor of 

paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA, Delbrück, since the financial year 

2023. 

We declare that the audit opinions expressed in this audi-

tor’s report are consistent with the additional report to the 

Supervisory Board pursuant to Article 11 of the EU Audit 

Regulation (audit report). 

Responsible auditor

The German Public Auditor responsible for the engagement 

is Florian Wiethe.

Bielefeld, April 24, 2024

Rödl & Partner GmbH

Auditing company

signed. Schumacher signed. Wiethe

Auditor  Auditor

Appendix to the auditor’s report: 
Non-audited components of the 
combined management report

We have not audited the content of the following compo-

nents of the combined management report:

•  the declaration on corporate governance pursuant to 

section 289f and section 315d in conjunction with sec-

tion 289f (1) HGB and the declaration of conformity of 

paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA with the German Corporate 

Governance Code contained in the section “Declaration 

on corporate governance pursuant to section 289f and 

section 315d HGB”.

In addition, we have not audited the content of the follow-

ing non-management report disclosures. Disclosures in 

the combined management report that are not part of the 

management report are disclosures that are not required 

pursuant to Sections 289, 289a or 289b to 289f HGB.

•  the information contained in the “Quality and environ-

ment” section  

•  the information contained in the “Employees” sec-

tion on the turnover rate, the rate of severely disabled 

employees and the average age of employees
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Declaration by the 
Legal Representatives

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles, the con-

solidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and 

profit or loss of the Group, and the Group management report includes a fair review of the develop-

ment and performance of the business and the position of the Group, together with a description of 

the principal opportunities and risks associated with the expected development of the Group.

Klaus Dieter Frers 

Chairman
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Financial calendar

April 25, 2024 Annual Report 2023

May 7, 2024 Interim Group report as at March 31, 2024 - 1st quarter

May 13, 2024 Equity Forum (spring conference), Frankfurt am Main

June 12, 2024 Annual General Meeting, Delbrück

August 21, 2024 Interim Group report as at June 30, 2024 - 1st half-year

September 2, 2024 Equity Forum (fall conference), Frankfurt am Main

November 12, 2024 Interim Group report as at September 30, 2024 - Nine months

November 25, 2024 Equity Forum (Deutsche Börse), Frankfurt am Main
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Legal Notice

paragon GmbH & Co. KGaA

Bösendamm 11

33129 Delbrück / Germany

Telefon: +49 5250 9762-0

Fax: +49 5250 9762-60

E-Mail: investor@paragon.ag

Twitter: @paragon_ir

www.paragon.ag



www.paragon.ag
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